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Wuling Motors Holdings Limited (“Wuling Motors
Holdings” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the businesses of trading and
manufacturing of commercial vehicles assembly,
automotive components and vehicles’ power supply
systems, with our principal subsidiaries being
recognised as High-Tech Enterprises in China. Our
Group’s corporate goal is to grasp the tremendous
business opportunities arising from the rapidly growing
global automobile supply chain industry, with our main
production facilities located in Liuzhou, Qingdao,
Chongging, Jingmen, Nanning, India and Indonesia.
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Note : The percentage of shareholding interests in Wuling
New Energy are calculated based on the fully
paid up share capital of Wuling New Energy as
contributed by the respective shareholders as of

31 December 2024.
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In 2024, we faced an unstable economic environment,
shrinking demand in the overall automobile industry, and
a tight supply chain, while the traditional fuel vehicle
market was continuously impacted by the market shift
towards new energy vehicles. These multiple adverse
factors resulted in uncertain order volume, escalating
costs for new product development and production,
and cyclical downturns in economic returns.
Notwithstanding these overwhelming pressures, the
Group fully leveraged its extensive experience in the
automotive components sector to proactively expand
into new incremental markets and seek new
opportunities for cooperation. Furthermore, we
accelerated the development of our future business
development strategy to establish a stable foundation
for our emerging business areas, striving to fill the shortfall
in business volume caused by cyclical downturns in the
market. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group recorded an annual revenue of RMB7,949,439,000,
representing a decrease of 24.2% as compared to the
previous year, due to primarily the decrease in business
volume in the vehicles’ power supply systems division, as
well as the reducing business volume in the commercial
vehicles assembly segment as a result of the Group's
repositioning strategy on refitted vehicles since the
second half of 2023. However, benefited from the
increase in the portion of high margin products of the
automotive components and other industrial services
division and the increase in government grant income,
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coupled with the decreases in the share of losses from
the associates, including Wuling New Energy, which
losses incurred was slightly decreased as compared to
previous year, the Group recorded a net profit of
RMB111,245,000 for the full year of 2024, representing an
increase of 60.2% as compared to the previous year.
Profit attributable to owners of the Company also
increased to RMB50,621,000, representing an increase of
115.6% as compared to the previous year.

In order to address the challenges posed by
intensified market competition and the
homogeneous original equipment
manufacturer (OEM) market, the Group
focused on maintaining its existing business
relationship with our key customer, SGMW,
while expanding our customer base in
external markets. Through continuous
optimisation of our product structure and
enhancement of our core competitiveness,

K BURS 8 BhUR A 2 3800 - 00k FE A B & R A
ZEBRD (AR EREHER EFRE
BREFEMARY) AEB-_Z_NE2
F 15 558 A A R #111,245,00070 ° 8 -4
fE 3 IN60.2% ° AR RHEE A B EFITRIEE
AR #50,621,0007T ' JF 8+ F & 1 h0
115.6% °

REHMEHFME KETHE
—fEE KRERETREF L
MBREEEBFERM RKH
SNERTIS R PRI ER EE
THEECERER R LHEF
N REETEHEHITEZ T
EREEMAETHHERR #
MR E —RERERTR
BEPMG RINERZFHERT
BRI ERS - R E B RN AE



the Group is committed to creating a
diversified and high-quality automotive
component industry chain for our component
and part business. In terms of market
expansion, we actively strengthened our
position with key customers, successfully
securing the component and parts business
for several new models, including becoming
the exclusive supplier of electric seat switches
and combination switches. In addition, we
pursued breakthroughs in external markets by
proactively engaging in the power battery
product business, expanding our customer
base to include major manufacturers such as
Dongfeng Mengshi, FAW Jiefang, Chery
Automobile, and Geely Automobile. The
newly commissioned Jingmen base in Hubei
capitalised on the increased production
volume of Great Wall Motor to maintain
rapid growth, achieving a revenue of
approximately RMB729 million in 2024,
increased by more than double as compared
to previous year. As for product development,
we completed the construction of the second
ultra-high-strength steel tube thermoforming
production line during the year, successfully
receiving orders from new customers such as
Great Wall Motor and BYD. During the yearr,
we also successfully took on the production of
rear axles for SAIC Maxus, power spiral bevel
gearing for BYD FinDreams, sub-frames for
Dora Motor, and more notably, the production
and sales of new-energy rear axles exceeded
1.5 million units on a cumulative basis since
product launch. Seizing the opportunities in
the new energy OEM market, we successfully
researched, developed, and optimised a new
generation of new energy electric rear axles,
three-in-one motor electric control systems,
range extenders, power systems, differential
locks, and so on. A range of new energy
electric axles has been applied in the electric-
drive axle and range extender projects for
Great Wall Motor, JAC, and others. Among
these, the first commercially available
electric-drive coaxial electric bridge, supplied
for Chang'an Kaicheng, has entered mass
production. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the automotive components and other
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industrial services division of the Group
recorded a revenue of RMB5,460,853,000,
moderately lower than the previous year due
to market cyclical factors and the tough
business environment. However, the division
recorded operating profits of RMB153,934,000
during the year, representing a significant
increase of 68.3% as compared to the
previous year, benefiting from the increase in
the portion of sales attributable to high margin
products as well as the increase in
government grant income.

Due to the unfavourable impact of the
market shift towards new energy vehicles, the
vehicles power supply systems division, which
originated from the traditional fuel vehicle
engine business, continued to face significant
challenges in our business transformation in
2024. During the year, the vehicles’ power
supply systems division of the Group closely
followed the Group's business objectives,
focusing on the restructuring of the main
business and the development of key
technological innovations, deepening
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cooperation with long-term mature
customers, promoting technological upgrades
and reforms, and strengthening the
development of new energy markets and
projects, with the goal of realising new
breakthroughs in the new energy markets. In
terms of market development, we fully
explored the potential of established markets
and actively expanded external markets.
During the year, the vehicles’ power supply
systems division maintained active
communication with our customers,
enhanced our ability to control planned
orders, made every effort to meet customer
demand, and proactively took measures to
reduce inventories and enhance efficiency.
At the same time, we continued to interact
with new and existing customers on the
development and matching of new products
and projects in order to expand the market
together. During the year, the casting business
continued to drive growth against all odds. In
the face of declining demand from SGMW,
our major customer, we succeeded in
securing supply orders from a new customer,
Changyuan Langhong, to effectively offset
the negative impact caused by the uncertain
market environment. The division recorded
the sales of approximately 1.18 million casting
parts for the year, registering more than 25%
year-on-year increase as compared to the
previous year. In addition, the vehicles’ power
supply systems division of the Group, relying
on our strengths in project platform
management, focused on core projects such
as the H15TD+DHT hybrid assembly structure
platform, the three-in-one electric-drive
system, and high-pressure casting. Besides, we
promoted new energy projects such as
Skyworth Automobile, Dongfeng Liuzhou
Automobile, Zoomlion Heavy Industry, and
Senptec Electronics, while actively acquiring
new customers in the new energy market
such as JAC, YC Simlan, Hebei ZTE, Geely
Farizon, Chery Commercial Vehicle, XPENG,
and Leapmotor, etc. At the same time, seizing
the opportunities of the overseas market, the
division concentrated on promoting the
export project of JAC M4 matched to
LJ481Q6 to the Gulf countries, the overseas
CLT Flexible Fuel Mixed project, and the
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Wuling Technology MSR project. All these
efforts have laid a solid foundation for our
overseas development in the future. In terms
of technology and product research and
development, the vehicles’ power supply
systems division of the Group continued to
improve our research and development
technology standards during the year. In
alignment with market trends, we continued
to innovate, overcame technical challenges,
and advanced the technology of its products
without compromising existing standards. The
research and development project focuses
on developing hybrid models in collaboration
with Skyworth Automobile, while nhew energy
initiatives, such as the Foton H16B four-stage
project, will be gradually put into production.
This will significantly drive the growth of new
mavrkets for the vehicles’ power supply systems
products of the Group. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the vehicles’ power supply
systems division of the Group recorded a
revenue of RMB1,737,084,000, representing a
decrease of 30% as compared to the previous
year due to the unfavourable impact of the
business transformation. Due to the adverse
impact of the decrease in business volume,
the division recorded an operating loss of
RMB32,018,000 for the year.
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The overall unfavourable economic
environment and sluggish market demand
adversely affected the business of the
commercial vehicles assembly division. In
addition, the completion of the restructure
exercise of the Group's new energy vehicle
business took place at the end of 2022, under
which the new energy vehicle assembly
business of the Group was transferred to its
associate, Liuzhou Wuling New Energy Motors
Company Limited (“Wuling New Energy”) and
the implementation of a repositioning strategy
on refitted vehicles, with a greater focus on
refitted services, also directly contributing to
the significant reduction in the business
volume of this division. During the year,
adhering to the Group's strategy, the
commercial vehicles assembly division
continued to seek business breakthroughs in
high value-added segments and actively
explored markets. The sales volume of
refrigerated trucks, fire trucks, and vending
carts in the specialised vehicle business
continued to gain momentum, reaching a

=
41/—'1

EEEZRARDT « —F_MFFH

BELCBRETH mMHE R
EER ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁkﬁ’“%%ﬁ%LEXTﬂ
TR YL REEFREIRTESE
BR_E__FRTKEHR A
SEFERAENEHEERER

ﬁﬁéﬁjﬂﬂ)l\ﬁ%%ﬁab%ﬁi
%%ﬁﬂ&%ﬁﬁﬂ’\]ﬁ%ﬁiﬁ%ﬁ% :
% 51%&“*%%%755%%?&%2

ﬁﬁ%i’“ﬁ%%%lﬁﬁﬂ %ii*ﬁ
ST IMEA S B S TR
BIGHEmS  EREEBHHR

B EBE %ifﬁ%—#f%ﬁ

S — DU 4F $4 = 3,032 - EEP/?
BEEKEETEOWm AR
6% FEFT D NS MHEENL1%
AERBECEREMSMDENE
TE HEPEESZIBERB R
ILE\;TEAJE CHIT IR B R
g 2 TEREHARKLSET
E@ﬁ%’%ﬂ% HepkiEHEBE H
b e L E S AR BB 497
WOEERN Em EREWER



WULING MOTORS HOLDINGS LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2024

10

total of 3,032 units in 2024. Among them,
refrigerated trucks accounted for 769 units,
reflecting a 6% year-on-year increase and a
cumulative annual market share of
approximately 11%. This positions the Group as
a market leader in terms of share among the
specialised vehicle enterprises. The fire truck
business capitalised on the support of state-
issued ultra-long-term bonds for emergency
firefighting projects, securing sales orders
totalling approximately RMB150 million. These
orders, which include around 97 units of water
tank fire trucks, fire cross-country motorcycles,
and other vehicles, mark significant
breakthroughs in regions such as Guangxi,
Yunnan, and Guangdong. The off-road
vehicle business recorded annual sales of
3,097 units in 2024. During the year, the
business actively expanded into the overseas
customised market, promoting the export of
Wuling sightseeing vehicles and golf carts to
Vietnam, Thailand, the United States, Canada
Australia and other countries. Furthermore,
these models made their debut in the
Egyptian market with an order for 300 units of
golf carts. Through solving the individualised
needs of different customers and enhancing
the core competitiveness of our products, we
have continued to advance the research
and development of refitted vehicles, special
vehicles, off-road vehicles and intelligent
driving products. This has enabled the
differentiated design and portfolio expansion
of the main products within the Group’s
commercial vehicles assembly division. We
have completed a series of line-control
chassis products covering intelligent energy
storage and charging, intelligent culture and
tourism, security and inspection, as well as
unmanned sanitation and other unmanned
driving commercial scenarios. In particular,
the intelligent mobile storage and charging
vehicles have successfully integrated the sales
and rental functions of the leasing business.
Furthermore, we have initiated strategic
cooperation in high-speed service areas
across Guangdong, Guangxi, Guizhou, and
Yunnan to address continuity concerns for
new energy vehicle customers, earning a
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strong reputation. In 2024, we also sold a total
of 40 units of special vehicles designed for
low-speed unmanned driving. For the year
ended 31 December 2024, as a result of the
business restructure mentioned above, the
commercial vehicles assembly division of the
Group recorded a revenue of RMB718,758,000,
representing a decrease of 60.9% as
compared to the previous year. Meanwhile,
benefited from the cost control measures
implemented, the division’s operating profits
maintained at RMB75,919,000 during the year,
representing an increase of 20.9% as
compared to the previous year.

The Group has strengthened our new
dynamics by increasing our investment in
research and development to accelerate the
growth of our new energy business. Wuling
New Energy, an associate of the Group,
continued to enrich its product offerings in
2024 by launching the long-range version of
the Golden Small Truck, the Double-row
Golden Small Truck and the Golden Van
under the brand of LINXYS. Notably, the
Golden Van, which was launched in
November, ranked third in the market of single
rear-wheeled mini and small trucks. Domestic
sales for the year reached 12,060 units,
marking a 16% year-on-year increase, and
positioning the Group among the top players
in the commercial vehicle market. At the
same time, we actively pursued in-depth
exploration and robust planning for both
international and domestic markets. In 2024,
achieving significant success in both domestic
and international markets, we exported 803
units to Japan and Korea, marking a 57.8%
year-on-year increase. During the year, driven
by the strong development of the new energy
vehicle business, we achieved total sales of
14,166 units, reflecting a 41.3% year-on-year
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increase, with revenue of RMB1,020 million, a
29.5% year-on-year growth. Wuling New
Energy remained loss-making for the year as it
was still in the early stages of operations.
However, with the increase in revenue, the
operating loss was slightly lower than last year.

The Group actively engaged with national
OEMs across the automobile industry chain.
Our pre-testing project was recognised by the
Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology, paving the way for the
nationwide adoption of the “Guangxi Model.”
Currently, we have signed long-term digital
vehicle service contracts with 41 companies
nationwide, covering more than 70% of the
market. We have been actively developing
our data zone and other growing businesses.
In March 2024, we launched the “Lingyun
Cloud Check”, which provides accurate and
efficient data services to facilitate the
transformation and upgrading of the
automotive industry chain.

The Group adhered to innovation-driven
development to create a source of new
quality productive force. We actively utilised
Hong Kong's wealthy resources, including its
rich talent pool, innovation and R&D bases,
preferential policies for innovation, platform
for international cooperation, open
investment environment, etc. Throughout the
year, we inaugurated an innovation centre in
Hong Kong, and signed relevant cooperation
agreements with The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University, The Chinese University of Hong
Kong, and the Hong Kong Applied Science
and Technology Research Institute in relation
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to the XR Intelligence Project. Our goal is to
build a more vibrant and innovative
ecosystem. The Group’s outstanding
performance in innovations has also garnered
recognitions, with our associate, Wuling New
Energy, being selected as an industrial design
centre at the autonomous region level.
Moreover, our subsidiary, Liuzhou Wuling
Motors Industrial Company Limited (*“Wuling
Industrial”), was recognised as one of the top
10 hi-tech enterprises in Guangxi in terms of
innovation capability. Together with another
subsidiary, Liuzhou Wuling Liuji Motors
Company Limited, which operates the
vehicles’ power supply systems business
segment of the Group, they were both
selected as champions of the manufacturing
industry in the autonomous region.

The Group has established an efficiency and
effectiveness-oriented operation and
management mechanism and improved the
differentiated performance appraisal and
remuneration allocation system, to optimise
the internal allocation of resources and
enhance the vitality and efficiency of the
enterprise. On one hand, based on operating
results, the Group has adopted an approach
of incentives and controls to encourage each
business unit to proactively challenge high
goals. On the other hand, the Group
encourages our employees to actively
engage with its business development,
aligning their interests with the Company's
growth. They are also motivated to contribute
to the enterprise’s transformation and reform.
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The Group continued to advance the special
tasks of increasing revenue, reducing
expenditure, improving quality and
enhancing efficiency to promote the
realisation of the objectives of “Four Increases,
One Stabilisation and Four Enhancements.” At
the same time, the Group conducted asset
management such as the “Three Reductions”
and handling of overdue receivables and
payables, to improve asset efficiency and
reduce capital occupancy. Simultaneously,
we continued to implement and improve the
“‘company-specific policy” to turn losses into
profitability and reduce losses while stepping
up efforts on governance. We also developed
relevant operational strategies and measures
for strategic businesses in line with planning
objectives and goals, aiming to enhance the
quality and efficiency of business operations.

AEBERERREREH X RE
EHIBETE #HHIE R
miEst] BIRER - REGEE
[=F& ] B M RIE - BN RR0R
FREEEERI RaEEN
KREESHA X BEERTT
I 7 & [— 1 — 3R] 4 785 R0 85 5K g
B INAORIE R - B BUBR X TS
RRASBRAHES EHELSE
RERHER RACELERE RN

fil

3
/|



The Group will continue to seize market
opportunities and optimise our product mix to
strengthen and expand our niche business areas. In
the component and part business, the Group will
continue to invest in the research and
development of key new energy components to
further expand our existing market share and
launch electric axle products for passenger cars,
mini commercial vehicles and light commercial
vehicles. At the same time, we will actively engage
with clients, including Beiqi Foton, Chery, Geely
and Chang’an, and enlarge our customer base in
emerging markets, striving to achieve
breakthroughs in more business sectors. In the
vehicles’ power supply system division, the Group
will continue to promote the research and
development of high-thermal efficiency engines
and hybrid powertrain assemblies while conducting
product development and technological
modifications in accordance with assembly
projects. We also aim to secure potential high-
quality customers in external markets. In respect of
the refitted vehicles business, we will seek to
develop high value-added segments, focusing on
customised markets such as cold chain and
medical services, while promoting the business
towards intelligent driving, connectivity, and
sharing.
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In the coming year, the Group will continue to
strengthen internal management by formulating
scientific and reasonable measures and targets for
cost reduction and efficiency enhancement. We
will also strengthen budgetary control and cost
accounting management, while closely supervising
budget execution to ensure the achievement of
our operational targets. At the same time, the
Group will increase our efforts to settle receivables
and inventories and continue to promote the
“Three Reductions” initiative — aimed at reducing
fund occupation, receivables risk, and operating
costs. We will strengthen risk control over capital,
receivables, and other items to maximize the
management of operational risks. In addition, we
will continue to deepen the management of loss-
making enterprises, rigorously implement the
“‘company-specific’” management strategy, and
accurately identify the shortcomings and
weaknesses of these enterprises. We will focus on
addressing difficulties and obstacles, adopting
targeted and effective measures, and
implementing categorised policies to solve the
problems one by one.
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2025 will be a year of market risks and opportunities,
and also the start of the “LINXYS Project” launched
by our parent company, Guangxi Automobile
Holdings Limited (“Guangxi Automobile”), for the
entire Group. In relation to the implementation of
the “LINXYS Project”, the Group has formulated a
“131 Strategy”, which includes the development of
the “LINXYS” product brand, representing the
Group's new energy vehicles, a business objective
of becoming a national champion in three areas,
including miniature drive axles, automobile frames
and small-displacement energy-saving hybrid
powertrain products; and a development goal of
building an automotive ecosystem led by Guangxi
Automobile Group. Accordingly, in alignment with
Guangxi Automobile Group's development
strategy, the Group will accelerate the planning of
the “LINXYS Project”, expedite the transformation
and application of scientific research results,
enhance the product portfolio and quality, actively
expand both domestic and international markets,
and provide customers with more valuable and
environmentally friendly products. We believe that
under the guidance of the “LINXYS Project”, we will
achieve stable and positive operating results,
allowing our shareholders to share in the fruits of our
development.

IEREEERRKRARAT « T -WFFK

RE-_ZF-_AFHERMEREREKEY
FO—F HLRYAR — EAAEEE
ERAR ([BEAERE]) REESES
EZIZ2TRINHARBZF -BIES
TRIZER SEEE T (13188 ]
BeERiTERREEFERREZ (£
ZIERmE TE-RESREMILIE
e NEERNNEMERE N
EREMEBERTERNER 2EE
B Bl E—AhERTEREE
BREZABERBIERBIZ B
REEASEA B TERE 2 BRERE
MREE [EZ TR RS IERAK
RNBLENER TE2EMERRTE
mmE EEARERNITS RAP
REFEAEE EMRENER -HBE
EIZZTR]SIET RMAFEERE
[FIAFH AR E R BIRRPI B EREK
o

On behalf of the Board of Directors REESFS

Yuan Zhijun REE
Chairman EY

25 March 2025 —E-RF=RA=-+HH
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Total revenue (based on external sales) of the vehicles’
power supply systems division for the year ended 31
December 2024 was RMB1,737,084,000, representing a
decrease of 30% as compared to previous year, which
was mainly due to a decrease in the customers’ orders
resulting from the overall compressing business
environment towards the conventional petrol light
commercial vehicle market segment.

Total number of engines, including the engines applied
for the hybrid power supply systems sold by the
subsidiaries, primarily Liuzhou Wuling Liuji Motors
Company Limited (“Wuling Liuji”), for the year was
approximately 153,000 units, representing a significant
decrease of approximately 38.6% as compared to
previous year. During the year, the business volume was
mainly contributed by the models of engines such as
M20B, and other power supply systems for the fuel
engine vehicles, whereas, products attributable to the
new energy vehicles experienced gradual growth,
however, contribution from which remained small,
because of the delays of the launches of the new
models by the automobile customers under the relatively
tough market situation.

Meanwhile, casting products have been moderately
increased in volume. For the year ended 31 December
2024, sales of casting products amounted to
approximately 1,178,000 units, representing an increase
of over 25% as compared to previous year. The
completion of the cylinder head blank production line in
2023 with a capacity of 600,000 units had also laid the
foundation for further expansion of the casting products
of the division in the future.

Resulting from a decline in business volume and taking
into account an impairment loss of RMB32,000,000
against the division’s property, plant and equipment, the
division incurred an operating loss of RMB32,018,000 for
the year, as compared to an operating profit of
RMB25,686,000 in 2023. Facing the prevailing tough and
competitive operating environment, the division has
been committed to implementing measures to control
its operating costs and expenses, in which the loss
making situation in the second half of 2024 had been
moderately alleviated because of the implementation
of these cost control measures.
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During the year, sales to SGMW, our core customer in
the vehicles’ power supply systems division, amounted to
RMB695,037,000, representing a significant decrease of
approximately 48% as compared to previous year.
Amongst which, a significant portion of the revenue was
generated from the sales of the M20B high thermal
efficiency engine which launched in 2023, whereas,
contribution from the new energy vehicle’s business of
SGMW, which covered the hybrid power supply systems
and the electric motor control system and related
components, remained small.

Meanwhile, sales to other customers, which comprised
mainly sales of the engine sets to Foton Motors,
Dongfeng Motor, Chang’an Automobile, JAC Motors
and SAIC Maxus etc, and the engine’s cylinder
components for BYD's tier-one supplier, were decreased
to RMB1,042,047,000, and accounted for approximately
60% of the total revenue of this division. Except for the
engine’s cylinder components which experienced a
modest growth in revenue, sales generated from the
engine sets to other customers were all registered
different extent of decline because of the prevailing
tough business environment. Despite this unfavourable
situation, continuous launches of the matured and new
products, including the new energy products, to other
customers enable the division to tap into the
incremental market demand in the industry which wiill
benefit its business growth in future.
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Facing the imminent shift of the automobile industry in
China focusing on new energy vehicles, the division has
formulated strategy in positioning itself as a multi-
dimensional vehicles’ power supply system supplier,
which has completed a product layout of “traditional
power technology upgrade + new energy power
integrated development”. This strategy is also closely
aligned with the implementation of the “LINXYS Project”
as formulated by Guangxi Automobile Holdings Limited
(“Guangxi Automobile”), our parent company, for the
future development of the entire Group during the year.
On one hand, the division will continue to develop high
efficiency and low emission engines to the traditional
fuel engine vehicles’ manufacturer. Meanwhile, it would
also promote its products, including engines, electric
motor control system and related components for the
electric vehicles, as well as different types of hybrid
model vehicles. According to the “131 Strategy” as
implemented under the LINXYS Project, our goal is to
become a leading enterprise of small and medium-
emission energy-saving hybrid powertrain systems at the
national level.

Considering the dynamic business environment and the
strengthening of the competitiveness in the market, over
the past few years, in implementing the production
capacity expansion programmes, special emphasis has
been placed by the division on the scalability of the
production facilities such that the production and
economic efficiency could be maintained in serving the
market demands from different types of customers
notwithstanding their different range of models and size
of orders.

To further expand the product range and to achieve
higher technical capability, Wuling Liuji has actively
undertaken development projects for the production of
the upgraded high efficiency and low emission engine
products in serving different needs of the customers,
especially targeting at the passenger vehicles as well as
the new energy vehicles segment. In addition to the
upgrading projects which are implemented for the
regulatory compliance policies, enhancement projects
for the existing models and the new models are also
formulated aiming at expanding our customer bases in
the commercial and passenger vehicles segment.
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The successful completion of the new generation of
H-series ultra-high-efficiency engines, methanol engines
and hydrogen internal combustion engines, which
facilitated a solid development of the Group’s alcohol-
hydrogen-oil-gas multi-fuel engine platform, was
recognized as the first of its kind in China and
represented a step forward of the Group in realizing the
goal of “Double Carbon”. This strategic development
essentially enabled the division to have a competitive
edge in the industry for future business development.

Following the scale operation of the newly developed
high thermal efficiency Atkinson engines of the division
since last year, the market position of Wuling Liuji has
been further strengthened by having a comprehensive
range of products ranging from 1.0L to 2.0L with the
essential vertical integration elements, i.e., the in-house
manufacturing of the foundry components.

In terms of products, the M20B high thermal efficiency
engine developed by Wuling Liuji has been successfully
launched to the market in 2023 and has become the
main stream products of the division in applying on a
number of vehicle models of the customers. The division
is confident this business momentum from the M20B will
continue in the coming years and will contribute to the
business performance of the division.

Meanwhile, the high-efficiency and cost effective HEV
hybrid assembly units developed by Wuling Liuji has
continued to contribute to the business of the division
through gradually gaining orders from customers. The
launch of the HEV hybrid assembly units marked the
successful breakthrough of the division from a traditional
fuel engine manufacturer to a multi-dimensional
vehicles power system supplier extending to the business
segment of different types of new energy vehicle.
Through the construction of the core development
capabilities of the two electric motors (motors and
motor controllers), the division has laid out a
comprehensive plan for power integration products
which covers the platform of HEV, PHEV, REEV, and BEV
technical routes, from which advanced, efficient, and
fuel-efficient hybrid drive system products would be
developed in accordance with the needs of the
automobile manufacturers. As compared with traditional
fuel engine vehicles with same level of capacity, based
on initial study, fuel consumption of the division’s HEV
hybrid solution could have a saving of more than 30%.
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The market launch of the division’s HEV hybrid solution
has also enabled the Group to be recognized as the first
supplier in the Guangxi region having the hybrid power
integration capabilities empowered by its the three main
components’ production and technical capability, i.e.,
engine, electric motor, and motor controller system.
Indeed, the division inaugurated the launch of its HEV
hybrid solution with an encouraging reception from the
market.

The engine intelligent manufacturing plant has also
passed the national new generation of information
technology and manufacturing industry integration
development pilot demonstration certification, in which
only three operators were required in the cylinder block
cylinder head workshop, where its processing accuracy
and the degree of intelligence are remarkable.

Driven by the business opportunities from the
development trend of the “New Four Modernization” in
the automotive industry, coupled with the long standing
business position in the vehicle’s engines segment, the
Group is confident that the profitability of the vehicles’
power supply systems division will continue in the coming
years.

Going forward, the division will continue to focus on the
research and development, as well as the marketing
programmes of its existing and new products, including
the products applicable to the new energy vehicles, so
as to maintain its competitiveness in this market
segment. The Group believes adhering to the objectives
as set out in the “131 Strategy” under the LINXYS Project,
the increasing applications of the successfully launched
higher-end models to the vehicles (including new
energy vehicles) of SGMW, Wuling New Energy and
other customers, and the introduction of other new
higher-end products will enhance the business potential
and the technical capability of the division, which will
contribute to its profitability in the coming years.
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Total revenue (based on external sales) of the
automotive components and other industrial services
division for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
RMB5,460,853,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 10.9% as compared to previous yeatr,
which was mainly due to a decrease in the customers’
orders as affected by the market cyclical factors and
the tough business environment during the year.

Despite the abovementioned decrease in the business
volume, benefit from an increase in sale volume of high-
margin products and government grants income, the
division’s profitability has been significantly bolstered. An
operating profit of RMB153,934,000 was recorded for the
year, representing an increase of approximately 68.3%
as compared to previous year.

The automotive components and other industrial
services division, undertaken by our subsidiary, Liuzhou
Wuling Motors Industrial Company Limited (“Wuling
Industrial”), continued to be the key supplier for
supplying a majority portion of the key automotive
components to SGMW, including their EV models. During
the year, sales to SGMW through the Group or our
associated companies, comprised the range of
products including the brake and the chassis assembly
components, car axles, body parts, interior and exterior
trims such as, seat sets, cockpits, bumpers, etc,
experienced a moderate decrease as a result of the
market cyclical factors and the general unfavourable
business condition, but continued to contribute to a
significant portion of the revenue of the division and the
associated companies.
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For further expansion and diversification, the division
continued to undertake various business expansion
programmes in promoting its components products with
a continuous expanding range of categories to other
customers such as Great Wall Motors, Chery Automobile,
Beigi Foton Motors, Geely Automobile, Changan
Automobile, Dongfeng Sokon and BYD, etc, which were
progressing satisfactorily during the year and were able
to register a mild increase as compared to previous
year. During the year under review, sales from other to
expanding customers were stably maintained at
approximately RMB2,300,000,000 and accounted for
approximately 42% of the total revenue of the division,
which portion showing a moderate increase as
compared to previous year.

To further extend its products and services to other
customers, the Group has also recently set up
production facilities in Jingmen, Hubei province. The
production facilities in Jingmen was primarily set up for
supplying automotive components to Great Wall Motors
and had been progressing satisfactorily. In 2024 the
production facilities in Jingmen achieved revenue of
RMB729,173,000, more than double on a year-on-year
basis, in which more than 50% of the products sold were
supplied for the new energy models, which is expected
to have promising business potential.

Meanwhile, sales to Wuling New Energy, an associate of
the Group which engages in the manufacturing of new
energy vehicles business, also gradually increased to
RMB110,455,000 for the year, with products covering
various automotive components for the production of
the electric logistic vehicles.

With our long and established industry experiences, the
automotive components and other industrial services
division of the Group has accumulated the comparative
advantage of a leading mechanical automotive
manufacturer in Guangxi and even the entire southwest
China. Our capability in supplying a wide range of
products provides one-stop shop services to the
customers, whereas, the scalability of its production
facilities also ensures the particular needs of our
customers can be properly taken care of. At the same
time, the division has continued to develop in the
direction of high-end, intelligent and green, and actively
explored the market, and has achieved stage-by-stage
results.
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With respect to products, through continuous efforts of
market diversification, the division actively made
unremitting efforts in optimizing our product structure,
firmly grasped the opportunities from the trend of
automobile transformation to the new energy era, and
put utmost effort on the added value of products to
open up the market of high-end car models and new
energy car models. The market responses from these
diversification projects were all encouraging. After the
production and sales of over one and a half million units
of micro-electric car axles on a cumulative basis since its
launch, the division further consolidated and improved
its comparative advantages in the aspects of a full
dimension of both traditional fuel axles and electric car
axles. Being the supplier of subframe, rear torsion beam
and speed reducer products of SGMW'’s star product,
Wuling Splendid, the division has also swiftly realised the
steps of commercialisation through supplying its coaxial
electric drive axle to Changan, Ruichi, JAC and other
automobile enterprises. Meanwhile, we also obtained
orders of electric car axles from the leading car
manufacturers such as Chery and Geely for their
mainstream new energy commercial vehicles. With
respect to product development, while the drum EPB
has been nationalized, the in-line control product has
also made a breakthrough from 0 to 1, which product
has been installed in Foton and is expected to achieve
break through to mass production. The front and rear
axles for pickup trucks and non-load-bearing SUVs have
also been mass-produced in mainstream markets such
as Great Wall and Foton. For instances, the multilink silent
high-end integral fuel axle was firstly used in high-end
pickup trucks such as the Tank and Poer series.
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The division is also committed to promptly congregating
the new momentum driven by new industries, new
formats and new models to support and spearhead our
business goal of high quality development. The first
domestic production line for the thermal inflation
molding of ultra-high-strength steel tubes was
completed in 2020, which filled the gaps in the domestic
market and solved the industry’s “stranglehold”
technological problems. In 2024, the second production
line was completed and utilized to continue to serve
orders from Great Wall Motors and BYD. In terms of
processing, the division has the ability to develop the
whole process of fully independent spiral bevel gears,
recognised as a first tier standard in the country and
commenced to supply the spiral bevel gear products for
BYD. The Group’s manufacturing quality has reached
the higher standards of the international automobile
enterprises, while at the same time enjoying an
advantage from the cost perspective.

Over the past few years, the Group has taken strategic
steps in the PRC to transform from a single production
point operation in Liuzhou into an interprovincial
production group with facilities in Guangxi, Shandong,
Chongging and Hubei in accomplishing a synchronized
expansion and improvement in terms of corporate size
and core competitiveness, meanwhile establishing a
sound foundation for the Group’s business growth and
sustainable development in the future, at the back of
the division’s current consolidated annual production
capacity of more than 2 million units of automotive
components.
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Meanwhile, the Group’s overseas production plants in
Indonesia were affected by certain delays in the
customers’ orders which resulted in a lower business
volume for the year under review. Nevertheless, the
Group is optimistic that being the fourth largest
population country in the world and in consideration of
its recent economic development, there is great
business potential for the automobile industry in
Indonesia and considers that the business performance
of the Group’s automotive components businesses in
Indonesia will be gradually improved in the near future.

The production plant of the Group in India, which has a
smaller scale of operation and targeted for the
automotive component business of a renowned PRC
car manufacturer also continued to maintain its
profitability in the year 2024.

Looking ahead, in line with the implementation of the
“131 Strategy” under the LINXYS Project, the division will
aim to become leading enterprise of light-miniature
drive axles and automobile frames at national level,
through actively supporting the transformation of
medium- and high-end vehicles and new energy
vehicles, meanwhile, continue to optimize the customer
structure, comprehensively consider the early
deployment of the entire life cycle of the target
customer products from the whole series of car models,
pay close attention to technological research and
development, improve product quality, and actively
open up markets, to ensure the transformation and
upgrading in business product so as to achieving a
sustainable and healthy development.
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Total revenue (based on external sales) of the
commercial vehicles assembly division undertaken by
Wuling Industrial for the year ended 31 December 2024
was RMB718,758,000, representing a significant decrease
of approximately 60.9% as compared to previous year.
Despite a substantial decline in the business volume, due
to the effective implementation of certain restructure
exercise and cost control measures, the division was
managed to maintain a set of profitable results for the
year, from which an operating profit of RMB75,919,000
was recorded for the year.

Completion of the restructure exercise of the business of
the Group’s new energy vehicles in late 2022, where the
assembly business of the Group’s new energy vehicles
were transferred to the Group’s associate, Wuling New
Energy, and the Group’s repositioning strategy on the
refitted vehicles since the second half of 2023, where
the Group began to focus more on the modification
services had also resulted in a direct reduction of the
business volume of the division.

Apart from this, during the year, business volume of the
commercial vehicles assembly division has been
adversely affected by the general unfavourable
economic environment at which the market demand
was severely weak.

During the year under review, Wuling Industrial sold
approximately 7,300 different models of vehicles.
Amongst which, the sales volume of refitted vehicles
and other types of vehicles (primarily sightseeing
vehicles) decreased to approximately 4,200 vehicles
and 3,100 vehicles respectively. The decline in respect of
the refitted vehicles was mainly due to the Group’s
repositioning strategy as below mentioned, whereas, the
weak market demand resulting from the general
unfavourable economic environment had also given rise
to certain adverse impact during the year.
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Following the completion of the restructure exercise of
the business of the Group’s new energy vehicles in late
2022, where part of the production facilities were
transferred to Wuling New Energy and the faster than
expected application of the new energy vehicles in the
market, the division had been cautiously considering its
business strategy on the fuel engine refitted vehicles,
which in turn slow down further investments in this
particular business segment. As a result, the business
volume of the refitted vehicles was severely affected
during the year. The Group is in the process of
formulating appropriate business strategy for the refitted
vehicles, which may involve possible collaboration with
other business divisions and the customers.

The commercial vehicles assembly division operates
comprehensive car assembly lines which covers the
production processes of welding, painting and
assembly. The division has capability to produce various
types of specially designed vehicles which serves the
different needs of market, such as sightseeing bus, golf
cart, container wagon, refrigerator vehicle, police car,
fire truck and electric logistic vehicle, etc. The customers
range from government departments, public institutes,
private enterprises with different size of operation to
private individuals. Products are mainly sold in the
domestic market covering the major provinces and
cities across the country and the overseas markets.
Among them, sight-seeing cars, golf carts and other
products are targeted at exporting to Southeast Asia,
the United States, Canada, Australia, Egypt, Africa and
other markets.
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The capability of the commercial vehicles assembly
division is originated from the long standing industry
experiences of Wuling, where a strong comprehensive
capability of “multi-mix, small batch and specialization”
has been established. In fact, the models designed and
developed by the Group are mainly branded as
“Wuling”, which is a benchmark of quality products and
services in the market in itself. Over the years, the Group
had unremittingly developed new models of vehicles for
commercial use with improved quality and added
features in response to market demands and enhanced
regulatory standards, such as the hot-selling side-open
container wagon (stall car), electric logistic vehicle and
the refrigerated truck. The Group is confident that the
launches of these new models will be beneficial to the
business performance of the division. Currently,
production facilities of the commercial vehicles
assembly division of the Group are situated in Liuzhou,
Qingdao and Chongging.

Indeed, prior to the below mentioned restructure
exercise, the division had made significant
breakthroughs in the new energy vehicle market
segment. Furthermore, it had also gradually built up a
nationwide distribution network across the country. More
remarkably, the division had also extended its products
to overseas markets including Japan and the United
States, which are renowned as the leaders in the global
automobile industry. Sale volume of these orders, where
the division continued to act as the principal sale agent,
are expected to be gradually increased in coming
years. These solid business platforms and experiences in
the new energy vehicles segment essentially paved the
way for the restructure exercise of the business of the
Group’s new energy vehicles which took place in 2022
as below mentioned.
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In order to accelerate the expansion of the Group’s new
energy vehicle business in meeting the increasing
business opportunities arisen from the new energy
vehicle market segment, the Group, including Company
and Wuling Industrial formed a joint venture with
Guangxi Automobile and established Wuling New
Energy which started operational in 2022 for pursuing the
businesses focusing on the research and development,
manufacture and sale of new energy vehicles, including
the highly competitive electric vehicles, plug-in hybrid
new energy vehicles and other new energy smart travel
products. The setup of Wuling New Energy enables the
Group, including the Company and Wuling Industrial
and Guangxi Automobile, to have an advance and
sizable production facilities for implementing the business
strategies and programmes arising from the new energy
vehicles segment, and at the same time benefits the
operation of Wuling Industrial and its subsidiaries serving
as the strategic key suppliers to Wuling New Energy by
supplying automotive components and parts for its
production of new energy vehicles.

The Group believes that operation of Wuling New Energy
will not only provide a solid foundation to Wuling New
Energy for implementing future business projects in the
new energy vehicles segment, but also provide Wuling
Industrial with the opportunity to further streamline its
existing operation in the commercial vehicles assembly
division which will be conducive to business
performance of the division in future.

For the year under review, Wuling New Energy operated
as an associate of the Group and the Group’s principal
business entity in the new energy vehicles business, of
which its business performance for the year ended 31
December 2024 is described in the section “Performance
of Joint Ventures and Associates” below.
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The Group would strive to maintain a prominent market
share of our existing popular models, and at the same
time, explore the opportunity for future growth potential
to further improve the profitability of the commercial
vehicles assembly division, through implementation of
active business strategies in promoting new models,
including different models of non-road vehicles and
other special purpose vehicles, focusing on market
segmentation and specialization, enhancing the ability
of professional customization of unique products,
developing high-value products, intensifying market
development efforts, and solidly increasing sales volume,
on the back of the favourable government policy and
the specific needs in the market. The Group considers
vertical integration of the key automotive components
in its commercial vehicles assembly business will provide
a solid backup and enhance our competitive strength in
the industry. Indeed, the launches of various upgraded
models of non-road vehicles, such as sight-seeing buses
and golf carts had all received satisfactory reception
from the overseas markets which have tremendous
business potential.

Going forward, the commercial vehicles assembly
division will continue to undertake research and
development projects for new products, technical and
capability improvement with the support from the other
divisions, namely the vehicles’ power supply systems
division and the automotive components and other
industrial services division. Whilst the Group envisages
the challenges facing this division, it remains confident in
the long term business potential of this business segment
in view of our long standing competitive strength in the
industry.
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Wuling New Energy which was owned as to 13.36% by
the Company and 12.34% by Wuling Industrial as at 31
December 2024 and was formed with Guangxi
Automobile in 2022 for pursuing the new energy vehicles
business, including the highly competitive electric
vehicles, plug-in hybrid new energy vehicles and other
new energy smart travel products.

During the year under review, Wuling New Energy
achieved total revenue of RMB1,016,937,000 (2023:
RMB785,475,000), representing an increase of
approximately 29.5% as compared to previous year. Due
to its initial stage of operation, Wuling New Energy
incurred a net operating loss for the year. However,
resulting from the growth in revenue, net operating loss
was slightly decreased, in which loss attributable to the
Group for the year amounted to approximately
RMB67,404,000 (2023: RMB79,774,000).

During the year under review, due to the intense
competition in the PRC market which had driven down
the selling prices of the electric vehicles, the dramatic
fluctuations in domestic insurance policies, and the
uncertainties associated from the import regulations of
the target overseas markets which caused Wuling New
Energy to be more cautious in implementing aggressive
business, Wuling New Energy sold approximately 14,200
new energy vehicles, representing an increase of 41% as
compared to previous year. The increase in sale volume
was mainly attributable to the launch of new products in
domestic market, i.e., the new energy medium duty
container truck “LINXYS Golden Van” series and the new
energy small truck “LINXYS Golden Small Truck” series
targeting for the domestic market.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Wuling New
Energy has developed and launched a number of new
models on the basis of the original series of models,
which received satisfactory market feedbacks. From
which, a comprehensive range of products covering
mini-van, mini-truck, small van, small truck, small
container truck, and small shelf truck. By the end of
February 2024, the new energy medium-sized product
“LINXYS Golden Van” long range version was launched
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and achieved sales volume of over 1,000 units for
consecutive months; in December 2024, the “LINXYS
Golden Van” passenger car version was formally
launched, which once again boosted the sales volume.
In November 2024, Wuling New Energy launched the
new energy small truck product “LINXYS Golden Small
Truck”, which was among the top 3 models in this market
segment in the first month of its launch. At the back of
this foundation, Wuling New Energy will continue to
launch new models with high competitiveness, at the
same time continuously improving the product range for
each market segment, from which the sale is expected
to rapidly increase.

Meanwhile, Wuling New Energy is also expanding into
overseas markets. For the year ended 31 December
2024, products originated from the 050 platform left-
hand drive micro-logistics trucks were exported to Korea,
whereas, the first batch of GO50P pure electric small
trucks were also delivered to Japan. On the basis of
maintaining the existing overseas markets, i.e. Japan,
the United States, Korea and Europe, Wuling New Energy
will further develop markets in Southeast Asia and South
America to promote business growth.

For further strengthening the financial position and the
collaboration with potential business partners, in January
2024, Wuling New Energy completed a fund raising
exercise amounted to RMB390 million in total. Amongst
which, RMB360 million was contributed by three
prominent third party investors including #F & T & &% % i%
£ B AR 27 (Xuchang Jintou Holding Group Co., Ltd.*),
EREZAIXKREAREE (BRAE) (Guangxi Ruiling
Venture Capital Partnership (Limited Partnership)*) and
BERERBLECREESAE X (AR A %) (Guangxi
Guangtou Incubation Investment Fund Partnership
(Limited Partnership)*) whereas, the Company
contributed the remaining RMB30 million. The Company
considered the participation of these investors in Wuling
New Energy will be beneficial to its long term business
development. Completion of the Company’s capital
contribution subsequently took place on 30 January
2024, whereas, completion of the other capital
contributions from the three third party investors under
this fund raising exercise during the year ended 31
December 2024 caused further dilution of the Group’s
equity share of Wuling New Energy as of 31 December
2024.
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Looking ahead, under the guidance of the “131
Strategy” under the LINXYS Project, Wuling New Energy
will proceed to further expand the product map of
“LINXYS Vehicles”. Through responding quickly to the
needs of sub-markets, and continuously supplying quality
passenger and cargo solutions to the domestic and
overseas markets, Wuling New Energy is confident to
build up the “LINXYS” brand of new energy vehicles to
become a market leading enterprise of light and mini
new energy commercial vehicles.

Guangxi Weixiang Machinery Company Limited
(“Guangxi Weixiang”), which is owned as to 50% by
Wuling Industrial and formed with Guangxi Liugong
Machinery Company Limited for developing and
pursuing the businesses of engineering machinery and
other industrial vehicles products maintained its
profitability during the year by reqgistering a total revenue
of RMB589,465,000, representing a year-on-year increase
of 16.8% as compared to previous year, due to a
moderate increase in the business volume during the
year. Under a relatively stable business environment, net
operating profit was increased by 60.3% to
RMB13,450,000 (as compared to the net operating profit
of RMB8,393,000 as achieved in previous year), in which
profit of RMB6,725,000 was attributable to the Group.

Faurecia (Liuzhou) Automobile Seating Co., Limited (“FL
Seating”) which is owned as to 50% each by Wuling
Industrial and Faurecia Group for pursuing the business
of car seat products in the PRC continued its business
recovery stage during the year. During the year under
review, benefited from the continuous launches of new
models by the customers, FL Seating registered total
revenue of RMB584,609,000, representing a significant
increase of 112% as compared to previous year.
However, due to the pricing pressure from the customer
and taking into account the impairment losses of
RMB20,867,000 on the assets (including the impairment
loss of RMB9,146,000 due to a fire accident), a net
operating loss of RMB30,655,000 was incurred for the
year (as compared to the net operating loss of
RMB36,489,000 for previous year), in which loss of
RMB15,328,000 was attributable to the Group. As a
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special remark, the abovementioned fire accident
which caused certain stoppages in the operation of FL
Seating had been immediately resolved without
creating any long term disturbances to the business
activities of FL Seating.

Faurecia (Liuzhou) Automobile Interior System Co.,
Limited (“FL Interior”), which is owned as to 50% each by
Wuling Industrial and Faurecia Group for pursuing the
business of automotive interior system, its related parts
and accessories, including cockpit, instrument panel,
auxiliary instrument panel, door trim panel, acoustics
and soft trim in the PRC maintained its business
momentum and profitability during the year. During the
year under review, FL Interior registered total revenue of
RMB324,670,000, representing a moderate decrease of
12.2% as compared to previous year. Despite a drop in
the total revenue, due to the continuous increase in the
higher profit margin products, net operating profit slightly
improved to RMB43,664,000, (as compared to the net
operating profit of RMB42,368,000 for previous year) for
the year under review, where profit of RMB21,832,000
was attributable to the Group.

Faurecia (Liuzhou) Emission Control Technologies Co.,
Limited (“FL Emission”), which is owned as to 50% each
by Wuling Industrial and Faurecia Group for pursuing the
business of automotive emissions control system products
and related parts and components in the PRC
experienced a tough business environment during the
year in which total revenue was reduced by 22.9% to
RMB296,333,000. Accordingly, net operating profit for
the year was substantially decreased to RMB400,000 (as
compared to the net operating profit of RMB4,798,000
for previous year), in which profit of RMB200,000 was
attributable to the Group.
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Group'’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December
2024 was RMB7,949,439,000, representing a decrease of
24.2% as compared to previous year. The decrease was
mainly attributable to a decrease in the business volume
of the vehicles’ power supply system division due to a
reduction in the customers’ orders resulting from the
corresponding unfavourable economic environment
during the year and the Group’s repositioning strategy
on the refitted vehicles since the second half of 2023,
which had resulted in a direct reduction of the total
revenue of the commercial vehicle assembly division.
Meanwhile, a decrease in the business volume from
SGMW as affected by the market cyclical factors and
the tough business environment during the year, had
offset the positive effect from the steady growth of
business from certain new customers, such as Great Wall
Motors and Chery Automobile, etc. Such that the
business revenue of the automotive components and
other industrial services division registered a decline in
revenue in this year.

Due to a decline in the business volume during the yeatr,
gross profits of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 was also decreased but at a lesser
extent as compared to the decrease in revenue. It was
mainly attributable to the benefits from an improvement
in the gross profit margin resulting from the increasing
sales of higher margin products in the automotive
components and other industrial services division and
certain compensation rebate in relation to the EV’s
components. Gross profit for the year under review was
RMB860,097,000, representing a decrease of 17.1%
compared to the previous year. In this regard, gross
profit margin achieved by the Group was improved to
10.8% for the year as compared to the 9.9% as recorded
in previous year.
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Benefited from an increase in government grants
income of the automotive components and other
industrial services division and the decreases in the share
of losses from the associates, including Wuling New
Energy, which losses incurred was slightly decreased as
compared to previous year, the Group reported a net
profit of RMB111,245,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024, representing an increase of 60.2% as
compared to previous year. Hence, the Group also
reported profit attributable to the owners of the
Company of RMB50,621,000, representing an increase of
115.6% as compared to previous year.

Accordingly, basic earnings per share for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was RMB1.53 cent, which
marked a continuous improvement as compared to the
basic earnings per share of RMB0.71 cent as recorded in
previous year, whereas, fully diluted earnings per share
for the year under review was RMB1.53 cent as there is
no dilution effect for the year.

Other income comprised primarily bank interest income,
government grants and subsidies, sales of scrap
materials and parts and other sundry income was in
aggregate RMB284,624,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024, representing an increase of 32.7% as
compared to previous year, which was mainly due to
increases in government grants income and bank
interest income.

Other gains and losses amounted to a net aggregate
loss of RMB44,802,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024, which comprised primarily the combined results of
decrease in fair value of investment properties
amounting to RMB15,285,000, and impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment amounting to
RMB32,000,000.
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Share of results of associates reported a total net loss of
RMB63,140,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024
representing primarily combined results of the net
operating profits attributable to FL Interior and FL
Emission and the net operating losses incurred by Wuling
New Energy and FL Seating. During the year, despite a
decline in the business volume from SGMW, thanks to an
increase in the business volume of higher margin
products, FL Interior and FL Emission were all managed
to maintain their respective business volume and deliver
set of profitable results for the year. Meanwhile, Wuling
New Energy was loss making due to it still being in the
early stage of operation and development. However, its
loss was slightly reduced because of increase in business
volume during the year. Whereas, FL Seating recorded
net operating losses due to the pricing pressure from the
customer and the impairment losses on the assets, partly
attributable to the fire accident that took place in the
year. During the year, the Group sold 40% of its equity in
Liuzhou Leadrive Electronic Control Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Liuzhou Leadrive”) which was continuously operated at
losses due to the unfavourable market condition.

Share of results of joint ventures reported an aggregate
net loss of RMB3,508,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024. Due to the severe adverse market
situation, Liuzhou AAM Automotive Transmission System
Co., Ltd ("AAM JV") and Qingdao Langi Liuji Motors
Technology Company Limited (“Qingdao Lanqi”),
continued to register operating losses during the year. In
view of this, the partners of AAM JV and Qingdao Lanqi
had resolved during the year to either cease operation
or implement certain restructure plans to these joint
ventures for the benefit of the stakeholders. In this
regard, the equity interests in Qingdao Lanqgi were
disposed of in November 2024, whereas AAM JV was
dissolved subsequent to the year end date. Meanwhile,
the business of Guangxi Weixiang continued to be solid
and was able to remain profitable during the year.

Selling and distribution costs of the Group were in
aggregate RMB80,873,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024, representing a decrease of 42.1% as
compared to previous year. In addition to the decline in
business volume, the recording of warranty expenses as
the Group’s cost of sales with effect from this year had
also resulted in a decrease on the selling and distribution
costs.
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General and administrative expenses of the Group
comprised primarily salary and allowances, various
insurance expenses, rental expenses and other
administrative expenses were in aggregate
RMB429,816,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024,
representing a decrease of 13.7% as compared to
previous year. Facing the tough and highly competitive
business environment, the Group would continue to
implement various cost control measures in containing
the general and administrative expenses of the Group
aiming at alleviating the pricing pressure from the market
and in promoting competitiveness and efficiency.

Research and development expenses for the year
ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
RMB282,187,000, representing a modest decrease of
7.9% as compared to previous year, which was in line
with the business level of the Group. The Group will
continue to prudently carry out appropriate research
and development projects in accordance with the
strategic plan in furthering its future business
opportunities.

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2024
amounted to RMB115,997,000, which was slightly
decreased by 3.7% as compared to previous year
resulting from a decrease in the finance costs associated
with the bank borrowing of the Group for the year under
review.

As at 31 December 2024, total assets and total liabilities
of the Group stood at RMB13,768,916,000 and
RMB10,727,866,000 respectively.

Non-current assets amounted to RMB4,162,391,000
comprised mainly property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, investment properties, interests in joint
ventures and associates, etc. The total carrying values of
the property, plant and equipment had taken into
account of the total capital expenditure of
RMB190,142,000 arising from the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment, depreciation charge of
RMB445,356,000, a decrease in fair value of investment
properties of RMB15,285,000 and an impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment of RMB32,000,000
incurred for the year under review.
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Current assets amounted to RMB9,606,525,000
comprised mainly inventories of RMB672,466,000, trade
and other receivables of RMB2,386,222,000, bills
receivables and bills receivable at fair value through
other comprehensive income of RMB2,933,385,000
(inclusive of bills receivable discounted with recourse
but not yet matured amounting to RMB2,444,371,000),
pledged bank deposits of RMB453,143,000 and bank
balances and cash of RMB3,160,344,000. Amount due
from SGMW, a related company and a key customer in
the vehicles’ power supply system and automotive
components businesses of the Group amounted to
RMB838,324,000 was recorded as trade and other
receivables in the consolidated statement of financial
position. These receivables balances were subject to
normal commercial settlement terms.

Current liabilities amounted to RMB9,532,503,000,
comprised mainly trade and other payables of
RMB4,995,328,000, contract liabilities of RMB97,255,000,
lease liabilities of RMB29,660,000, provision for warranty
of RMB103,666,000, bank borrowings — due within one
year of RMB1,857,777,000 and advances drawn on bills
receivable discounted with recourse of
RMB2,448,817,000. The corresponding bills receivable
discounted with recourse to these advances amounting
to RMB2,444,371,000 were recorded as bills receivable at
fair value through other comprehensive income as at 31
December 2024, which would be offset against upon
maturity.

The Group recorded net current assets of RMB74,022,000
as at 31 December 2024, as compared to the net
current liabilities of RMB477,071,000 as at 31 December
2023. The raising of certain long term bank borrowings
during the year helped to improve the liquidity position
of the Group.

Non-current liabilities amounted to RMB1,195,363,000
comprised mainly bank borrowings of RMB1,122,362,000,
lease liabilities of RMB26,227,000, contract liabilities of
RMB5,074,000 and deferred tax liability of RMB41,700,000.

44

HENEE B ARY9,606,525,000T TER
EEE ARK672,466,0007T - E U BR U N H
b & YL 5k T8 A R #52,386,222,0007T ~ B E
BREZEAFEFAEMEERZHEKZE
AR #2,933,385,0007T (B IEH B REE K
FEf 2 B RA IR E IR E B A R 12,444,371,000
J0) ~ BB HIRTTF A R #453,143,0007T A
KR 1T 45 84 RIR & A R #3,160,344,0007T ©
WA ARRASB TEFH HRAHFERE
THRHEBETERFP LARBBREREAR
838,324,000 7R 4r & B 75 71k i 2= 1| E FE UK
A EEMERFE - ZE R RBEH T
—RAEELEIEROR-

mE B E A AR 532,503,000 EEH
FENEFREREMESZTEBARE
4,995,328,0007T * & 4 & & A R 97,255,000
T HE 8 E ARK29,660,0007T R B
A R #103,666,0007T - 1A —F A EHf Z $R 17
e AR #1,857,777,000T M ER#EZ B
ALIR FE N IR FTIR INEA SR A R #62,448,817,000
T RZEZWEF+ A=+ —HBZEBRK
JHBNERECHRREEEKEESEAAR
#2,444,371,00070 ' B8k B A FE A
HE2mEUBRAREIRERE W EI BRI S -

R-ZE-ME+-A=+—8 KREEKSE
RBEEFEARKT4,022,0000 MR —=
=+ AZ+—HARERHEEFE
AR #477,071,0007 - FAEEE T RHER
TEFBEYRREREENTEE MR -

FRBAaE A AREKL195363,000T T
BIERTEE AREK1,122,362,000 HE
B & AR%26,227,000t - AHBEBARE
5,074,0007T KEERTE & 15 A R #41,700,000
Tt e



The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximizing the return to shareholders through the
optimization of the debts and equity balance. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from that
of prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts,
which includes the advances drawn on bills receivable
discounted with recourse and bank borrowings, and
equity attributable to owners of the Company in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
operating and investing activities of the Group were
mainly satisfied by the financing activities of the Group
through the drawdown of bank borrowings and the bills
receivable discounted.

The Group considers the application of alternative
means of financing, i.e. bank borrowings and bill
discounting activities in terms of the respective finance
cost consideration. Besides, to contain finance costs of
the Group, Guangxi Automobile provided sources of
finance to the Group through bill discounting activities
at the most favourable terms offered in the market.

As at 31 December 2024, total bank borrowings
amounted to RMB2,980,139,000 which was increased by
approximately 29% as compared to the position as at 31
December 2023, in which RMB1,122,362,000 were having
repayment terms of more than one year, which was
moderately increased as compared to previous year.
Meanwhile, the outstanding advances drawn on bills
receivable discounted with recourse decreased by
approximately 25.2% to RMB2,448,817,000. The
corresponding bills receivable discounted with recourse
to these advances amounting to RMB2,444,371,000 were
recorded as bills receivable at fair value through other
comprehensive income which would be offset against
upon maturity. During the year under review, the Group
discounted total bills receivables amounting to
approximately RMB6,000,000,000 mainly to the financial
institutions for providing the necessary fundings for its
daily operations.
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As at 31 December 2024, the cash at bank balances
(together with the pledged bank deposits) were
increased by approximately 14.9% to RMB3,613,487,000
as compared to the position as at 31 December 2023.

Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company,
comprised primarily the share premium, statutory
reserve, contributed surplus, capital reserve, other
reserves and retained profits, amounted to
RMB1,973,393,000 as at 31 December 2024. Net asset
value per share was approximately RMB59.8 cents as at
31 December 2024.

In view of the dynamic business environment and the
risks and exposures associated with the automobile
industry, the Group had been and would cautiously
implement its strategic and business plans such that the
financial position in terms of the net assets of the Group
and attributable to the owners of the Company, the
amount of net current assets/liabilities and the gearing
ratio of the Group would be sustained in a financial
healthy position. The Directors review the liquidity, capital
structure and financial policy periodically and consider
the current financial position of the Group will enable it
to withstand the risks and challenges under the current
market environment.

In this regard, the Group will continue to closely monitor
the liquidity and financial position of the Group, as well
as the market environment (including the
unprecedented adverse issues) and the financial market
from time to time in order to arrive at an appropriate
financial strategy for the Group.

At 31 December 2024, bank deposits amounting to
RMB453,143,000 held by the Group (2023:
RMB528,997,000) and bills receivable discounted with
recourse amounting to RMB2,444,371,000 (2023:
RMB3,263,321,000) were pledged to the banks and
Guangxi Automobile mainly to secure certain banking
and bills discounting facilities offered to the Group.
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At 31 December 2024, the Group maintained Hong
Kong dollar and United States dollar amounting to
RMB3,730,000 (2023: RMB3,595,000). In comparison with
the relative size of the Group’s assets, liabilities and main
transactions which are denominated in RMB, the Group
regarded its exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates
and currencies to be reasonable and would monitor the
foreign exchange exposures of the Group as well as the
prevailing market condition in arriving at appropriate
strategy.

At 31 December 2024, the Group has outstanding
commitments, contracted but not provided for in the
financial statements, in respect of the acquisitions of
property, plant and equipment amounting to
RMB180,068,000 (2023: RMB174,987,000).

At 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
material contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

EEE
MR. YUAN ZHUJUN

REERE

Chairman

YUAN Zhijun

Mr. Yuan Zhijun, aged 58, Chairman of the Board and the
Nomination Committee, a member of the ESG Committee, was
appointed as Executive Director on 4 November 2016. Mr. Yuan
graduated from the Huazhong University of Science and
Technology with a master degree in business administration in
2003 and is a professor level senior engineer. Mr. Yuan holds
directorships of a number of subsidiaries and member
companies of the Group. He is currently a director and the
chief executive of our principal subsidiary, Liuzhou Wuling
Motors Industrial Company Limited* (M1 T Z /58 T2 AR A 7))
(“Wuling Industrial”), a joint- venture enterprise owned by the
Company and Guangxi Automobile Holdings Limited* (& 75
BHEEAFR A R) (“Guangxi Automobile”) — the ultimate holding
company of the Company. Mr. Yuan is also currently the
chairman of the board of directors and chief executive of
Guangxi Automobile. He is also a director of Wuling (Hong
Kong) Holdings Limited and Wuling Motors (Hong Kong)
Company Limited respectively, the immediate holding
company and the intermediate holding company of the
Company. Since his joining to the group of Guangxi Automobile
in 1987, Mr. Yuan has held various positions within the group of
Guangxi Automobile and has over 30 years’ of extensive
experience in the production, product design and
development, human resources and corporate management
of the automobile industry. Mr. Yuan has also served in a
number of senior positions of SAIC-GM-Wuling Automobile Co.
Limited (“*SGMW?”) since February 2003. He is currently a director
of SGMW, which is a joint venture formed among Shanghai
Automobile Industry (Group) Company Limited, GM (China)
Investment Company Limited and Guangxi Automobile and is
currently a major customer of the Group’s businesses in vehicles’
power supply systems and automotive components.
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MR. WEI MINGFENG
EHREE

Executive Director

HITES

WEI Mingfeng Z 8Bl

Mr. Wei, aged 50, was appointed as Executive Director
on 24 March 2021. Mr. Wei is currently a director of
Liuzhou Wuling Liuji Motors Company Limited (#1 2
WH# B HERRQF), asubsidiary of our principal
subsidiary, Wuling Industrial. Besides, Mr. Wei is currently
the vice general manager, chief legal counsel, and
chief compliance officer, of Guangxi Automobile, the
ultimate holding company of the Company. Mr. Wei
graduated from Tianjin University majoring in Chemical
Mechanical Engineering and holds a master degree in
business administration of Huazhong University of
Science and Technology and holds the profession as a
senior engineer. Mr. Wei joined the group of Guangxi
Automobile in 1996 and has over 25 years' of extensive
experience in business operations, production
management, quality control, purchasing and supply
chain management of the automotive components
industry.
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MS. ZHU FENGYAN
KEESBZL

Executive Director

HITES

Zhu Fengyan % R %

Ms. Zhu, aged 46, was appointed as Executive Director
on 31 July 2024. Ms. Zhu obtained a bachelor's degree in
management at Wuhan Chemical Technology College*
(RE{L TEF) (currently known as Wuhan Institute of
Technology) in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
in June 2000. She also obtained the qualification as
auditor and senior accountant from the Department of
Human Resources and Social Security of Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region in October 2011 and in December
2018, respectively. Ms. Zhu is currently the Deputy Chief
Accountant of Guangxi Automobile. She is also currently
a director of the finance and securities department and
a director of the audit and legal affairs department of
Guangxi Automobile. Ms. Zhu joined Guangxi Automobile
in July 2000 and has over 20 years of extensive
experience in the financial, accounting, and legal
aspects of the automotive industry.
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MR. LI ZHENG
FIEFE

Non-executive Director

FHTES

Ll Zzheng Z1E

Mr. Li, aged 81, was appointed as Non-executive
Director on 24 August 2022. Mr. Li graduated from South
China Normal University in 1967 majoring in Physics. He
worked in various organisations relating to the field of
medical technology, including well-known university
research centre, national medical engineering
technology research centre, focusing on promoting the
improvement of medical technology in the PRC.
Besides, he also worked in the science and technology
development organisations, trust funds and investment
organisations. Mr. Li has over 50 years’ of extensive
experience in physics, biomedical engineering and
international finance. Mr. Li is the brother of the late Mr.
Lee Shing, who was the former vice-chairman of the
Board, the former chief executive officer and a former
executive Director of the Company and the former
beneficial owner of Dragon Hill Development Limited, a
substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr. Li is
currently a member of each of the Nomination
Committee, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the ESG Committee.
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MR. YE XIANG
BAxE
Independent Non-executive Director

BUFHITES

YE Xiang E#

Mr. Ye, aged 61, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director on 10 October 2008. Mr. Ye is the
founder and managing director of Vision Gain Capital
Limited (“Vision Gain”), a company engages in the fund
management and investment advisory business. Mr. Ye
is a chartered financial analyst and holds a doctorate
degree in finance. He has more than 20 years’ of
experience in the monetary and finance industry and
has extensive exposures in the banking and regulatory
aspects. Prior to his founding of Vision Gain, Mr. Ye was
the director of China Affairs of the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong. Mr. Ye is currently
the chairman of the Audit Committee and the ESG
Committee, and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
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MR. WANG YUBEN
ERAEE
Independent Non-executive Director

BYFHTES

WANG Yuben £

Mr. Wang, aged 69, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 20 March 2015. Mr. Wang
obtained a doctorate degree in economic law from
the school of law of the Renmin University of China. He is
currently an arbitrator of Beijing Arbitration Commission.
Mr. Wang has more than 38 years of teaching
experiences in a number of universities in the PRC. He is
also at present a professor in the Capital University of
Economics & Business. Mr. Wang is currently a member
of each of the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and
the ESG Committee.
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MR. XU JINLI
BHHxE
Independent Non-executive Director

BIEBTES

Mr. Xu Jinli #:$h b 54

Mr. Xu, aged 59, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 9 June 2023. Mr. Xu
graduated from the Wuhan University with a bachelor
and a master degree majoring in mechanical
engineering and obtained a doctor’'s degree in
engineering at Wuhan University of Technology (i &2
T RE). From September 1999 onwards, he served as a
lecturer, an associate professor and a professor
respectively at Wuhan University of Technology and has
engaged in the fields of mechanical engineering and
education for more than 30 years. Besides, since March
2019, Mr. Xu has also served as an external director of
Guangxi Automobile, the ultimate holding company of
the Company. His appointment as the external director
of Guangxi Automobile is subject to the requirements of
(BARBREBMEIINIEEEELITIIE) issued by the
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the People’s Government of Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region* (/& fit ik B8 @ A RBAT
EEEZEBEEZE®). Mr. Xu is currently the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of each of the Nomination Committee, the
Audit Committee and the ESG Committee.
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Mr. Yang, aged 50, was appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company on 18 February 2025.
Mr. Yang graduated from South China University of
Tropical Agriculture* (EmHE R X K2) (currently
known as Hainan University) and obtained a bachelor
degree in agricultural mechanisation and a master
degree in international trade from Wuhan University of
Technology and a master degree in business
administration from China Europe International Business
School and his profession is economist. Prior to his
appointment as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, Mr. Yang served as the senior sales and
marketing consultant of Liuzhou Wuling New Energy
Motors Company Limited, an associate company of the
Company. Mr. Yang has over 27 years of extensive
experience in sales and marketing, as well as the
corporate management of the automobile industry.

Mr. Lai, aged 60, currently Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of the Company, is responsible for
overseeing our finance, accounting and company
secretarial functions. He is also a director of Wuling
Industrial, our principal subsidiary. Mr. Lai has more than
30 years’ of experience in finance, accounting and
business management. Mr. Lai graduated from the
University of Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Baptist
University and holds a Bachelor of Arts degree and a
Master of Science degree in Corporate Governance
and Directorship respectively. He is currently a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.
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Mr. Chen, aged 50, is currently the chairman of the
board of director of Wuling Industrial, our principal
subsidiary. Mr. Chen is also the deputy party committee
secretary, the vice chairman of the board of director
and the general manager of Guangxi Automobile, the
ultimate holding company of the Company. Mr. Chen
graduated from Metal Pressure Technician of Chongqing
University. He obtained a master degree in Public
Administration from Wuhan University of Science and
Technology and his profession is senior engineer. Mr.
Chen has been engaged in the automobile industry in
China since his joining to Guangxi Automobile Group in
1997. He has over 20 years’ of extensive experience in
the production operation, sales, purchasing and supply
chain management of the car assembly and
automotive components industry.

Mr. Liu, aged 53, is currently the Chief Accountant and
Concurrent Chief Financial Officer of Wuling Industrial,
our principal subsidiary. Mr. Liu graduated from China
University of Mining and Technology majoring in
Accounting and holds a master degree in business
administration of Huazhong University of Science and
Technology and his profession is senior accountant. Mr.
Liu has over 20 years’ of extensive experience in cost
management and institutionalization of the financial
system.
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Mr. Zhan, aged 54, is currently the Senior Consultant of
Wuling Industrial, our principal subsidiary. Mr. Zhan
graduated from Department of Mechanical
Manufacturing and Technology of Guangxi University,
and holds a master degree in business administration of
Huazhong University of Science and Technology and his
profession is senior engineer. Mr. Zhan has over 20 years’
of extensive experience in the production management,
quality control and efficiency of the automotive
components industry.

Mr. Luo, aged 50, is currently the Chief Engineer of
Wuling Industrial, our principal subsidiary. Mr. Luo
graduated from Department of welding Technology
and Equipment of Wuhan University of Technology and
his profession is economist. Mr. Luo has over 20 years of
extensive experience in production management,
procurement and logistic in the automotive components
industry.

Mr. Liang, aged 51, is currently the Deputy General
Manager of Wuling Industrial, our principal subsidiary,
and the Party Committee Secretary and General
Manager of the Shandong Branch. Mr. Liang graduated
from Northwestern Polytechnical University with a degree
in Mechanical Engineering for Aircraft Manufacturing
and his profession is senior engineer. Mr. Liang has over
20 years of extensive experience in production
management, planning, quality, and operations in the
automotive components industry.
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Mr. Wei, aged 44, is currently the Deputy General
Manager, the Party Committee Branch Secretary of the
Vehicle Division, and the General Manager of the
Vehicle Division of Wuling Industrial, our principal
subsidiary. Mr. Wei graduated from the Department of
Vehicle and Power Engineering of Henan University of
Science and Technology with a degree in Mechanical
Design, Manufacturing, and Automation (Automobiles)
and his profession is senior engineer. Mr. Wei has
approximately 20 years of extensive experience in
technical engineering, specialized vehicle business, and
operations in the automotive components industry.

Mr. Li, aged 42, is currently the Deputy General Manager
of Wuling Industrial, our principal subsidiary. Mr. Li
graduated from the Department of Engineering
Technology of Southwest University of Agriculture with a
degree in Mechanical Design, Manufacturing, and
Automation and his profession is Engineer. Mr. Li has
approximately 20 years of extensive experience in
production management, body business, motorcycle
business, and chassis business within the automotive
components industry.
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The board of directors (“Board”) of the Company is
pleased to present this corporate governance report in
the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Company recognizes the importance of good
corporate governance to the Company’s healthy
growth and has devoted considerable efforts identifying,
formulating and monitoring corporate governance
practices appropriate to the Company'’s needs.

The corporate governance code (“CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) sets
out the principles of good corporate governance
(“Principles”) and two levels of corporate governance
practices:

a) code provisions (“Code Provisions”) which listed
issuers are expected to comply with and to give
considered reasons for any deviation; and

b) recommended best practices (‘Recommended
Best Practices”) for guidance only, which listed
issuers are encouraged to comply with or give
considered reasons for deviation.

The Company has currently applied the Principles and
reviewed regularly its corporate governance practices
to ensure compliance with the CG Code. During the
financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
confirmed that it has fully complied with all the Code
Provisions and certain Recommended Best Practices as
set out in the CG Code and Corporate Governance
Report contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.
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Being a long and established enterprise in the
automobile industry in China, the Group continues to
grasp the increasing opportunities arising from
“electrification, intelligence, networking and sharing” in
the automobile industry through innovation-driven
development, actively launch new businesses, step up
efforts on key projects, strictly take actions to ensure
production safety in pursuit of a balanced and
sustainable growth for the Group and the shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

When implementing its business strategies and policies,
the Group is committed to the new development
philosophy, continuously raised development
awareness, and followed the general principle of
“seeking progress while maintaining stability, obtaining
certain results while making progress and promoting
high-quality development”, in a bid to achieve the
annual operation targets.

With our established corporate culture of perseverance
for Wuling Group, from top to bottom, the Group adhere
to our corporate spirit of Hard-Working and Self-Reliance
and strive to provide quality goods to every customer
through our united, efficient and harmonious team
efforts.

The objectives and values of our corporate culture are
summarized below:

Corporate Spirit — Hard-Working and Self-Reliance

Corporate Mission — Cultivating Excellent Staff;
Manufacturing Customers’ Favourite Vehicles; and
Building a Responsible and Sustainable Enterprise

Core Values — Wuling Development Foremost; Pursue
Learning and Innovation; Customers First; People-
Oriented; and Teamwork

Behavioural Guidance — Teamwork, High Efficiency,
and Harmony Responsible, Pursue Team Success, Quick
Reaction and Continual Improvement for Creating
Value for Customers
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The Board is responsible for performing the corporate

governance duties.

During the year ended 31

December 2024, the Board, inter alia,

1.

reviewed the policy and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

assessed training and continuous professional
development to Directors and the Management;

reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies
and practices in compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

monitored the compliance with the Company’s
own code of conduct regarding director’s dealings
in the Company’s securities (the “Own Code”) on
term no less exacting than the Model Code
(defined below) under the Listing Rules;

reviewed the compliance with the code provision
of the CG Code and this corporate governance
report; and

co-ordinated with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Committee (“ESG Committee”) to
ensure an effective implementation of appropriate
policies and measures of the environmental, social
and governance (“ESG”) issues of the Group.

The Company fully acknowledges the important role of
its Board in providing effective leadership and direction
to its business, and ensuring transparency and
accountabillity of its operations.
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The overall management of the Company’s business is
currently vested in the Board, which assumes the
responsibility for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
All directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) should
take decisions objectively in the best interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Board takes responsibility for all major decisions of
the Group including the approval of all policy matters,
the Group’s business, strategies directions and financial
performance, setting the Company’s value and
standards; formulating strategies; overseeing corporate
governance; monitoring performance and other
significant financial and operational decisions of the
Group.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability
insurance coverage for all Directors, including company
securities, employment practices, regulatory crisis event,
investigation, litigation, tax liabilities and public relation,
etc, which is reviewed by the Board on a regular basis.

All Directors currently have full and timely access to all
relevant information of the Company, with a view to
ensure that Board procedures and all applicable rules
and regulations in Bermuda and Hong Kong are
followed.

The Company has also established relevant mechanisms
to ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board. The Company has adopted related
procedures which allows the Directors to seek, at the
Group’s expense, independent professional advice
reasonably necessary for discharging their duties as
Directors. The Company Secretary will make necessary
arrangements when the Directors wish to seek such
independent professional advice. The implementation
and effectiveness of these mechanisms has been
reviewed by the Board on an annual basis.
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The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Group are normally delegated to the
senior management of the Group (the “Management”)
and the delegated functions and work tasks have been
formalized and regularized respectively and periodically
reviewed by the Board and the Management. Approval
has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions, related parties transactions,
arrangements and/or contracts entered into by the
Management.

The Board has the full support of the Management to
discharge its responsibilities and duties as required by
the applicable rules and regulation in Bermuda and
Hong Kong.

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee” or “NC”) ensures the
composition of the Board a balance of skills,
experiences, knowledges, qualifications and diversity of
perspective appropriate to the requirements of the
business and development of the Company.

Due to the commitments with respect to his other
management positions of the group companies of E7F
REBEEEE R 2 A (Guangxi Automobile Holdings Limited
("“Guangxi Automobile”)), the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company, Mr. Yang Jianyong (“Mr.
Yang”) resigned as an executive Director with effect
from 31 July 2024. To fill the casual vacancy from the
resignation of Mr. Yang, Ms. Zhu Fengyan (“Ms. Zhu”) has
been appointed an executive Director with effect from
31 July 2024. Further details in relation to Mr. Yang’s
resignation and Ms. Zhu's appointment were disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 31 July 2024.
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Following the aforementioned resignation and
appointment, the current composition of the Board
comprises three executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors
who can effectively exercise independent judgment to
the policies, strategies, business and development of the
Company. The Board will continue to make appropriate
proposals in relation to its composition in due course to
ensure a balanced composition and strong
independent element, as well as to facilitate an
appropriate board diversity policy, which will be subject
to review and discussion by the Board and the
Nomination Committee. Timely announcements with the
background and details of the proposed new
appointments will be made by the Company as and
when appropriate in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Mr. Yuan Zhijun (Chairman)
Mr. Wei Mingfeng
Ms. Zhu Fengyan

(appointed on 31 July 2024)

Mr. Li Zheng

Mr. Ye Xiang
Mr. Wang Yuben
Mr. Xu Jinli

Mr. Yang Jianyong
(resigned on 31 July 2024)

Mr. Yuan Zhijun, Mr. Wei Mingfeng and Ms. Zhu Fengyan,
who were appointed as executive Director respectively
on 4 November 2016, 24 March 2021 and 31 July 2024,
and Mr. Yang Jianyong, who was appointed as
executive Director on 4 November 2016 and resigned on
31 July 2024, were nominated by Guangxi Automobile,
the ultimate controlling Shareholder. All of them are
currently acting as directors and/or senior executives of
Guangxi Automobile or its member group.
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Mr. Li Zheng, who was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 24 August 2022, is the brother-in-law of Ms.
Kwan To Yin, who is the sole director of Dragon Hill
Development Limited, a substantial shareholder of the
Company.

Mr. Xu Jinli, who was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 9 June 2023, has also served as an
external director of Guangxi Automobile, the ultimate
controlling Shareholder since March 2019. His
appointment as the external director of Guangxi
Automobile is subject to the requirements of (EAEEH
BEINFZREREITIE) issued by the State-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the
People’s Government of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region* (EBMtIAEARARBNEEEELEEEHELZER).

Save as abovementioned, the Board members have no
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with each other.

The Board has a balanced composition and strong
independent element. The biographical details of all the
current Directors are set out in the section headed
“DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES”
from pages 48 to 56 in this annual report and are available
on the Company’s website (www.wuling.com.hk), which
demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise, experience
and qualifications of the composition of the Board. A
summary of the gender, age, professional experience,
skills, knowledge, and tenure of service of the current
Directors is also included in the ESG report of the
Company.

The current composition of the Board is stated in the
section headed “CORPORATE INFORMATION" in this
annual report. The list of current Directors identifying their
roles, functions and titles is also disclosed in this
annual report and all corporate communications
issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from
time to time. The Company also maintains on its website
(www.wuling.com.hk) and on the Stock Exchange’s
website (www.hkexnews.hk) an updated list of current
Directors (by category) identifying their role and
function.
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The Company has currently complied with Rules 3.10
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules that (i) the Board includes
three independent non-executive Directors; (ii) one of
the independent non-executive Directors has
appropriate professional qualifications, accounting and
related financial management expertise; and (iii)
number of independent non-executive Directors
represent more than one-third of the Board.

The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each independent non-executive Director of his
independence for the year ended 31 December 2024
pursuant to the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, as
amended from time to time. The Board and the
Nomination Committee has considered and agreed all
independent non-executive Directors are independent
during the year in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, as
amended from time to time.

NC has been set up by the Board and NC has
established formal, considered and transparent policies,
procedures and criteria for the appointment, re-election,
resignation, re-designation, retirement, rotation and/or
removal of the Director(s) in accordance with the
Company’s bye-laws, the Listing Rules and all applicable
laws in Bermuda and Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws and/or the Code
Provisions of the Listing Rules, at each annual general
meeting of the Company not less than one-third of the
Directors (including those appointed for a specific term)
for the time being shall retire from the Board by rotation
provided that each Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years at
the conclusion of annual general meeting of the
Company after he was last elected or re-elected in the
general meeting of the Company (i.e. the term of
appointment of all Directors, including the non-
executive Directors, is effectively three years) and each
Director be appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director by the Board is subject to re-election
by the Shareholders at the next following annual general
meeting of the Company following his appointment.
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At the annual general meeting of the Company held on
14 June 2024 (the “2024 AGM”), Mr. Yuan Zhijun, being
executive Director, and Mr. Wang Yuben, being
independent non-executive Directors, retired from the
Board by rotation. Both of them were then re-elected as
executive Director and independent non-executive
Director respectively by the Shareholders at the 2024
AGM.

Besides, in accordance with the Company’s bye-law 91,
Mr. Xu Jinli, being appointed as an independent non-
executive Director by the Board with the
recommendation from NC with effect from 9 June 2023,
was also retired from the Board at the 2024 AGM, who
was then also re-elected as an independent non-
executive Director by the Shareholders at the 2024 AGM.

In accordance with the Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
and the bye-law 99(B) of the Company, Mr. Wei
Mingfeng, being executive Director and Mr. Ye Xiang,
being independent non-executive Director, will retire
from the Board by rotation at the conclusion of annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on
Thursday, 12 June 2025 (the “2025 AGM”) and Mr. Wei
Mingfeng and Mr. Ye Xiang, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election as Director by respective
separate resolutions to be passed by the Shareholders at
the 2025 AGM.

For independent non-executive Director who has served
the Company for more than nine years, his further
appointment will be subject to a separate resolution to
be approved by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company and the papers to the
Shareholders accompanying the reasons why the Board
believes he is stillindependent and should be re-elected.
Mr. Ye Xiang, who was appointed to the Board on 10
October 2008, has served as an independent non-
executive Director for more than nine years in his further
re-election as Director at the forthcoming 2025 AGM. Mr.
Ye Xiang has made a written annual confirmation of
independence for the year ended 31 December 2024
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, as amended
from time to time.
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Besides, it is also considered that Mr. Ye Xiang has not
engaged in any executive management of the Group.
Alongside with the other independent non-executive
Directors, he contributed to ensuring the interests of the
Company and all the Shareholders. He made objective
decisions and contributed to the Board with his valuable
experiences for promoting the best interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole, and he
demonstrated a firm commitment to his roles. The
Nomination Committee and the Board considered that
the long service of Mr. Ye Xiang with the Company
would not affect his exercise of independent
judgements and is satisfied that Mr. Ye Xiang has the
required character, integrity, experiences and profound
knowledge to continue fulfilling the role of independent
non-executive Director effectively. It is also believed that
Mr. Ye Xiang’'s continued tenure would bring
considerable stability to the Board. Taking into
consideration the above factors, the Nomination
Committee and the Board considered Mr. Ye Xiang to
be independent under the Listing Rules despite the fact
that he has served the Company for more than 9 years.

Meanwhile, in accordance with the Company’s bye-law
91, Ms. Zhu Fengyan, duly appointed as an executive
Director by the Board with the recommendation from
NC to fill the casual vacancy of the resignation of Mr.
Yang Jianyong on 31 July 2024, will also retire from the
Board as Director at the 2025 AGM, who being eligible,
offer herself for re-election as Director by a separate
resolution to be passed by the Shareholders at the 2025
AGM.

The Board and the Nomination Committee have
reviewed and recommended the re-election of Mr. Wei
Mingfeng, Mr. Ye Xiang and Ms. Zhu Fengyan at the
2025 AGM.

Detailed information of Mr. Wei Mingfeng, Mr. Ye Xiang
and Ms. Zhu Fengyan standing for re-election at the
2025 AGM will be stated in the Company’s circular as
per the Listing Rules to be dispatched to Shareholders in
due course.
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The Company has entered into service contracts with all
current non-executive Directors, including non-executive
Director, Mr. Li Zheng and three independent non-
executive Directors namely Messrs. Ye Xiang, Wang
Yuben and Xu Jinli, for a specific term of three years who
are also required to retire from the Board by rotation
and then re-election by the Shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with
the Company’s bye-laws and the Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules. Apart from their appointments as non-
executive Directors, none of them has any form of
service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for
determining the policy for the nomination of Directors,
reviewing the Board composition and diversity of the
Board, developing and formulating the relevant
procedures, processes and criteria for selection and
recommendation of candidates for directorship,
monitoring the re-appointment and succession planning
of the Directors and assessing the independence of
each independent non-executive Director, etc.

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy, which
is more fully described in the section headed
“Nomination Committee” of this report. The board
diversity policy has also posted on the Company’s website
(www.wuling.com.hk). The Nomination Committee has
been delegated by the Board to review and
recommend the size, structure, composition and
diversification of the Board on an annual basis.

The Board adopted the policy for nomination of
Directors (including the nomination procedures and
criteria for selection and recommendation of
candidates for directorship) in accordance with the CG
Code.
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Each newly appointed Director should receive
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the
first occasion of his appointment, so as to ensure that he
has appropriate understanding of the group structure,
Board procedures, business, management, operations,
financial and values of the Company, as well as rules
and regulations under the Company’s bye-laws, the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, the Listing Rules and
relevant applicable regulatory requirements in Bermuda
and Hong Kong.

An induction programme covering the abovementioned
matters was therefore arranged for Ms. Zhu Fengyan, an
executive Director, when she joined the Board in July
2024, that helped her fully aware of her responsibilities
and the obligations in the Company and under the
Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, a half day
training course conducted by a professional firm which
covered the updated Listing Rules and other relevant
applicable regulatory and compliance requirements
was arranged by the Company which were attended
by all Directors and other senior executives of the Group.
Besides, chief financial officer of the Company, who is
also the Company Secretary, and the Management
keeps circulating articles, news and monthly reports,
which are related to the Group’s financial information,
business, economy, market change, development of
the Company as well as the change in rules and
regulations, if any, to Directors from time to time to
update, refresh and strengthen Directors’ knowledge
and skills. Furthermore, all Directors are also encouraged
to attend other relevant training courses at the
Company’s expense. The Company Secretary is
responsible to keep records of training taken by each
Director.
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RER EFNFIICHRERHEI TR

During the year, the record of trainings of the Directors,
on named basis, is set out in the table below:

Attended half day training
course conducted by

A professional firm

which covered

Receiving monthly
reports related to

Reading journals,
articles, news,
materials and

updates related to

updated Listing Rules and the Group’s  business, economy,
other relevant applicable operation market change and
regulatory and performance and change in rules and
compliance requirement development regulations
HEREXEE BIGEEEE - B -
IR RO H3ERIRRE MR AR ERR
BERHN EHREA BWEAKE RAEENEE
REAEEER REXERBR 7 -X=- 78
Directors EERAHARAE HHNAERE MRREHER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yuan Zhijun REERE v v v
Mr. Wei Mingfeng ERE xS v v v
Ms. Zhu Fengyan? KB B A 12 v v v
Mr. Yang Jianyong? s v v v
Non-executive Director  FH{TES
Mr. Li Zheng EqEES v v v
Independent Non- BIUHTES
executive Directors
Mr. Ye Xiang Mk v % v
Mr. Wang Yuben ITRA%E v v v
Mr. Xu Jinli wYPNEE v v v
Notes: Kt et -
1.  Resigned on 31 July 2024. 1. RIZE-WNFLA=+—HEE-
2. Appointed on 31 July 2024. 2. RIZE-_NFELA=+—BEZE-
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Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a
year at approximate quarterly interval for reviewing and
approving financial statements, operating performance
of the core business and budgets of the Group,
monitoring the progress of the various on-going projects,
the overall strategies and policies of the Company. The
Board meets more frequently, as and when required, to
approve transactions of the Company, announcements
and circulars issued by the Company, as well as other
ad hoc projects.

The Board requires Directors to devote sufficient time
and attention to discharge their duties and
responsibilities. During the year ended 31 December
2024, a total number of eight (8) Board meetings
(including four (4) regular meetings), three (3) meetings
of the Audit Committee, two (2) meetings of the
Nomination Committee, two (2) meetings of the
Remuneration Committee and two (2) meetings of ESG
Committee were held by the Company.

During the year, the Board has regularly reviewed the
contributions from each Director and confirmed that
they have spent sufficient time performing their duties
and responsibilities to the Company. The individual
attendance records of each Director at the meetings of
the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the ESG
Committee, as well as the Shareholder’'s meetings
(including the 2024 AGM) held during the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out below:
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Directors’ Attendance Record BEEHFERH

Attendance record of Directors at the meetings in 2024

REB-RFESHEERZOHE

21/8/2024 ESG
SGM NC Committee
t 13
NE=++R
it
Name of Directors BHAE
No. of meeting & X & 1 1 8 3 2 2 2
Executive Directors BTEE
Mr. Yuan Zhijun REERE 171 01 8/8 NA NA 22 2/2
TaA T
Mr. Wei Mingfeng ZREEE 11 01 8/8 NA NA NA NA
TR T TR T
Ms. Zhu Fengyan? KRBT NA 01 5/5 NA NA NA NA
TR T T TEm T
Mr. Yang Jianyong®2 D 01 NA 213 NA NA NA NA
T T T TR T
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Li Zheng FIEEE 171 11 8/8 33 202 22 2/2

Independent Non-executive BIFHTES

Directors
Mr. Ye Xiang A 171 11 8/8 33 2/2 2/2 2/2
Mr. Wang Yuben IMARE 11 11 8/8 33 2/2 2/2 2/2
Mr. Xiu Jinli BINEE il 11 8/8 33 2/2 202 2/2
Notes: Ktat -
1. Two of the meetings was attended by alternate. 1. HAMAesaEFEsHE-
2. Resigned on 31 July 2024. 2. RIZZEZWFLA=+—HEfE-
3. Appointed on 31 July 2024. 3. RIZE-_NFLA=1+—HBHEZE-
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Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each
meeting of the Board and each committee of the Board
(“Committee(s)”) are normally made available to
Directors and Committees’ members in advance.
Notices and Agenda of regular Board meetings are
served to all Directors at least 14 days before the
meetings. Directors may include any of his concerns in
the agenda. For other Board and the Committees
meeting, reasonable notice is generally given to the
Directors and members of each Committee.

Board and Committees papers together with all
appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent
to all Directors and Committees’ members within a
reasonable period of time in advance of the intended
meeting or at least 3 days before each Board meeting
and Committee meeting to keep the Directors and
Committees’ members studied and apprised of the
current developments and/or financial position and/or
other major issues of the Group and enable them to
make informed decisions in the best interest of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole. All Directors
have unrestricted access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary, who did and would ensure that
the Board and Committees receive appropriate and
timely information and that Board and Committees
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations in
respect of the meeting, are being followed. The Board
and each Director and Committees’ member also have
separate and independent access to the Management
for making enquiries and to obtain further information of
the Group when required.

The responsible Management currently attends Board
meetings and each Committee meetings to advise on
and answer the queries of the business developments,
operation performance of the core business, various
ongoing projects, financial and accounting matters,
statutory compliance, corporate governance and other
major aspects of the Company and the Group.
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The responsible Management or the Company Secretary
take and keep minutes of all Board meetings and
Committee meetings as well as all written resolutions.
Draft minutes record in sufficient details the matters
discussed and resolved, and these minutes and written
resolutions are normally circulated to all the Directors
and Committees’ members for comments (if any) and/
or approval within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ and
Committees members’ inspection.

The Management currently provide all Directors with
monthly updated and detailed financial position,
operation performance of the core business and
prospects of the Group and the progress of the various
ongoing projects to enable them closely monitor the
performance and operation of the Company.

The Company’s bye-laws and the Listing Rules contain
provisions require Directors to disclose their interest (if
any) and abstain (if appropriate) from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at Board and/or Committees’
meetings for approving transactions, arrangements and/
or contracts in which such Directors, committees
members or any of their associates have a material
interest in the agreements and/or transactions and
independent non-executive Directors would take lead
when potential conflicts of interest arise. Independent
Board Committee comprising all independent non-
executive Directors would be formed, where
appropriate, to advise the independent Shareholders on
those connected transactions that prior approval by the
independent Shareholders at the special general
meetings of the Company be required.
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The Company observes the principle that there should
be a clear division of duties and responsibilities at the
head of the Company between the running of the
Board and the executive duties and responsibility of the
running of the Company’s business, so as to ensure a
balance of power and authority and to avoid the
concentration of power and responsibilities on one
individual.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the chairman
of the Board was Mr. Yuan Zhijun, whereas, the chief
executive officer of the Company was Mr. Song Wei
respectively, who have no relationship with each other.
The roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company have been
segregated and assumed by them separately such that
Mr. Yuan Zhijun, the chairman of the Board, has
executive responsibilities and provides leadership to the
Board in terms of establishing policies, strategies and
business directions of the Company. He ensures that the
Board works effectively and performs its duties and
responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues
are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. He also
ensures all Directors are properly briefed on issues to be
discussed at Board meetings. He takes primary
responsibility for ensuring that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are established
and followed. He did and would encourage all Directors
to make a full and active contribution to the Board’s
affairs and takes the lead to ensure that the Board acts
in the best interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. Mr. Song Wei, as the chief
executive officer, has been delegated with the
authorities for the overall operations and the executive
responsibilities of the Group and full implementation of
the directions and policies established by the Board.

Subsequent to the reporting period, due to a
management redesignation programme implemented
by our parent company, Mr. Song Wei was redesignated
as a senior executive of another group company of
Guangxi Automobile and resigned as the chief
executive officer of the Company with effect from 18
February 2025. His position was succeeded by Mr. Yang
Jie, our current chief executive officer, whose academic
background and working experiences have been
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disclosed in the section headed “DIRECTORS’ AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES” from pages 48 to
56 in this annual report. Further details in relation to the
change of the chief executive officer of the Company
were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
17 February 2025.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the
chairman of the Board has held one meeting with the
non-executive Directors (including one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive
Directors) without the other executive Directors present.
The chairman of the Board did and would encourage all
the Directors with different views to voice their concerns,
allowed sufficient time for discussion of issues raised and
ensured that Board decisions fairly reflect Board
consensus. The chairman of the Board supported a
culture of openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of the non-executive Directors in
particular and ensuring constructive relations between
executive and non-executive Directors. The chairman of
the Board keeps effective communication channel with
the Shareholders and ensure the Shareholders’ views are
communicated to the Board as a whole.

The other executive Directors of the Company are
delegated with responsibility and duty to oversee and
monitor the operations of specific business areas and to
implement the strategies and policies set by the Board.

The non-executive Directors (including one non-
executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors) keep bringing a wide range of
business and financial expertise, skills, experiences,
knowledge and independent judgment on the issues of
strategies, policies, performance accountability,
operation, management, development, resources, key
appointments, connected transactions and standards
of conduct to the Board of the Company. Through
regular attendance and active participation in meetings
of the Board and Committees and/or general meetings
of the Company, studying monthly reports, taking the
lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of
interests among Directors and serving on Committees,
all non-executive Directors did and would make various
contributions to the effective performance, operation,
direction and development of the Company.
Independent Board Committee comprising all
independent non-executive Directors did and would be
formed, where appropriate, to advise the independent
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Shareholders on those connected transactions
approved and to be approved by the independent
Shareholders at the special general meeting of the
Company. One of the independent non-executive
Directors possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The non-executive Directors
(including three independent non-executive Directors)
are also members of various Committees and devote
sufficient amount of time and attention to the affairs of
the Company.

The Board has established four Committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the ESG Committee for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company'’s affairs.

The members of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee are currently all non-
executive Directors (including one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive
Directors), whereas, the majority members of Nomination
Committee comprises independent non-executive
Directors. The list of the current chairman and members
of each Committee is set out in the section headed
“CORPORATE INFORMATION” in this annual report.

The Committees are currently provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon
reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
Company’s expenses.

The Remuneration Committee, which has been
established in compliance with the Listing Rules, currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors
including Mr. Xu Jinli (Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. Ye Xiang and Mr. Wang Yuben, as well
as non-executive Director, Mr. Li Zheng.

Its terms of reference which has been updated in
compliance with the Listing Rules is currently disclosed in
the websites of the Company (www.wuling.com.hk) and
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and are
available to Shareholders upon request.
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The Remuneration Committee normally meets at least
once a year. The primary objectives of the
Remuneration Committee pursuant to its term of
reference include making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages of all Directors and the
Management with reference to those companies in
similar industries of the Company. The Remuneration
Committee is also responsible for establishing a formal
and transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no
Director or any of his associates be participated in
deciding his own remuneration, which remuneration be
determined by reference to the duties and
responsibilities of Directors, business performance and
profitability of the Group and market conditions. The
Human Resources Department is responsible for the
collection and administration of the human resources
data and making recommendations to the
Remuneration Committee for consideration and
assessment. The Remuneration Committee consults the
chairman of the Board about these recommendations
on remuneration policy and structure as well as the
remuneration packages.

The Remuneration Committee held two (2) meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2024 to, inter alia,

1. review the summary of remuneration package
paid to each Director and senior management of
the Company;

2. study the current remuneration package, policy
and structure of all Directors (including
appointment(s), resignation(s) and retirement(s), if
any, during the year);

3. propose remuneration packages with reference to
the duties and responsibilities of Directors and
senior management, business performance and
profitability of the Group and market conditions,
the corporate objective and goal set by the Board
and a report of salaries paid by the comparable
companies to directors and senior management;

4.  consider the service contract(s) to be entered with
the non-executive Director(s) (including
independent non-executive Director(s)) and/or the
Director(s) (if any); and
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5. review the remuneration policy, procedures and
structure for fixing the remuneration packages.

The attendance records of the meeting of the
Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out under the section of “BOARD
MEETINGS” on page 71.

The Audit Committee, which has been established in
compliance with the Listing Rules, currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Ye Xiang (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Wang
Yuben and Mr. Xu Jinli, as well as non-executive Director,
Mr. Li Zheng. Among them, one independent non-
executive Director possesses the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required by the
Listing Rules. None of the members of the Audit
Committee was a former partner of the Company’s
existing external auditors.

The Audit Committee operates pursuant to its terms of
reference whose main duties include the followings:

a) To review the financial statements and reports of
the Company and consider any significant or
unusual items raised by the responsible staff of
accounting and financial report function,
compliance officer (if any), internal auditor or
external auditors of the Company before
submission to the Board;

b) To review the relationship with the external auditors
of the Company and its independence by
reference to the work performed and services
provided by the external auditors of the Company,
their fees, their firm’s standards and practices and
terms of engagement and make recommendation
to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of external auditors of the Company;
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c)

d)

To review the continuing connected transactions
as disclosed in the annual report and confirm that
those transactions entered into by the Group were
(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group; (i) either on normal commercial terms
or better; and (iii) according to the respective
agreements governing them on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interest of the
Shareholders as a whole; and

To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal
control system and risk management system and
associated procedures, including those relating to
the whistleblowing and anti-corruption policies.

Its terms of reference are currently disclosed in the
websites of the Company (www.wuling.com.hk) and the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and are available
to Shareholders upon request.

The Audit Committee held three (3) meetings during the
year ended 31 December 2024 to, inter alia,

a)

b)

c)

review and approve the draft audited
consolidated financial statement and the draft
unaudited consolidated financial statement
together with and the respective draft result
announcements, including changes in accounting
policies and practices; major judgmental areas;
significant adjustments resulting from the audit (if
any); the going concern assumption; compliance
with accounting and auditing standards and
compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting to the
Board for consideration and approval;

assess the independence of the external auditor of
the Company and the objective and effectiveness
of audit process;

review the relationship with the external auditor
and then recommend the re-appointment of the
external auditor of the Company and recommend
its remuneration;
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d) evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal control and risk
management which covered all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance
together with the associated procedures;

e) review and approve the internal audit programme,
review the internal audit reports and discuss any
significant issues with the Management;

f) review the reports prepared by the compliance
department responsible for the whistieblowing and
anti-corruption policies;

g) study the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staffs of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budget; and

h) review the new and current continuing connected
transactions.

The attendance records of the meetings of AC during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out under the
section of “BOARD MEETINGS” on page 71.

The Nomination Committee, which has been established
in compliance with the Listing Rules, currently comprises
Mr. Yuan zhijun, Chairman of the Board, (Chairman of
the Nomination Committee), three independent non-
executive Directors including Mr. Ye Xiang, Mr. Wang
Yuben and Mr. Xu Jinli, as well as non-executive Director,
Mr. Li Zheng.

Its terms of reference is currently disclosed in the
websites of the Company (www.wuling.com.hk) and the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and are available
to Shareholders upon request.
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The primary objectives of the Nomination Committee
pursuant to its term of reference include reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board, making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board composition, proposing the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors;
reviewing the board diversity with reference to the
board diversity policy of the Company and commenting
the Directors’ rotation from the Board in each annual
general meeting of the Company and office succession
planning for Directors in particular the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer.

The Company has adopted the policy for nomination of
Directors (including the selection criteria, the nomination
procedures and the board diversity policy) in
accordance with the CG Code, amended from time to
time.

Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable
candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to the Shareholders for election as
Directors at general meetings or appoint as Directors to
fill casual vacancies. Nomination Committee may, as it
considers appropriate, nominate a number of
candidates more than the number of the Directors to be
appointed or re-appointed at a general meeting, or the
number of casual vacancies to be filled.

The factors listed below would be used as reference by
the Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of
a proposed candidate:

- reputation for integrity;
- accomplishment, experiences and/or knowledge
in the principal business of the Group, from time to

time;

- commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest; and
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- diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age (18 years old or above), cultural
and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to
be exhaustive and decisive. The NC has the discretion to
nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Upon nomination, proposed candidates will be asked to
submit the necessary personal information, together with
their written consent to be appointed as a Director and
to the public disclosure of their personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or
in relation to their standing for election as a Director. The
Nomination Committee may also request candidates to
provide additional information and documents, if
considered necessary.

The Secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a
meeting of the Nomination Committee, and invite
nominations of candidates from Board members, if any,
for consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to
its meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put
forward candidates who are not nominated by Board
members. For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations for the Board’s
consideration and approval. For proposing candidates
to stand for election at a general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the
Board for its consideration and recommendation.

Currently, the Company maintains a board diversity
policy (“"BDP”) in compliance with the CG Code, which
covers, inter alia, the followings:

(a) any measurable objectives that it has set for
implementing the policy, and progress on
achieving those objectives;

(b) disclose and explain:

(i) how and when gender diversity will be
achieved in respect of the board,;
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(©)

(i) the numerical targets and timelines set for
achieving gender diversity on its board; and

(i) what measures the issuer has adopted to
develop a pipeline of potential successors to
the board to achieve gender diversity.

disclose and explain the gender ratio in the
workforce (including senior management), any
plans or measurable objectives the issuer has set for
achieving gender diversity and any mitigating
factors or circumstances which make achieving
gender diversity across the workforce (including
senior management) more challenging or less
relevant.

The Company has adopted a BDP which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board, the
summary of which are set out below:

a)

b)

c)

With a view to achieving a sustainable and
balanced development, the Company sees
increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable
development;

In designing the Board’s composition, Board
diversity has been considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service; and

All Board appointments be based on meritocracy,
and candidates be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The Company has embraced all aspects of diversity in
the current Board composition and also recognises the
importance and value of gender diversity. The Board
currently has one female Director in the Board since the
appointment of Ms. Zhu Fengyan as an executive
Director on 31 July 2024.
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A summary of the gender ratio in the workforce
(including senior management) of the Group as at 31
December 2024 is disclosed in the ESG report of the
Company. At present, the Group does not set any
targets for achieving gender diversity in the workforce.
Nevertheless, the Group’s human resources policies in
the formulation and implementation of recruitment and
promotion will ensure the proposed candidates or
employees of the Group will be assessed based on the
objective factors such as their experiences and
performance, vocational and academic qualifications,
relevant product knowledge and technical skills,
irrespective of their gender, race and religion, to
facilitate a fair and equal working environment and
opportunities.

The Nomination Committee held two (2) meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2024 to, inter alia,

1. review the duties of Nomination Committee set out
in the terms of reference and the policy for the
nomination of Directors;

2. assess the structure, size and composition of the
Board and analyse the implementation and
effectiveness of the diversity of the Board with
reference to the BDP adopted by the Board;

3. evaluate the performance of the Board with
reference to the board performance report;

4. study the independence of each independent
non-executive Director under the Listing Rules;

5. identify those Directors to be retired from the Board
by rotation in the annual general meeting and
then be re-elected as Director in the same meeting
in accordance with the Company’s bye-laws and
the Listing Rules;

6. propose the maximum number of Directors of the
Board in each of annual general meeting of the
Company;

7. review the service contract(s) entered and to be

entered with the non-executive Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors; and
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8. consider and recommend the appointment of the
new executive Director.

The attendance records of the meeting of the
Nomination Committee during the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out under the section of “BOARD
MEETINGS” on page 71.

The ESG Committee which was established on 30
December 2020, currently comprises three independent
non-executive directors including Mr. Ye Xiang
(chairman of the ESG Committee), Mr. Wang Yuben and
Mr. Xu Jinli, as well as Mr. Yuan Zhijun, chairman of the
Board and Mr. Li Zheng, non-executive Director.

In order to effectively follow the strategies in sustainable
development and to generate long term returns for
stakeholders, the ESG Committee was established for
the principal objectives of monitoring the formulation
and reporting work of the Group’s strategies in relation
to the ESG issues, as well as assessing and defining the
Group’s risks in the aspects of ESG, so as to ensure the
establishment of appropriate and effective ESG risk
management measures and an internal control system.
Through the internal reviewing procedures, the Board,
with the assistance of the ESG Committee regularly
arranges independent assessments and analyses the
effectiveness and comprehensiveness of the related
systems and procedures, so as to enhance the Group’s
ESG governance.

The ESG Committee operates pursuant to its terms of
reference which duties include the followings:

1. To develop and review a Board statement in
relation to ESG issues for Board’s consideration and
approval, including (i) the Board’s oversight role of
ESG issues; (ii) the process used to identify, evaluate
and manage material ESG-related issues; and (iii)
how the Board reviews progress made against ESG
related goals and targets;

2. To provide vision, long term guidance and report to
the Board on the Group-level sustainability goals,
strategies and priorities;
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3. To report to the Board key trends in legislation,
regulation, litigation and public debate as regards
social, environmental and ethical standards of
corporate behavior, and recommend anticipatory
measures and plans for the Company;

4. To assess ESG risks, advise on those of strategic
significance to the Company and provide
anticipatory and mitigation plans;

5. To review material interests of the key stakeholders
of the Company and report their point-of-views on
material issues to the Company in order to secure
correct long term strategic direction;

6. To review and report to the Board the Group’s
sustainability performance vs. declared key
performance indicators and goals, relative to
comparable peers or other benchmarked
companies on a regional and global basis;

7. Toreview and report to the Board the relevance of
sustainability stock/ESG indices, and the
performance of the Group relative to the
requirements of those indices and the desirability of
the Group inclusion in those indices;

8. To review/approve related Group policies and
make recommendations to the Board on any
changes to those partnerships, strategies and
policies;

9. To review and report to the Board on other related
recommendations and submissions for ESG; and

10. To review and advise the Board on the Company’s
public reporting regarding its performance on
sustainability, approving the ESG report before
submitting to the Board for final endorsement.

The attendance records of the meeting of the ESG
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out under the section of “BOARD MEETINGS” on
page 71.

Further details of the matters in relation to the ESG-
related issues of, together with the work done and
related statistics reported by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are reported in the ESG report
of the Company for the year 2024.
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The Company has adopted the Own Code on terms no
less exacting than the Model Code for Securities
Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers, as amended
from time to time, (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and
all the Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the Own Code and the Model Code
throughout the year.

The Company has also established written guidelines on
no less exacting terms than the Model Code (the
“‘Employees Written Guidelines”) and Policy on disclosure
of inside information for securities transactions by
relevant employees of the Company who are likely to
be in possession of unpublished price sensitive
information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees of the Group was noted by
the Company.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of annual and interim
reports, price-sensitive announcements and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
regulatory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024
by the auditors of the Company, KPMG, about their
reporting responsibilities. In preparing the financial
statements, the generally accepted accounting
standards in Hong Kong have been adopted,
appropriate accounting policies have been used and
applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgements and estimates have been made.
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The Board currently receives from the Management
monthly management accounts, explanation and
analysis of the operation performance and
development of the Group together with relevant
information which enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the current financial positions
and the status of the Group.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out in the “INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S
REPORT” on pages 144 to 152 in this annual report.

Apart from the provision of audit services, KPMG, the
Company’s external auditor, also carried out interim
review of the Group’s results and provided other
financial services in compliance with the requirements
under the Listing Rules and other statutory requirements.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, KPMG, the
external auditor of the Company, received the following
remuneration from the Group in connection with the
provision of audit and non-audit services to the Group:

Annual audit services FEEZRS
Interim review services FhHASE B AR 7%
Other services H At fr 75

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate
internal control and risk management system to
safeguard the Shareholder investments and the Group’s
assets, and reviewing the effectiveness of such on an
annual basis with participation of the Audit Committee.
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The Group has maintained a tailored governance
structure with defined lines of responsibility and
appropriate delegation of responsibility and authority to
the Management. The internal control and risk
management systems of the Group are designed to
identify and evaluate the significant risks and to minimize
the risks to which the Group is exposed, and are
desighed to manage rather than eliminate the risks of
failure to achieve business objective, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatements or losses.

The Group which currently engages in the businesses of
the manufacturing and trading of vehicles’ power supply
system products, automotive components and
accessories and commercial vehicles assembly business,
trading of raw materials, and provision of water and
power supply, has established internal control and risk
management systems which are designed and
structured in accordance with its specific business and
operation functions.

The main features of the internal control and risk
management systems of the Group comprise primarily:
(i) the setting of objectives, budgets and targets, subject
to the close monitoring and periodic update and
evaluation by the responsible departments,
Management and the Directors; (ii) the establishment of
regular reporting of financial information supplemented
by other regular and ad hoc reports for review and
appraisal by the Management and the Directors on a
timely manner to ensure the Management and Directors
are supplied with all the requested information to assess
the business performances of the Group in arriving at
appropriate plans and actions; (iii) the delegation of
authority and establishment of clear lines of
accountability to ensure an effective day-to-day
management, administration and operation of the
Group; and (iv) the periodic review and evaluation of
the systems and control procedures to ensure their
appropriateness to the changing business and operation
environment as well as to identify any areas of material
risks and weaknesses for the purpose of proper mitigation
and improvement.
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The Board monitors the Group’s business risks, operating
risk management and internal controls. An internal audit
department is also maintained to carry out the internal
audit functions to ensure proper compliance with the
internal control and risk management system to identify
the potential risks which may arise in the operation and
financial aspects of the Group’s business for
implementation of appropriate measures and policies
on a continuing basis. The scope of review and the audit
plan of the internal audit department for the year ended
31 December 2024, which are formulated based on a
risk assessment approach and focuses on areas with
relatively higher perceived risks, are reviewed and
approved by the Audit Committee in conjunction with
the Management. The internal audit department
executes their functions based on a yearly plan and
prepares reports for their assignments. These reports are
submitted to the Management, the Board and the Audit
Committee for review on a regular basis.

During the year under review, the Board, through the
Audit Committee, has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management system and the internal audit functions of
Group. The review covers all material controls, including
financial reporting system, operational and compliance
controls and risk management system as well as the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experiences
of staffs of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting system, and their training programmes and
budget. The Board and the Audit Committee confirmed
that during the year under review, there were no
significant control failings or weaknesses identified which
might have a material impact on the Company’s
financial performance or operation and the required
procedures and human resources are in place to ensure
adequate internal controls within the Group.

Further details in relation to the risk management and
internal control systems and practices of the Group are
also reported and disclosed in the ESG report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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The Group regards the high standards of ethical and
honest behaviours as the foundation of healthy
development. We strictly comply with the laws and
regulations such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
in Hong Kong the Criminal Law of the People’ s Republic
of China, Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China and Anti-Unfair Competition Law of
the People’s Republic of China. The Group has also
established an internal management system to monitor
the integrity performance and to construct a corporate
culture of integrity, so as to regulate the behaviours of
employees. Employees are required to sign an
undertaking for integrity, anti-corruption, honesty, anti-
fraud and discipline, so that they are alerted to comply
with the national and the Group’s regulations related
to integrity. We have also set up a reporting system
to enable the Group’s commission for discipline
inspection to monitor the reporting through e-mails
(w@wuling.com.cn and whistleblowing@wuling.com.hk),
as well as to set up a report box in the canteen to
encourage employees and third parties to report
corruption to us through different channels. The identity
of the reporting persons will be kept confidential.

The Group has also established management measures
for supervision, management measures for employee
discipline and management measures for submission
and registration of present and gift-money to strictly
manage the behaviours of directors and all employees.
If any violations of the anti-corruption rules are found,
we will act according to the anti-corruption rules and
discipline measures of the Regulation of the Communist
Party of China on Disciplinary Actions, and take actions
or necessary disciplinary actions based on the severity of
the violations. In the meantime, we strive to maintain
integrity in cooperation relationship with our business
partners, and hence we have signed agreements of
integrity with our business partners. Both parties need to
agree to maintain a style of integrity and self-discipline
in business activities, as well as adhere to the principles
of obeying the law, maintaining fairness and integrity, so
as to prevent any behaviours against the law and to
assure the legal rights of both parties. A monitoring
department is also established to conduct integrity
reviews and to visit the business partners to investigate
and understand the implementation of the integrity
work.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the reports prepared
by the compliance department for the year ended 31
December 2024 with no material irregularities being
noted.

Further details in relation to the anti-corruption and
whistle blowing practices and procedures of the Group
are also reported and disclosed in the ESG report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Board has approved and adopted an Inside
Information Disclosure Policy (the “Policy”) for the
Company for monitoring inside information to ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and
Futures Ordinance. The procedures and internal controls
for handling and dissemination of inside information as
set out in the Policy are summarized below:

1. Inside information shall be announced as soon as
reasonably practicable after it becomes known to
the Board and/or is the subject of a decision by the
Board in accordance with the Listing Rules. In cases
where a decision by the Board is pending or in
cases of incomplete negotiations, the Group shall
implement the procedures set out in the Policy to
maintain the confidentiality of information. Until an
announcement is made, the Directors and the
Management should ensure that such information
is kept strictly confidential. If the confidentiality
cannot be maintained, an announcement shall be
made as soon as practicable.

2. Each department shall keep inside information on
transactions confidential. If there is a leakage of
inside information, they shall inform the Directors,
the chief financial officer, who is also the Company
Secretary, immediately so that remedial actions,
including making an inside information
announcement, can be taken at the earliest
opportunity.
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3. The Group’s Finance Department shall keep track
of the Group’s threshold levels for disclosure
pursuant to the size tests and other disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules, so that an
announcement can be made as soon as
practicable.

Inside information is announced promptly through the
websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company (www.wuling.com.hk). The electronic
publication system of the Stock Exchange is the first
channel of dissemination of the Group’s information
before any other channel.

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch
registrar and transfer office, namely, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, whose contact details are stated in the
section headed “CORPORATE INFORMATION” of this
annual report.

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company may deposit a requisition to
convene a special general meeting of the Company
and state the purpose therefore at the Company'’s
registered office in Bermuda at Victoria Place, 5th Floor,
31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda.

The Board welcomes Shareholders for their comments
and/or enquiries about the Company. Shareholders who
wish to send their comments and/or enquiries to the
Board and/or put forward proposal for the Company’s
consideration at the general meetings of the Company
can send their proposal to the Company Secretary at
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong as stated in the section headed “CORPORATE
INFORMATION” of this annual report.

Pursuant to bye-law 89 of the Company, if a Shareholder
wishes to propose a person other than retiring Directors
for election as a Director at a general meeting of the
Company, the Shareholder should deposit a written
notice of nomination which shall be given to the head
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office of the Company at the within the 7-day period
commencing the day after the despatch of the notice
of the meeting (or such other period as may be
determined and announced by the Directors from time
to time). The relevant procedures is posted on the
Company'’s website (www.wuling.com.hk).

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the
Company’s information to the extent such information is
publicly available.

Corporate communication of the Company did and
would be provided to Shareholders in plain language
and in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate
Shareholder’s understanding.

The Company acknowledges the importance of
maintaining effective communication with the
Shareholders and the investment community and has
adopted communications policy with Shareholders and
investors of the Company (the “Communication Policy”)
that provide ready, equal and timely access to
understandable information about the Company. The
Communication Policy is posted on the Company'’s
website (www.wuling.com.hk) and reviewed on a
regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

Each general meeting of the Company provides a
forum for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. To facilitate enforcement of Shareholders’
rights, significant issues, including the election of
Directors, are dealt with under separate resolutions at
general meetings.

During the year, non-executive Director, Mr. Li Zheng
and all of the independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Ye Xiang, Mr. Wang Yuben and Mr. Xu Jinli
had attended the Shareholders’ meetings held by the
Company. Each Director will use his endeavours to
attend all future shareholders’ meetings of the
Company.
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The chairman of the Board did and would arrange for
the chairman and/or member of the Audit Committee
together with the external auditor of the Company be
available to answer questions about the conduct of the
audit, the preparation and content of the auditors’
report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence and others in each annual general
meeting of the Company. Moreover, as for the
connected transactions, the continuing connected
transactions or any other transactions that are subject to
independent Shareholders’ approval, the chairman or a
member of the independent board committee did and
would also be available to answer questions at special
general meetings of the Company.

Most resolutions would be passed by way of poll at each
of the general meeting of the Company. Shareholders
who are unable to attend general meetings of the
Company can appoint proxies to attend and vote at
general meetings of the Company. The chairman of
general meetings of the Company or the Company
Secretary would provide explanation of the detailed
procedures for conducting a poll and then would
answer questions (if any) from the Shareholders
regarding voting by way of poll. The Company would
send notices of the annual general meetings of the
Company to the Shareholders at least 20 clear business
days before each annual general meeting of the
Company and at least 10 clear business days before all
other general meetings of the Company.

The Company’s website (www.wuling.com.hk) contains
important corporate information, annual and interim
reports, announcements and circulars issued by the
Company, as well as the respective terms of reference
of each Committee and policies to enable the
Shareholders and the investor community to have timely
access to updated information about the Group.

The Company continues to enhance communications
and relationships with its investors. Designated senior
management maintains regular dialogue with
institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast
of the Company’s developments. Enquiries from investors
are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.
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Further details in relation to the Company’s
communications with shareholders and investors have
also been reported and disclosed in the ESG report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the
Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company’s affairs. He is reporting to the chairman of the
Board. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company Secretary has complied with the Listing Rules
by taking not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training. All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary to ensure the Board
procedures, and all applicable law, rules and
regulations, are followed.
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The directors of the Company (“Directors”) present their
annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

Discussion and analysis of the business review as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622), including a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of
likely future development in the Group’s business, can
be found in the sections of “CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT”,
“OPERATION REVIEW” and “FINANCIAL REVIEW” set out on
pages 2 to 47 of this annual report. These sections form
part of this Report of the Directors.

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of
the environment and communities in which it operates.
The Group operates its business in compliance with
applicable environmental protection laws and
regulations and has implemented relevant
environmental protection measures in compliance with
the required standards under applicable PRC laws and
regulations. Further details of the Group’s environmental
policies and performance will be disclosed in the
environmental, social and governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 to be
published in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in the sections of
“CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS” and
“CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME” of this annual report
on pages 153 and 154 respectively.
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The Directors recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HKDO.5 cent (2023: HKDO.5 cent) per ordinary
share of the Company (the “Share(s)”) for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (the “Final Dividend”) to the
members of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”), whose
names shall be on the register of members of the
Company on Friday, 27 June 2025, amounting to
approximately HKD16,491,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB15,228,000), subject to the approval
by the Shareholders in the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 12
June 2025 (the “2025 AGM").

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 9 June 2025 to Thursday, 12 June 2025
(both dates inclusive) (the “1st Book Close Period”), for
the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to
attend and vote at the 2025 AGM and during the 1st
Book Close Period no transfer of the Shares will be
effected. In order to qualify for attendance of the 2025
AGM, all completed transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates of the Company must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F., Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 6 June 2025.

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 24 June 2025 to Friday, 27 June 2025 (both
days inclusive) (the “2nd Book Close Period”), for the
purpose of determining the Shareholders’ entittement to
the Final Dividend and during the 2nd Book Close Period
no transfer of the Shares will be effected. In order to
qualify for entitlement to the Final Dividend, all
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates of the Company must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 23 June 2025. Subject to the approval of the
Final Dividend by the Shareholders in the 2025 AGM, the
dividend warrants of the Final Dividend will be
dispatched to the Shareholders on or before 31 July
2025.
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The Directors propose any dividend by the Company in
accordance with the dividend policy of the Company
(“Dividend Policy”) which essential features are
summarized below:

The Dividend Policy sets out the principles and guidelines
of the Company in relation to the distribution of dividend
to the Shareholders.

The objective of the Dividend Policy is to reward the
Shareholders by sharing a portion of profits/earning,
while also ensuring that enough funds are retained for
the future growth and prospects of the Company.

The distribution of any dividend by the Company is
subject to the discretion of the board of the Directors
(the “Board”), which normally did/would take into
account of the following factors:

- The financial results of the Company;

- Interests of the Shareholders;

- General business conditions and strategies;

- The capital requirements of the Group;

- Contractual restrictions on the payment of
dividends by the Company to the Shareholders or
by the subsidiaries to the Company, if any;

- Taxation considerations;

- Possible effects on the creditworthiness of the
Company;

- Statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

- Any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

There is no assurance that any particular dividend
amount, or any dividend at all, will be declared and
paid in the future.
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Any distribution of dividend for a financial year shall be
subject to the approval by the Shareholders.
Shareholders at an annual general meeting of the
Company can approve any distribution of final dividend,
which should not exceed the amount recommended by
the Board.

All of the Shareholders have equal rights to dividend.

Dividend may be distributed in the form of cash and/or
in specie of Shares. Any distribution of Shares, however,
must be approved by the Shareholders.

The Board may from time to time to declare the special,
quarterly and/or interim dividends as appear to the
Board to be justified.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during
the year are set out in the “CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY” of this annual report on pages
157 and 158.

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda (as amended
from time to time), contributed surplus is available for
distribution to the Shareholders. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution
out of contributed surplus, if:

a) the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

b) the realizable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium
accounts.
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A summary of the published results and assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five (5) financial years,
as extracted from the respective audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company is set out below.
This summary does not form part of the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report:

Revenue WA

Profit/(l0ss) before tax BEART/ (BB)

Income tax (expense)/credit s (Bx)/ 8%

Profit/(loss) for the year FRgEf/ (5E)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: M T & A EEEREF/(BE) -
Owner of the Company RAREBA
Non-controlling interests R

Total assets BEE

Total liabilties BafE

Net assets FEE

Net assets attributable to: ATEREEFEE -
Owner of the Company RREEEA
Non-controlling interests FERER

The Group revalued its investment properties at the year
ended on 31 December 2024. The net decrease in fair
value of the investment properties of the Group, which
has been charged directly to consolidated income
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, amounted to RMB15,285,000 (2023: net
decrease of RMB6,144,000).

Details of these and other movements during the year in
the property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and investment properties of the Group are set out in
notes 12, 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report, respectively.
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Details of movements during the year in the share
capital of the Company are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s
listed securities (including treasury shares (as defined
under the Listing Rules)) during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

There are no provisions for the pre-emptive rights under
the Company’s bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro
rata basis to the current Shareholders.

No equity-linked agreement was entered into during the
year ended 31 December 2024, save for the share
options disclosed in the paragraph “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME” disclosed below and others, if any, disclosed in
this annual report.

Details of the bank and other borrowings of the Group
are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and five (5) largest customers taken together
accounted for respectively 48.4% (2023: 49.3%) and
74.2% (2023: 63.2%) of the Group’s total revenue for the
year. The aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group'’s largest supplier and the five (5) largest suppliers
taken together accounted for respectively 11.5% (2023:
24.4%) and 22.0% (2023: 33.3%) of the Group’s total
purchases for the year.
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FABARRTEARBERMAER AT SAIC-GM-Wuling
Automobile Co., Ltd.* (“SGMW"), in which, E /55 £ &
AR AR (EHERE") Guangxi Automobile Holdings
Limited* (“Guangxi Automobile”), the ultimate controlling
Shareholder, holds 5.8% of its registered capital, was the
Group’s largest customer and largest supplier for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors,
their close associates or, so far as the Directors are
aware, any Shareholder who owns more than 5% of the
issued share capital of the Company has any interests in
any of the aforesaid top five (5) customers and/or
suppliers of the Group for the year.

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Mr. Yuan Zhijun (Chairman)
Mr. Wei Mingfeng
Ms. Zhu Fengyan

(appointed on 31 July 2024)

Mr. Li Zheng

Mr. Ye Xiang
Mr. Wang Yuben
Mr. Xu Jinli

Mr. Yang Jianyong
(resigned on 31 July 2024)

The biographical details of the current Directors are set
out on pages 48 to 52 of this annual report.
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Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws and/or the Listing
Rules at each annual general meeting of the Company
not less than one-third of the Directors (including those
appointed for a specific term) for the time being shall
retire from the Board by rotation and each Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years at the conclusion of annual general meeting
of the Company after he was last elected or re-elected
in the general meeting of the Company (i.e. the term of
appointment of all Directors, including the non-
executive Directors, is effectively three years) and each
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director by the Board is subject to re-election
by the Shareholders at the next annual general meeting
of the Company following his appointment.

Besides, for independent non-executive Director who
has served the Company for more than nine years, his
further appointment will be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the Shareholders at the
annual general meeting of the Company and the
papers to the Shareholders accompanying the reasons
why the Board believes he is still independent and
should be re-elected.

In accordance with the Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
and the bye-law 99(B) of the Company, Mr. Wei
Mingfeng, being executive Director and Mr. Ye Xiang,
being independent non-executive Director, will retire
from the Board by rotation at the conclusion of annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on
Thursday, 12 June 2025 (the “2025 AGM”) and Mr. Wei
Mingfeng and Mr. Ye Xiang, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election as Director by respective
separate resolutions to be passed by the Shareholders at
the 2025 AGM.

Besides, in accordance with the Company’s bye-law 91,
Ms. Zhu Fengyan, duly appointed as an executive
Director by the Board with the recommendation from
NC to fill the causal vacancy of the resignation of Mr.
Yang Jianyong on 31 July 2024, will also retire from the
Board as Director at the 2025 AGM, who being eligible,
offer herself for re-election as Director by a separate
resolution to be passed by the Shareholders at the 2025
AGM.
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The above proposed re-elections of all retiring Directors
at the 2025 AGM have been approved by the
Nomination Committee and the Board accordingly.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
has received from each of its independent non-
executive Director, the respective written annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and the Board and the Nomination
Committee has considered and agreed all independent
non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out
in the Listing Rules.

Details of the Directors’ and senior management’s
emolument disclosed on a named basis and/or by
band, respectively, are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

The Company has entered into service contracts with all
of the four non-executive Directors (including three (3)
independent non-executive Directors) for a specific
term of three (3) years who are also required to retire
from the Board by rotation at the annual general
meeting of the Company and then re-election by the
Shareholders in the same meeting at least once every
three years in accordance with the Company'’s bye-laws
and the Listing Rules.

No retiring Director (Mr. Wei Mingfeng, Mr. Ye Xiang and
Ms. Zhu Fengyan) being proposed for re-election at the
2025 AGM has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

No contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year.
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At 31 December 2024, the interests of the Directors and
their associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)), as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), contained in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Mr. Yuan Zhijun Beneficial owner

REBERE BEREAA
Mr. Ye Xiang Beneficial owner
it EREBA
Mr. Wei Mingfeng Beneficial owner
EHBESLE EnEBA
* The percentage has been adjusted (if any) based on the

total number of Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024
(i.e. 3,298,161,332 Shares).

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any other interests or short positions in
any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as at 31
December 2024 which had been entered in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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As at 31 December 2024, the number of outstanding
share options granted by the Company to the Directors
under the Share Option Scheme (defined below) to
subscribe for Shares, as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code is set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report of
Directors.

Apart from the aforesaid, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2024 was the Company, its
subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding
companies a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Save as disclosed under the section headed
“CONNECTED AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” in this Report of the Directors from pages
115 to 139, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, its fellow
subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party or were
parties and in which Director(s), their associates or any
entities connected with a Director or their associates
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or any time during the
year.

The Company has a share option scheme which was
adopted on 10 November 2021 (“Adoption Date”)
(“Share Option Scheme”) whereby the directors of the
Company are authorised, at their discretion, to invite
employees of the Group, including directors of any
company in the Group, but exclusive of any
independent non-executive director, external director
and any shareholder (or beneficial owner) holding 5% or
more of the issued share capital of the Company, or the
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spouse, any parent, child or other associate of such
shareholder (or beneficial owner) to take up options at
nil consideration to subscribe for shares of the Company.
The purposes of the scheme are (i) to recognize and
acknowledge the contributions or potential contributions
made or to be made by the participants to the Group;
(i) to motivate the participants to optimize their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the
Group; (iii) to maintain or attract business relationship
with the participants whose contributions are or may be
beneficial to the growth of the Group; and (iv) to
establish a benefit sharing and risk sharing mechanism
among the shareholders, the Company and the
participants to all together pay more attention to long
term development of the Company.

The terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme
and the granting of share options of the Company
(“Share Options”) under the Share Option Scheme are
disclosed below and are more fully described in the
circular of the Company dated 21 October 2021.

Below is a summary of principal terms and conditions of

the Share Option Scheme:

As above mentioned

As above mentioned

98,944,839 Shares, being 3% of the total number of
Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date.

The maximum of Shares entitled to each participant shall
not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue in
any 12-month period.

From the date of grant of the share options (“Grant
Date”) of the Company (“Share Option(s)”) and lasts for
twenty-four (24) months.
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In respect of each grant, upon satisfaction of conditions
for vesting under the Share Option Scheme, the Share
Options granted shall be vested in batches as follows:

0)

(ii)

(iil)

From the first trading day after the second year
anniversary (24-month) of the Grant Date to the
last trading day within the third-year anniversary
(36-month) of the date of completion of
registration, 30% of the total number of Share
Options granted shall be vested and exercisable;

From the first trading day after the third year
anniversary (36-month) of the Grant Date to the
last trading day within the fourth-year anniversary
(48-month) of the date of completion of
registration, 30% of the total number of Share
Options granted shall be vested and exercisable
(excluding the Share Options which have already
been vested and exercised); and

From the first trading day after the fourth year
anniversary (48-month) of the Grant Date to the
last trading day within the fifth year anniversary
(60-month) of the date of completion of
registration, 40% of the total number of Share
Options granted shall be vested and exercisable
(excluding the Share Options which have already
been vested and exercised).

Not applicable

As determined by the Board in accordance with the
Listing Rules, which shall be at least the higher of:

0)

(ii)

(iil)

the closing price of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheet on the Grant Date;

the average closing price of the Shares on the
Stock Exchange as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the Grant Date; and

the nominal value of the Shares.
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The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a
period of six years commencing from the Adoption Date
and expire on the sixth anniversary of the Adoption
Date.

On 10 December 2021, a total number of 86,425,300
Share Options, representing approximately 2.26% of the
issued share capital of the Company on the Grant Date
were granted to the executive Director, Mr. Wei
Mingfeng and a number of 834 employees of the Group,
in which a number of 83,473,600 Share Options were
subsequently accepted by the grantees and a number
of 2,951,700 Share Options were not accepted and
were deemed to be cancelled. The Share Options were
granted at an exercise price of HK$1.93 per Share, which
was determined with reference to the highest of: (i)
HK$1.93, being the closing price of the Shares on the
Grant Date; and (ii) HK$1.814, being the average closing
price of the Shares on the five (5) trading days prior to
the Grant Date.
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X AENEEEERERAT - —B-EFH

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFTRS

Set out below is a summary of the movements of the TXHEINBE_E_MF+-_A=+—HIt
outstanding Share Options during the year ended 31 FERTEERENESEIHE
December 2024.

Number of Share Options
BREYE
Name and Outstanding Outstanding
category of Exercise Price as at Lapsed/ as at
option holders Date of grant per Share 01/01/2024 Granted Cancelled 31/12/2024
R=B=m# R=F-mF

BRESHA —-A-H g8%%/ +=A=+-H
BERER B A BRTER KTHE B 23 RTE

(Note)

2]
Chief Executive
THES
Mr. Song Wei 10/12/2021 HKD1.93 91,200 - (91,200) -
RE£E “Z--F+ZATR 193%%
Other Employees
Hitfg &
Under continuous contracts  10/12/2021 HKD1.93 22,786,440 - (22,786,440) -
RESESN “Z--5+ZATH 193%n
Total 22,877,640 - (22,786,440) -
st

Note: As of 31 December 2024, all of the Share Options W R=ZFBE-_ME+—_B=+—0H  Bi&#

outstanding under the Share Options were lapsed and HBENRARITERERED MRS
cancelled due to (i) the resignation and/or redesignation 34 - BOHE-_ZT_F +=ZA
of employment of the respective staff during the year S —BIrFERBETRER %5

ended 31 December 2024; or (ii) the Group failed in
meeting the specific performance targets for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

k(i) AEBREEEKRBEEZ T -
F+-RA=1T—HIFENBTEEE

e
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The register of substantial Shareholders maintained by RARIREBFES RIERIIEI6HBREFE 2
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows ERREFEMBR RZZE_WOFE+ A
that, as at 31 December 2024, the following Zt+—8B TIRREEAQRTMNEHER
Shareholders had notified the Company of their relevant RARIEEITRAR 2B @R

interests in the issued share capital of the Company:

Dragon Hill Development Beneficial owner Corporate 356,622,914 10.81%
Limited (“Dragon Hill")
(Note 1)
RILBERBRAR ([ ]) ERBEAA N
(Hit1)
Ms. Kwan To Yin Interest in controlled Corporate 356,622,914 10.81%
(“Ms. Kwan”) corporation (Note 2)
BEELL((AxL]) REGRR R (HiE2) AR
Beneficial owner (Note 3)  Personal 2,472,720 0.08%
ERBEAAHZ3) fEA
Interest held by spouse Family 4,636,350 0.14%
(deceased) (Note 4)
EeEp R (B8 (Mt 4) ik
Sub-total 363,731,984 11.03%
et
Wuling (Hong Kong) Holdings  Beneficial owner Corporate (Note 5) 1,864,698,780 56.54%
Limited (“Wuling HK")
1% (BB BRAERAF ERBEAA RA)(f7E5)
E35:-3)
Wuling Motors (Hong Kong)  Interest in controlled Corporate (Note 5) 1,864,698,780 56.54%
Company Limited corporation
(“Wuling Motors”)
RERE(EB)BRAF REHAR R RA)(H7E5)
(TaZERE])
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Guangxi Automobile Holdings Interest in controlled

Limited* corporation
("Guangxi Automobile”)
ERAEEEERAF REHIAR 2 R
([ERERE])
Notes:

Corporate (Note 5)

nal(HaEs)

Dragon Hill, which is wholly owned by Ms Kwan, who is
also its sole director, is beneficially interested in
356,622,914 Shares.

This represents the same parcel of Shares held by Dragon
Hill as referred in Note 1 above.

This represents the Shares held by Ms. Kwan in person.

This represents the Shares held by the late Mr. Lee Shing,
who was a former executive Director and the spouse of
Ms. Kwan.

The entire issued share capital of Wuling HK is currently
held by Wuling Motors, whereas the entire issued share
capital of Wuling Motors is currently held by Guangxi
Automobile. Accordingly, Wuling Motors and Guangxi
Automobile are deemed to be interested in the Shares in
which Wuling HK is interested under the SFO.

The percentage has been adjusted (if any) based on
the total number of issued Shares as at 31 December

2024 (i.e. 3,298,161,332 Shares).

Other than as disclosed above, as at 31 December
2024, the Company has not been notified of any other
relevant interests and short position in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporation, which had been recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 336 of the

SFO.
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The Company has adopted its own code of conduct
regarding directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities
(the “Own Code”) on terms no less exacting than the
Model Code, The Directors have confirmed they have
complied with the Own Code and the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

Mr. Yuan Zhijun, the chairman of the Board and an
executive Director, is also a director of SGMW. SGMW,
which is a joint venture formed among Shanghai
Automobile Industry (Group) Company Limited, GM
(China) Investment Company Limited and Guangxi
Automobile and is the Group’s largest customer and
largest supplier for the year, is principally engaged in the
manufacturing and trading businesses of motor vehicles
and engines (the “Excluded Business”), which may have
direct or indirect competition to the businesses of the
Group. Although Mr. Yuan is taken to have competing
interests in SGMW by virtue of his common directorships,
he currently fulfills his fiduciary duty in order to ensure
that he acts in the best interest of the Shareholders and
the Company as a whole at all times. Besides, as SGMW
is operated and managed under a publicly listed
company with independent management and
administration, the Board are satisfied that the Group is
capable of carrying its businesses independently of, and
at arm’s length basis from, the Excluded Businesses.

All Directors, including those interested in the Excluded
Business, did and would, as and when required under
the Bye-laws and/or the Listing Rules, disclose to the
Board and then abstain from voting on any resolution of
the Board in respect of any contract, arrangement or
proposal in which he or any of his associates has
material interest.

Save as disclosed above, during the year and up to the
date of this report, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates has interests in a business,
apart from the business of the Group, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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In order to ensure that the business and operation of
Wuling Industrial and/or its associates (the “Wuling
Industrial Group”) Wuling Industrial entered into the
following agreements with Guangxi Automobile and/or
its associates (the “Guangxi Automobile Group”), which
are in effect during the year:

On 29 December 2021, Wuling Industrial (as tenant)
and Guangxi Automobile (as landlord) entered into
a new master tenancy agreement to renew the
tenancy of certain properties under the former
master agreement which was expired on 31
December 2021 (the “2019-2021 Master Tenancy
Agreement”), and to set out a framework of terms
governing the leases of the Revised Additional
Properties (defined below) by Wuling Industrial from
Guangxi Automobile for a term of three years from
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024 and to adopt
new annual caps for the renewed tenancy (the
“2022-2024 Master Tenancy Agreement”). The
Revised Liuzhou Leased Properties (as defined
below) are important for the Wuling Industrial
Group in carrying out its businesses, being the
manufacturing of vehicle’ s power supply systems,
automotive components and accessories,
commercial vehicles assembly and other related
business. The entering into the 2022-2024 Master
Tenancy Agreement would ensure that the business
and operation of the Wuling Industrial Group will
not be affected upon the expiration of the 2019-
2021 Master Tenancy Agreement on 31 December
2021. Under the 2022-2024 Master Tenancy
Agreement, the properties to be leased include (a)
eight parcels of land and 42 buildings, all of which
are located in Liuzhou, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, the PRC and with a total site
area and floor area of approximately 482,082.41
square meters and 149,455.62 square meters
respectively (the “Revised Liuzhou Leased
Properties”) and (b) the other properties including
but not limited to those adjacent to the Revised
Liuzhou Leased Properties owned by Guangxi
Automobile (the “Revised Additional Properties”) to
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cater for possible further business development of
the Wuling Industrial Group, to the extent that the
aggregated annual rentals for the Revised Liuzhou
Leased Properties and the Revised Additional
Properties will not exceed the proposed new
annual caps for each of the three years ending 31
December 2022, 2023 and 2024 which are being
fixed at RMB36,530,000 per annum.

In accordance with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (the “HKFRS”) 16 “Leases”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Group, as the lessee, shall
recognize a lease as a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability in the consolidated statement of
financial position of the Group. As such, the
transactions contemplated under the 2022-2024
Master Tenancy Agreement would be regarded as
an acquisition of asset under the definition of
transaction set out in Rule 14A.24(1) of the Listing
Rules. In this connection, the value of the right-of-
use asset to be recognized under these
transactions is RMB82,352,157, and the
corresponding amount of lease liability to be
recognized shall be the same as the aforesaid
value of the right-of-use asset recognized, of which
the value of the right-of-use asset of RMB82,352,157
will be amortized over the lease period. Details of
2022-2024 Master Tenancy Agreement were
disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated
29 December 2021 and 4 January 2022.

As the highest applicable ratio for the value of the
right-of-use asset in respect of the connected
transaction contemplated under the 2022-2024
Master Agreement exceeded 0.1% but was less
than 5%, the transaction was subject only to the
reporting and announcement requirements but
exempted from circular and the Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the rental
paid by Wuling Industrial Group amounted to
RMB26,994,000, which was within the respective
annual cap under the 2022-2024 Master Tenancy
Agreement.
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On 16 January 2024, the Company, ¥ T Z #H LR
YHE AR A A (Liuzhou Wuling New Energy Motors
Company Limited*) (“Wuling New Energy”), an
associate of the Group and a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of Guangxi Automobile, the existing
shareholders of Wuling New Energy, which apart
from the Company, comprise Guangxi Automobile,
Wuling Industrial and certain investment vehicles
which are beneficially owned by the current
management and staff of Wuling New Energy and
a number of three new independent third parties
(collectively referred as to the “New Investors”)
entered into a capital injection agreement,
pursuant to which, the Company and the New
Investors have agreed to make a capital injection
amounting to an aggregate amount of
RMB390,000,000 into Wuling New Energy by way of
cash (the “Capital Injection”). It was agreed that
the Company would contribute RMB30,000,000 out
of the total amount of the Capital Injection, in
which RMB8,404,068 would be contributed as the
registered capital Wuling New Energy, whereas,
the remaining RMB21,595,932 would be contributed
to the capital reserve of Wuling New Energy.

The consideration to be paid by the Company
under the Capital Injection was determined with
reference to (i) the minimum unit price of
RMB3.5697 per registered capital of Wuling New
Energy as listed by Wuling New Energy on the
website of Beibuwan Equity Exchange Office Co.,
Ld* (kB EERZZHEEKRNHAERRQF) for
invitation of the Capital Injection, details of which
were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 28 September 2023 in relation to the
proposed capital injection in Wuling New Energy
multiplied by (ii) the amount of additional
registered capital to be issued to the Company
under the Capital Injection of RMB8,404,068. The
same minimum unit price per registered capital of
Wuling New Energy is also used by the New
Investors in determining their respective
consideration to be paid under the Capital
Injection.
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Wuling New Energy is an associate of the Group
with an advanced and large-scale production
facility to focus on the research and development,
manufacture and sale of new energy vehicles,
including the highly competitive electric vehicles,
plug-in hybrid new energy vehicles and other new
energy smart travel products. It was considered the
new energy vehicle business is in line with the
national policies relating to environment protection
and the promotion of clean energy in the PRC. In
view of the clean energy policy encouraged in the
PRC and the business and the product line of
Wuling New Energy, the Company is of the view
that Wuling New Energy has a broad market
outlook with good development prospects and its
products will be in great demand in the future.
Based on the above, the Company intended to
contribute capital to Wuling New Energy in order to
maintain its significant influence on Wuling New
Energy and benefit from the development and
growth of new energy vehicles industry in the PRC
by sharing the future profits of Wuling New Energy
in the future. Details of the Capital Injection were
disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated
16 January 2024 and 28 September 2023.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio for the
Capital Injection exceeds 0.1% but is less than 5%,
the Company’s Capital Injection is only subject to
reporting and announcement requirements but is
exempt from circular and the Shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The Company completed its respective portion of
the Capital Injection on 30 January 2024.
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On 16 November 2021, Wuling Industrial, as
borrower, and Guangxi Automobile, as lender,
entered into a new loan agreement to renew the
loan facility granted under the loan agreements
entered into on 23 November 2018 between each
of Wuling Industrial and Liuzhou Wuling Liuji Motors
Company Limited (“Wuling Liuji”), both of them
subsidiaries of the Company, as borrowers, and
Guangxi Automobile, as lender (the “2019-2021
Loan Agreements”) by Guangxi Automobile to
Wuling Industrial Group for the provision of general
working capital for the daily operations of Wuling
Industrial Group (the “Facility”), of which the
maximum limits of the facility granted to Wuling
Industrial are amounting to RMB5,800,000,000,
RMB6,700,000,000 and RMB7,500,000,000
respectively for the three years ending 31
December 2022, 2023 and 2024 (the “2022-2024
Loan Agreement”). The term of the Facility is not
more than six (6) months from the date of each
drawdown, and the drawdown amount to Wuling
Industrial will be secured by the same amount of
bill receivables of the respective borrowing
subsidiary in the Wuling Industrial Group to be
assigned to Guangxi Automobile. The interest rates
to be charged under the Facility will be the lowest
interest rate offered by banks as obtained by
Wuling Industrial Group for similar type of facilities
pledged with bill receivables at the time of
drawdown. The maximum amount of aggregate
interest payment to be made to Guangx
Automobile for the three years ending 31
December 2022, 2023 and 2024 in respect of the
Facility will be RMB123,453,000, RMB142,610,000 and
RMB159,638,000 respectively. The Facility will be
used by Wuling Industrial Group as general working
capital. Details of the 2022-2024 Loan Agreement
were described in the Company’s announcements
dated 16 November 2021 and 12 January 2022 and
the circular dated 21 December 2021.
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As certain of the applicable percentage ratios (as
defined under the Listing Rules) in respect of the
provision of the Facility exceed 5%, the provision of
the Facility, which were secured by the bill
receivables of Wuling Industrial, constituted non-
exempt continuing connected transactions for the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
which was subject to the reporting,
announcement, circular and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements. In this regard,
the Independent Shareholders’ approval for the
2022-2024 Loan Agreement was obtained in the
special general meeting of the Company held on
12 January 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Wuling
Industrial Group did not apply for any Facility from
Guangxi Automobile, nor did it pay any interest in
relation to the Facility.

In connection with the investments by the
Company and Wuling Industrial in Wuling New
Energy took place during the year ended 31
December 2022 (“Capital Increase Exercise”), on
31 March 2022, Wuling Industrial and Wuling New
Energy entered into a framework agreement for a
term of three financial years ending 31 December
2024 (“2022-2024 New Energy Framework
Agreement”) to govern certain continuing
connected transactions, which included (i) NE Sale
Transactions (as defined below); (i) NE Modification
Services (as defined below); (iii)) NE Purchase
(Materials and Parts) Transactions (as defined
below); (iv) NE Purchase (Finished Products)
Transactions (as defined below); and (v) NE
Technical Support Services (as defined below) to
be carried out between the Wuling Industrial Group
and Wuling New Energy in consequence of the
Capital Increase and Restructure. Details of the
2022-2024 New Energy Framework Agreement
were more fully described in the Company’s
announcement dated 31 March 2022 and the
Company’s circular dated 7 June 2022.
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Pursuant to the 2022-2024 New Energy Framework
Agreement, the Wuling Industrial Group has
conditionally agreed to (i) supply certain
automotive components and related accessories
for production and trading purposes (including
various types of power supply system products,
various types of automotive parts and accessories,
raw materials (including steel) and other
consumables and materials) to Wuling New Energy
(the “NE Sale Transactions”); (ii) provide vehicles
modification services (including installation and
assembly of floor board, vehicle lamps and
accessories) to Wuling New Energy (the “NE
Modification Services”); (iii) purchase certain
consumables, raw materials and automotive
components for production and trading purposes
(including various types of automotive parts and
accessories, moulds and toolings, scrap materials,
and accessories) from Wuling New Energy (the “NE
Purchase (Materials and Parts) Transactions”); (iv)
purchase vehicles and related products from
Wuling New Energy for trading purpose (the “NE
Purchase (Finished Products) Transactions”)
(collectively “NE Purchase Transactions”) together
with NE Purchase (Materials and Parts)
Transactions); and (v) acquire technical support
service in relation to the production of vehicles
from Wuling New Energy (the “NE Technical Support
Services”). Accordingly, (i) the proposed annual
caps of the NE Sale Transactions for the three years
ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 were
RMB268,200,000, RMB830,000,000 and
RMB1,148,000,000 respectively; (ii) the proposed
annual caps of the NE Modification Services for the
three years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and
2024 were RMB10,500,000, RMB13,200,000 and
RMB15,200,000 respectively; (iii)) the proposed
annual caps for the NE Purchase (Materials and
Parts) Transactions for the three years ended 31
December 2022, 2023 and 2024 were
RMB44,000,000, RMB88,000,000 and RMB132,000,000
respectively; (iv) the proposed annual caps of the
NE Purchase (Finished Products) Transactions for
the three years ended 31 December 2022, 2023
and 2024 were RMB423,000,000, RMB550,000,000
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and RMB770,000,000 respectively; and (v) the
proposed annual caps of the NE Technical Support
Services for the three years ended 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024 were RMB62,000,000,
RMB23,000,000 and RMB6,900,000 respectively.

Since Wuling Industrial Group has been providing
centralized procurement services to its group
companies, customers, and suppliers, including the
Guangxi Automobile Group, for the supply of raw
materials, mainly steels, and utilities services, which
include water and electricity suppliers, such
centralized procurement function, to cope with the
Group’s strategy to forge its new energy vehicles
business segment under the Capital Increase and
Restructure, can (i) strengthen the business
relationship with Wuling New Energy; (i) facilitate
the procurement process of Wuling New Energy;
and (iii) enhance the efficiency and productivity of
Wuling New Energy through the benefits of bulk
purchases.

In addition, Wuling Industrial Group has been
actively promoting its automotive components
business to the electric vehicles segment and will
serve as the strategic key supplier by supplying
automotive components and parts to Wuling New
Energy for its production of new energy vehicles
following completion of the Capital Increase
Exercise. Under these circumstances, the 2022-2024
New Energy Framework Agreement was being
entered into in setting out the principal terms and
condition of the transactions to be carried out
between the parties. Besides, it is considered the
continuous expansion in the production of electric
vehicles of Wuling New Energy in consequence of
the Capital Increase Exercise would provide
increasing business opportunities to the automotive
components and other industrial services division of
Wuling Industrial Group from which the benefits of
scale operation and further business diversification
would gradually be crystalized and that Wuling
Industrial Group will maintain and enhance its
diversified revenue stream by supplying products
and services to Wuling New Energy by capturing
the business opportunity in new energy vehicles
industry.
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Furthermore, in consideration of the cost and
efficiency in the production and marketing of
certain specialized new energy vehicles, such as
the sanitation vehicle, where the production
processes involved and technical standards
applied are similar on both traditional petrol and
new energy vehicles and the existing sale and
distribution of Wuling Industrial could be effectively
utilized, it is planned that Wuling Industrial will
continue to manufacture the refitted vehicle for
new energy sanitation vehicle following the
completion of the Capital Increase Exercise.
Meanwhile, in consideration of the cost and
efficiency in the marketing of new energy vehicles
to the overseas markets by the Group, where the
existing sale and distribution of Wuling Industrial (the
overseas sale department) could be effectively
utilized, it is also planned that Wuling Industrial will
continue to act as the main marketing arm of the
new energy vehicles for overseas markets of the
Group in the near future.

As the highest of the applicable percentage ratios
(as set out in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) for the
proposed annual caps for each of the NE Sale
Transactions and the NE Purchase Transactions
contemplated under the 2022-2024 New Energy
Framework Agreement, on annual basis, was
higher than 5% and such proposed annual caps
were more than HK$10 million, the NE Sale
Transactions and the NE Purchase Transactions
constituted continuing connected transactions for
the Company and were subject to the reporting,
announcement, annual review and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. In this regard, the
Independent Shareholders’ approval for the NE
Sale Transactions and the NE Purchase Transactions
contemplated under the 2022-2024 New Energy
Framework Agreement, including their respective
annual caps was obtained in the special general
meeting of the Company held on 29 June 2022.
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As the highest of the applicable percentage ratios
for the proposed annual caps for each of the NE
Modification Services and the NE Technical Support
Services contemplated under the 2022-2024 New
Energy Framework Agreement, on annual basis,
was more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the NE
Modification Services and the NE Technical Support
Services constituted continuing connected
transactions which were subject to the
announcement, reporting and annual review
requirements under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules,
but exempted from the Independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Due to the re-scheduling of the planned delivery of
the G050 electric logistic vehicles to the customers
in response to the market situation, the provision of
Technical Support Services for the year ending 31
December 2024 under the 2022-2024 New Energy
Framework Agreement were affected.
Accordingly, on 21 June 2024, Wuling Industrial and
Wuling New Energy entered into a supplemental
agreement to the 2022-2024 New Energy
Supplemental Agreement (the “Supplemental
Agreement”) to revise the Annual Cap for the
Technical Support Services for the year ending 31
December 2024 from the abovementioned
RMB6,900,000 to RMB55,000,000 (the “Revised
Annual Cap”), while the other terms of the 2022-
2024 New Energy Framework Agreement shall
remain unchanged and be in force and effect.
Details of the Supplemental Agreement were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
21 June 2024.

According to Rule 14A.54 of the Listing Rules,
revision of the Annual Cap of the Technical Support
Services is required to be re-complied with the
provisions of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
relation to the Technical Support Services. As the
highest of the relevant percentage ratios relating
to the Revised Annual Cap is more than 0.1% but
less than 5%, the Revised Annual Cap is subject to
the announcement, reporting and annual review
requirements under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules,
but exempt from the Independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Listed below are the approved annual caps under
the 2022-2024 New Energy Framework Agreement
(after taking into account of the revision under the
Supplemental Agreement) for the three years
ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the
respective actual amount of transactions carried
out during the three years ended 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024, which actual amounts were
all within the respective annual caps under the
2022-2024 New Energy Framework Agreement and
as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement.

2022
N

. ——

Actual Annual

Amount Caps
EREE FELR
RMB'000
ARETT ARETT

NE Sale Transactions #EEREER S 211,217 268,200

RMB'000

NE Modification TR IR S R 10,481 10,500
Services

NE Purchase HacRIREE (R 810 44,000
(Materials and REH)RS
Parts) Transactions

NE Purchase HTRCIRIREE (K 389 423,000

(Finished Products) &) %5
Transactions

NE Technical Support  #é8 BRI 7,504 62,000

Services 0

EFEEHE

Xy EE T - —F T =
FRZZFZNFFTZA=+—HIE=1@
FE-_E - —F2 T _UFHERIE
B E T EIEFE LR (K5 RE
EHENEI) RESEREBEEZF
T R R _NFE+
A=+—H1= ﬁﬁfﬁ-ﬁﬁﬁé%ﬂﬁaf‘%
R MEZSEReBEHIRE
T oFE T OFEHRERIESR Tﬁ%%(f\%
WAMEER)ETSENFEE LR

2023 2024

—E-= —E-ME
Actual Annual Actual Annual
Amount Caps Amount Caps
EReE  FELR  ERe¥E FELR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANEETT ARETT | ARETnT ARETrE
122,688 830,000 126,190 1,148,000
9,699 13,200 10,123 15,200
5,003 88,000 38,909 132,000
40,877 550,000 33,203 770,000
1,984 23,000 9,994 55,000
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On 29 July 2022, Wuling Industrial entered into a
consignment framework agreement with ¥/ 7 2
& ¥ E B MR A A (Liuzhou Wuling Real Estate
Limited*) (“Wuling Real Estate”) (“Consignment
Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which Wuling
Industrial may make consignment arrangements
with Wuling Real Estate in relation to the sales of
the scrap materials arisen from the manufacturing
processes which have been processed under the
necessary screening, processing and recycling
procedures which would have monetary value on
sale and/or disposal (“Processed Scrap Materials”),
whereby Wuling Real Estate will provide the
required services, including but not limited to the
collecting, screening, processing, recycling and
storing of the scrap materials arisen from the
manufacturing processes and the subsequent sale
and disposal of the Processed Scrap Materials, by
way of tender and/or other appropriate marketing
processes in accordance with the general industry
practices (“Consignment Services”) and may sell
the Processed Scrap Materials to its own customers,
the sales price of which shall be determined by
Wuling Real Estate at its own discretion and
confirmed by Wuling Industrial. Details of
Consignment Framework Agreement were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
29 July 2022.

According to the Consignment Framework
Agreement, when the consigned Processed Scrap
Materials are sold to its customers by Wuling Real
Estate, Wuling Industrial shall pay Wuling Real Estate
the consignment fee for the provision of
Consignment Services, of which the proposed
annual caps of the value of transactions
contemplated thereunder for the three years
ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 were
RMB9,580,000, RMB18,500,000 and RMB18,500,000
respectively.
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Wuling Industrial is engaged in the manufacturing
of automotive components, vehicles’ power supply
systems and commercial vehicles assembly. It is
commonly known in the automotive industry that
certain industrial scraps and wastes will be
inevitably originated from the manufacturing
processes of the automotive products. Given that,
subject to appropriate procedures of screening,
processing and recycling, these industrial scraps
and wastes would have monetary value, the
management of Wuling Industrial used to perform
these procedures (i.e., by transforming the industrial
scraps and wastes into Processed Scrap Materials)
in house at its own cost, as well as approach
suitable ultimate customers in marketing and selling
the Processed Scrap Materials themselves by way
of tender and/or other appropriate marketing
processes, so as to generate additional revenue for
its manufacturing operation.

As (i) it would be time — consuming for the
management of Wuling Industrial to seek ultimate
customers for the marketing and sale of the
Processed Scrap Materials and to coordinate the
transfer of the Processed Scrap Materials to
ultimate customers; and (i) the management of
Wuling Industrial intended to focus on the main
business including manufacturing and trading of
automotive components, vehicles’ power supply
systems and commercial vehicles assembly, the
management of Wuling Industrial decided to
consign the operation in relation to the sales of the
Processed Scrap Materials to the recyclers.
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In light of the above, Wuling Industrial has
considered Wuling Real Estate, which is engaged in
recycling of productive scrap metal, processing of
recycled resources, sale of recycled resources and
recycling of recycled resources, and one other
recycler independent of the Group in Liuzhou City,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, where
Wuling Industrial is located. After consideration,
Wuling Industrial decided to consign the operation
in relation to the sales of the Processed Scrap
Materials to Wuling Real Estate due to (i) the close
proximity between the Group and Guangxi
Automobile, Wuling Industrial would be able to (a)
obtain a prompt response from Wuling Real Estate
during the provision of the Consignment Services;
and (b) reduce the operation risks of any default in
the respective transactions and achieve economic
benefits through the respective transactions; and
(i) the consignment commission rate charged by
Wuling Real Estate is no less favorable to Wuling
Industrial than that charged by the recycler
independent of the Group.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio (as
defined under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in
relation to the annual caps of the value of
transactions contemplated under the Consignment
Framework Agreement exceeded 0.1% but was
less than 5% on an annual basis, the Consignment
Framework Agreement, including the respective
annual caps were subject to reporting and
announcement requirements but were exempted
from circular and the Independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The actual amount of the transactions under the
Consignment Framework Agreement for the years
ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 were
RMB6,367,000, RMB16,569,000 and RMB7,512,000
respectively, which were all within the respective
annual cap under the Consignment Framework
Agreement.
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Wuling Industrial and Guangxi Automobile entered
into a master agreement on 17 November 2022
(the “2023-2025 Master Agreement”) to govern the
continuing connected transactions (i.e., the Sale
Transactions (as defined below); the Purchase
(Materials and Parts) Transactions (as defined
below), the Utility Supply Transactions (as defined
below), and the IT Service Transactions (as defined
below)) between the Wuling Industrial Group and
the Guangxi Automobile Group for a term of three
years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.
The 2023- 2025 Master Agreement served as a
renewal arrangement for the respective continuing
connected transactions of similar nature carried
out between the Wuling Industrial Group and the
Guangxi Automobile Group in prior years. Details of
the 2023-2025 Master Agreement were disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 17
November 2022 and the Company’s circular dated
22 December 2022.

Pursuant to the 2023-2025 Master Agreement, the
Wuling Industrial Group has conditionally agreed to
(i) supply certain automotive components and
materials for production and trading purposes
(including engines, various types of automotive
parts and accessories, raw materials (including
steel) and other consumables and materials) to the
Guangxi Automobile Group (the “Sale
Transactions”), (i) purchase certain automotive
components and related products for production
and trading purposes (including various types of
automotive parts and accessories, moulds and
tooling, automotive air-conditioner-related parts
and accessories) from the Guangxi Automobile
Group (the “Purchase (Materials and Parts)
Transactions”); (iii) provide water and power supply
services to the Guangxi Automobile Group (the
“Utility Supply Transactions”); and (iv) procure IT
development, operation and maintenance service
from the Guangxi Automobile Group (the “IT
Service Transactions”).
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Accordingly, (i) the proposed annual caps of the Sale
Transactions for the three years ended 31 December
2023, 2024 and 2025 were RMB310,000,000,
RMB325,000,000 and RMB329,000,000 respectively; (ii)
the proposed annual caps of the Purchase (Materials
and Parts) Transactions for the three years ended 31
December 2023, 2024 and 2025 were
RMB182,000,000, RMB182,500,000 and RMB186,300,000
respectively; (i) the proposed annual caps of the
Utility Supply Transactions for the three years ended
31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 were
RMB19,615,000, RMB20,503,000 and RMB21,597,000
respectively; and (iv) the proposed annual caps of
the IT Service Transactions for the three years ended
31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 were
RMB10,000,000, RMB15,000,000 and RMB16,800,000
respectively.

The Wuling Industrial Group has been providing
centralized procurement services to its group
companies, customers and suppliers, such as
supplying raw materials. Such centralized
procurement mechanism strengthens the business
relationships among the entities involved by
enhancing their operation efficiency and
productivity through the benefits of bulk purchases.
In addition, the Wuling Industrial Group will continue
to maintain a diversified revenue stream by
supplying products to the Guangxi Automobile
Group. The Wuling Industrial Group therefore would
maintain the Sale Transactions to the Guangxi
Automobile Group for another three-year term
upon expiry of the existing terms of the relevant
transactions on 31 December 2022.
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The Wuling Industrial Group has been procuring
from the Guangxi Automobile Group certain parts
and components, as well as services, for the
manufacture of products for a number of years. As
a result of such long-term business relationship, the
two groups have been familiar with the standards
and specifications of products and services set by
each other and have been able to respond quickly
in a cost-efficient manner to any new requirements
that the other group may request. In view of the
above, the Wuling Industrial Group considers that it
would be in its interests and benefits to secure a
stable and reliable supply of materials for its
production from the Guangxi Automobile Group
under the 2023-2025 Master Agreement.

The Wuling Industrial Group has been providing
utilities services, such as the provision of water and
electricity, to the Guangxi Automobile Group. Such
centralized procurement mechanism strengthens
the business relationships among the entities
involved by enhancing their operation efficiency
and productivity through the benefits of scale
operation. In addition, the Wuling Industrial Group
will continue to maintain a diversified revenue
stream by providing utility services to the Guangxi
Automobile Group. The Wuling Industrial Group
therefore would maintain the Utility Supply
Transactions for provision of utility services to the
Guangxi Automobile Group for another three-year
term upon expiry of the existing terms of the
relevant transactions on 31 December 2022.

Besides, due to the reorganization of t h e
departments between the Company and Guangxi
Automobile and the intention to cut the
administrative cost of the Company, the staffs
under the IT department of the Company have
been transferred from the Company to Guangxi
Automobile. Given that (i) the Company still
requires IT service, including but not limited to (a)
the maintenance on the network and server; and
(b) the provision of daily maintenance,
optimization, and upgrading services to the
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systems, during its daily operation; and (i) Guangxi
Automobile has been familiar with the IT operation
of the Company and is able to fulfill the IT
requirements raised by the Company in a cost-
effective manner, the Wuling Industrial Group
would request the Guangxi Automobile Group to
provide IT Service Transactions for three years
ending 31 December 2025.

As the highest of the applicable percentage ratios
(as set out in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) for the
proposed annual caps for each of the Sale
Transactions and the Purchase (Materials and
Parts) Transactions contemplated under the 2023-
2025 Master Agreement, on annual basis,
exceeded 5% but was less than 25% and such
proposed annual caps were more than HK$10
million, the Sale Transactions and the Purchase
(Materials and Parts) Transactions constituted
continuing connected transactions of the
Company and were subject to the reporting,
announcement, annual review and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. In this regard, the
Independent Shareholders’ approval for the Sale
Transactions and the Purchase (Materials and
Parts) Transactions contemplated under the 2023-
2025 Master Agreement, including their respective
annual caps was obtained in the special general
meeting of the Company held on 16 January 2023.

As the highest of the applicable percentage ratios
(as set out in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) for the
proposed annual caps for each of the Utility Supply
Transactions and the IT Service Transactions
contemplated under the 2023-2025 Master
Agreement, on annual basis, exceeded 0.1% but
was less than 5%, the Utility Supply Transactions and
the IT Service Transactions constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company which
were subject to the announcement, reporting and
annual review requirements under Rule 14A.76 of
the Listing Rules, but exempted from the
Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Listed below are the approved annual caps under
the 2023-2025 Master Agreement for the three
years ended 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025
and the respective actual amount of transactions
carried out during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2024, which actual amounts were all
within the respective annual caps under the 2023-
2025 Master Agreement.

Sale Transactions HERS 180,577
Purchase (Materials and ~ #%8& (M8 ) 76,916
Parts) Transactions EHIR5
Utility Supply Transactions /X F & & 9,973
X5
IT Service Transactions & BB ARTS 4,683
R5

On 27 June 2023, Wuling Industrial and Wuling New
Energy entered into an agreement in relation to
subcontracting of the after-sale services by Wuling
Industrial to Wuling New Energy for the new energy
vehicles sold by Wuling Industrial during the period
from 1 January 2020 to 30 June 2022, which
vehicles’ warranty period would be expired within
the period from 27 June 2023 (i.e. the date of the
agreement) to 31 December 2025 (the “After-sale
Services Subcontracting Agreement”). Details of
After-sale Services Subcontracting Agreement
were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 27 June 2023.
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Pursuant to the After-sale Services Subcontracting
Agreement, Wuling New Energy will provide after-
sale services for the said new energy vehicles on
behalf of Wuling Industrial, whereas, Wuling
Industrial will pay the expenses included for the
provision of the after-sale services and the
respective subcontracting fees to Wuling New
Energy. In relation to the after-sale service expenses
incurred, Wuling New Energy would make a claim
against the suppliers of the components directly in
the event the expense for the provision of after-sale
service is incurred due to the defects of such
components. Otherwise, Wuling New Energy will
charge Wuling Industrial the expense incurred for
the provision of after-sale services for the New
Energy Vehicles. Meanwhile, Wuling Industrial is
required to pay subcontracting fees to Wuling New
Energy on a monthly basis. Such subcontracting
fees are determined with reference to the expense
incurred for the provision of after-sale service and
charged to Wuling Industrial multiplied by 19% with
reference to the market price.

The proposed annual caps of the value of
transactions contemplated under After-sale
Services Subcontracting Agreement for the three
years ended 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025
were RMB7,500,000, RMB2,500,000 and
RMB1,100,000 respectively.

In response to the market development and the
competition of new energy vehicles, Guangxi
Automobile has reorganized the Group’s new
energy vehicle related assets and businesses which
were transferred to Wuling New Energy. In
consequence of this reorganisation, Wuling New
Energy would focus on the business activities
relating to trading and manufacturing of new
energy vehicles, whereas Wuling Industrial Group
would serve as the strategic key supplier by
supplying automotive components and parts to
Wuling New Energy for its production of new energy
vehicles. Moreover, prior to the abovementioned
reorganisation, Wuling Industrial had sold certain
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number of New Energy Vehicles to the market
which required the after-sale services as part of the
warranty conditions. The subcontracting of the
after-sales services to Wuling Energy will enable
Wuling Industrial to shift the administrative and
supporting work and effort associated with these
warranty services to a capable and reliable service
provider, while Wuling Industrial could focus more
on its core businesses of the manufacturing and
trading of automotive components. In addition,
due to the long-term business relationship between
Wuling Industrial and Wuling New Energy, Wuling
New Energy is familiar with Wuling Industrial’s
standards of new energy vehicle business including
the requirements for the provision of after-sale
services. As such, the entering into the After-sale
Services Subcontracting Agreement will ensure the
provision of quality after-sales services to its
customers.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio (as
defined under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in
relation to the annual caps of the value of
transactions contemplated under the After-sale
Services Subcontracting Agreement exceeded
0.1% but was less than 5% on an annual basis, the
After sale Services Subcontracting Agreement,
including the respective annual caps were subject
to reporting and announcement requirements but
were exempted from circular and the Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The actual amount of the transactions under the
After-sale Services Subcontracting Agreement for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 were
RMB2,007,000 and RMB657,000 respectively, which
were all within the respective annual caps under
the After-sale Services Subcontracting Agreement.
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On 14 June 2024, Wuling Industrial and #0 N 7 2 /5
BRIEFH AR A A (Liuzhou Wuling Automotive
Technology Limited*) (“Wuling Auto Tech”) entered
into a new equipment purchase framework
agreement in relation to the continued transactions
of Equipment Purchase Transactions (defined
below) as governed under the then existing
equipment purchase framework agreement
entered into between Wuling Industrial and Wuling
Auto Tech on 31 May 2021 (the “Previous Equipment
Purchase Framework Agreement”) and to adopt
new respective annual caps for the period from 14
June to 31 December 2024 and the financial year
ending 31 December 2025 (“2024-2025 Equipment
Purchase Framework Agreement”) and to govern
the purchase of equipment, machineries, toolings
and/or other accessories by the Wuling Industrial
Group for the purposes of the installation,
upgrading, modification, repairing and
maintenance of new and existing production
facilities of Wuling Industrial Group (the
“Equipment”) in accordance with the standard
tender process of the Group whether by public
tender or private tender pursuant to the respective
terms of the 2024-2025 Equipment Purchase
Framework Agreement (the “Equipment Purchase
Transactions”). It was expected that Wuling Auto
Tech may participate in bidding for tenders for the
supply of Equipment to be published by the Wuling
Industrial Group during the period from 14 June
2024 to 31 December 2025. It was also considered
that Wuling Auto Tech, being a fellow subsidiary of
Wuling Industrial, would have an advantage with a
familiarity to the standards and specifications of
the product and service requirements set by the
Wuling Industrial Group. In the event Wuling Auto
Tech is awarded a bid for the procurement of
certain Equipment, Wuling Industrial and Wuling
Auto Tech will enter into a specific agreement,
which (i) will set out the terms and conditions
governing the relevant Equipment Purchase
Transactions; and (ii) shall be in compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations (including the
Listing Rules).Details of the 2024-2025 Equipment
Purchase Framework Agreement were disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 14 June
2024.
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The approved annual caps for the EqQuipment
Purchase Transactions as stipulated in the 2024-
2025 Equipment Purchase Framework Agreement
for the period from 14 June to 31 December 2024
and the financial year ending 31 December 2025
were RMB50,000,000 each respectively. As the
highest applicable percentage ratio (as set out in
Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the
annual caps of the Equipment Purchase
Transactions under the 2024-2025 Equipment
Purchase Framework Agreement, on an annual
basis, was more than 0.1% and less than 5%, the
entering into the 2024-2025 Equipment Purchase
Framework Agreement together with the
transactions contemplated thereunder (including
but not limited to the annual caps) constituted
continuing connected transactions which were
subject to the reporting, annual review and
announcement requirements under Rule 14A.76 of
the Listing Rules, but exempted from circular and
the Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The actual amount of the Equipment Purchase
Transactions under the 2024-2025 Equipment
Purchase Framework Agreement for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was RMB23,173,000,
which was within the annual caps under the 2024-
2025 Equipment Purchase Framework Agreement.

Wuling Industrial is a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company which is owned as to 60.9% by the
Company and 39.1% by Guangxi Automobile.
Wuling New Energy is a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of Guangxi Automobile. Wuling Real
Estate is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Guangxi
Automobile. Meanwhile, Guangxi Automobile is the
ultimate controlling Shareholder. Thus Guangxi
Automobile, Wuling New Energy and Wuling Real
Estate are regarded as connected persons of the
Company under Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules
and therefore the transactions contemplated
under the above mentioned agreements constitute
continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Mr. Yuan Zhijun (chairman of the Board), Mr. Wei
Mingfeng and Ms. Zhu Fengyan (appointed on 31
July 2024), present executive Directors, and Mr.
Yang Jianyong (resigned on 31 July 2024), past
executive Director, being also the directors and/or
senior executives of Guangxi Automobile, the
ultimate controlling Shareholder, had disclosed
their interest and then abstained from voting on
the Board resolutions, as applicable, in relation to
all of the above continuing connected
transactions.

The aggregate amounts of the abovementioned
continuing connected transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

Pursuant to rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the
Directors engaged the auditors of the Company to
report on the Group’ s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter of
Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
auditors have issued an unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions as
disclosed by the Group in this report in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules. A copy of
the auditor’s letter will be provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.
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Pursuant to rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the
independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed all the above continuing connected
transactions and confirmed that these transactions
entered into by the Group were:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

(i) either on normal commercial terms or better;
and

(ii) according to the respective agreements
governing the transactions on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed herein, there were no
transactions which need to be disclosed as
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules.

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure
adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations in
particular, those have significant impact on the Group.
The Board review and monitor the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements on a regular basis. Any changes in the
applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the
attention of relevant employees and relevant operation
units from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company has complied with the requirements under
the bye-laws of the Company, the Listing Rules, the SFO
and the Bermuda Companies Act., and all the
applicable laws, as amended from time to time. Details
of the Company’s compliance with the code provisions
set out in the CG Code are provided in the “CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT” from pages 57 to 96 of this
annual report.
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To protect the privacy of its employees and the
Shareholders and to safeguard the interests of its
employees and the Shareholders, the Group has
complied with the requirements of the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance, the Employment Ordinance, the
Minimum Wage Ordinance, and the Ordinances relating
to disability, sex, family status, race discrimination and
occupational safety through established internal policies
and/or procedures during the year.

The Remuneration Committee, which has been
established in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules, for the purpose of, inter alia, reviewing the
remuneration policy and structure and determination of
the annual remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and the senior management of the Company
and other related matters, currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors including Mr. Xu
Jinli (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Ye
Xiang and Mr. Wang Yuben, as well as non-executive
Director, Mr. Li Zheng. Details of the duty and
responsibility of the Remuneration Committee, as well as
its work done during the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT”
from pages 57 to 96 of this annual report.

The Audit Committee, which has been established in
compliance with the Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, for the
purposes of, inter alia, reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group’ s financial reporting system,
risk management system and internal control system,
currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ye Xiang (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Wang Yuben and Mr. Xu Jinli, as well as
non-executive Director, Mr. Li Zheng, in which one of
them possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024 have been reviewed by
the Audit Committee. Details of the duty and
responsibility of the Audit Committee, as well as its work
done during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in the “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” from
pages 57 to 96 of this annual report.
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The Nomination Committee, which has been established
in compliance with the Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules, for
the purpose of, inter alia, reviewing the composition and
effectiveness of the Board functioning, as well as to
assessing or making recommendations on relevant
matters relating to the appointment and/or re-election
of the Directors, currently comprises Mr. Yuan Zhijun,
(chairman of the Board and the Nomination
Committee), three independent non-executive Directors
including Mr. Ye Xiang, Mr. Wang Yuben and Mr. Xu Jinli,
as well as non-executive Director, Mr. Li Zheng. Details of
the duty and responsibility of the Nomination
Committee, as well as its work done during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the
“CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” from pages 57 to 96
of this annual report.

The Environmental, Social and Governance Committee
(“ESG Committee”) was established on 30 December
2020 for the principal objectives of monitoring the
formulation and reporting work of the Group’s strategies
in relation to the environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) issues, as well as assessing and defining the
Group’s risks in the aspects of ESG, so as to ensure the
establishment of appropriate and effective ESG risk
management measures and an internal control system.
Through the internal reviewing procedures, the Board,
with the assistance of the ESG Committee regularly
arranges independent assessments and analyses the
effectiveness and comprehensiveness of the related
systems and procedures, so as to enhance the Group’ s
ESG governance. It currently comprises three
independent non-executive directors including Mr. Ye
Xiang (chairman of the ESG Committee), Mr. Wang
Yuben and Mr. Xu Jinli, as well as Mr. Yuan Zhijun,
chairman of the Board and Mr. Li Zheng, non-executive
Director. Details of the duty and responsibility of the ESG
Committee, as well as its work done during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the
“CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” from pages 57 to 96
of this annual report.
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The respective terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee as amended from time to time, are set out in
the websites of the Company (www.wuling.com.hk) and
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws, the Directors shall
be indemnified against all losses and liabilities which
they may incur in connection with their duties. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately
7,804 employees (2023: 8,700). Total staff costs for the
year ended 31 December 2024 were approximately
RMB705,249,000 (2023: RMB750,952,000) which details
were set out in note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

Salaries of employees and directors are determined with
reference to their duties and responsibilities in the Group
and are maintained at competitive levels and bonus
are granted on a discretionary basis. Other employee
benefits include provident fund, insurance medical
cover, subsidised educational and training programmes
as well as the Share Option Scheme.

Details of the retirement plans and benefits of the Group
are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report. Further details in relation
to the staff matters of the Group are also reported and
disclosed in the ESG report of the Company for the year
2024.
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Subsequent to the reporting period, due to a
management redesignation programme implemented
by Guangxi Automobile, the ultimate holding company
of the Company, Mr. Song Wei, was redesignated as a
senior executive of another group company of Guangxi
Automobile and resigned as the chief executive officer
of the Company with effect from 18 February 2025. His
position was succeeded by Mr. Yang Jie, our current
chief executive officer, whose academic background
and working experiences have been disclosed in the
section headed “DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES” from pages 48 to 56 in this annual report.
Further details in relation to the change of the chief
executive officer of the Company were disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 17 February 2025.

As at the date of this report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained
sufficient public float, being not less than 25% of the
Company'’s total issued share capital as required under
the Listing Rules.

KPMG, being the auditor of the Company, will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment in the
2025 AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2025
AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Yuan Zhijun
Chairman

25 March 2025
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KPMG

To The Shareholders Of WULING MOTORS HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Wuling Motors Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and
its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 153 to 290,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its
consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in Bermuda, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Key audit matters are those matters that,

in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial
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statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 225 to 228 and the accounting

po/ic/es on pages 172 to 173.
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As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of
the property, plant and equipment amounted
to RMB2,510 million.
R-ZBZWFEF+-A=+—RH 9% BELER
AR TEE /& A K %2,510,000,0007T ©
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In view of the continuing decline of segment
revenue and underachieving expected
performance of certain operating segments of
the Group in the past few years, management
considered that impairment indicators of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment existed
at the reporting date.
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The management of the Group performed
impairment assessment by comparing the
carrying amounts and the recoverable amounts
of the property, plant and equipment that has
impairment indicators. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the management of the Group
determined that a further impairment loss of
RMB32,000,000 was required in respect of the
property, plant and equipment.
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Our audit procedures to assess the impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment
included the following:

BRMARFEYE BERREOREFT HHOFR
BEFEEATRE :

= evaluating management’s process and
procedures for the identification of indicators
of potential impairment of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment with
reference to the requirements of prevailing
accounting standardes;

- Z2BHETSHENNER FHEEEBRHFE
EEYE - BMEMRENELEBRETR A ENR
BEER:

= assessing management’s identification of
CGUs and the allocation of assets and
liabilities to these CGUs with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

- Z2RIBITEFENER FTHEEBHERSE
EEME’JE&EULA&,&F%DEE THRELR S ELH

2B

e obtaining and inspecting the valuation
reports prepared by the external valuer
engaged by management;

- ERUHBREHEREEZNIIDEERMREROM
BWwE:
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The estimate of recoverable amounts was based
on the value in use of cash-generating units
("CGUs”) to which the property, plant and
equipment belong. The management of the
Group engaged an external valuer to carry out
the impairment assessment which adopted
discounted cash flow forecasts to estimate the
value in use of CGUs.
AREEBEOEARERNYE BERREMED
ReELBUNFEFREE ESBEEEZRING
HEMETREN G ZAERATRERER
RIRMEFT IR EEEANEREE-

Key assumptions used in the discounted cash
flow forecasts included discount rates, sales
growth rates and gross profit margins.
FHRReRERATF BN FERRBERR X
HERREMERNE -

We identified impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment as a key audit
matter because the determination of the
recoverable amount of each CGU involves
significant management judgement which is
inherently uncertain and could be subject to
management bias.
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evaluating the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the external valuer;
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involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in evaluating the methodology used
by external valuer in the preparation of the
discounted cash flow forecast for each CGU
with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards and
assessing whether the discount rates applied
in the discounted cash flow forecasts were
within the range adopted by other
comparable companies in the same industry;
EFEEMcABEEZERHBEM2REBITEE
HRIWER  FEIBEEMERTEARSES
BUARFTRASRSBAMEAN A WAT
A RREREFAPRANTREEIENRA
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challenging the key assumptions adopted in
the discounted cash flow forecasts, in
particular with respect to the sales growth
rates and gross profit margins, by comparing
these with historical performance, budget,
future business plan of the Group and our
understanding of the Group’s business and
available market data;
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performing a retrospective review by
comparing prior year cash flows forecasts
with the actual results in the current year and
making enquiries of management as to the
reasons for any significant variations identified
to assess whether this is any indication of
management bias;
HRTFENREREBAERNFEENERXE
EITHE - ETEB R S mE R ER#AEMA
BEREENRE U EBASEERERE
BEMARR:
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= evaluating the sensitivity analyses of key
assumptions prepared by the external valuer
engaged by management and considering
the resulting impact on the conclusion reached
by management and whether there were any
indicators of management bias; and

- FHEEEEZERISBMENEEEZ/KRR %ﬁm
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e assessing the reasonableness of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment
with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards.

- Z2RBITGHEANER FhEFEaMBRESD
BRYE BEMREBREN HHNRERESAE -

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 241 to 242 and the accounting

policies on pages 180 to 188.
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At 31 December 2024, the Group had a significant
balance of gross trade receivables which
amounted to RMB2,154 million, representing
approximately 16% of the Group’s total assets at
that date, against which an allowance of RMB96
million for expected credit losses (“ECLs") was
recorded.
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Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance
for trade receivables included the following:

BT EENRREERENETRRFRIENATS
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= obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls relating
to credit control, debt collection and
estimating the credit loss allowance;

- BEETEREEZRH BURERRMAEFTEES
BREARN T EANMIEF NIRRT Bt EE
P&

= evaluating the Group’s policy for estimating
the credit loss allowance with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

- 2BERITY nﬁwmgivﬁﬁﬁﬁsﬁ?ﬁf
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The Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to the lifetime ECL of the trade
receivables. The Group estimates the ECL by
using a provision matrix which is based on the
Group'’s historical default rates, and takes into
consideration of current economic conditions
and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. In addition, trade
receivables from related parties and credit-
impaired trade receivables are assessed for ECL
individually.
EEEREEREREF2HRHEEBENTSHE
AEEREG - EEERAEBERHEREES
BETHFT ZBBEEEENESENELELNE
I ZEEMSERAARBERHERNSBEHK AR
L MmAIEFHAIE B A SRR AT LB - thoh
18 1) 57 & L2 88 22 77 BR SR A0S B R 1B B LKL BR 3K

We identified the loss allowance for trade
receivables as a key audit matter because
determining the level of loss allowance is
inherently subjective which requires significant
management judgement.

B ERKERR 2 BEEEI AARETFE R
ARECEEBEKRKIAFAEFEE FTEEE
& 1 H B A IR
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assessing whether items were correctly
categorised in the trade receivables ageing
report by comparing individual items therein
with sales invoices and other relevant
underlying documentation, on a sample
basis; and

VAT A5 77 30 FE W BR SR BR i ¥ 5 9 (B I 28 B BR
HERZERAMBBENXAETHLE  UFTEZF
HERBE®RSE: &

assessing the reasonableness of management’s
estimates of loss allowance for trade
receivables, including those from related
parties and credit-impaired debtors, by
examining the information used by
management to derive such estimates,
including testing the accuracy of the
historical default data and evaluating
whether the historical default rates are
appropriately adjusted based on current
economic conditions and forward-looking
information, the financial condition of the
related parties and credit-impaired debtors,
and relevant information obtained from other
audit procedures.
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ETREFEGSNEEEMELEERE-



The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group'’s financial reporting process.

IEREEERRARAT « S -NFFH

EEFUHEHMERAR - HMEEEETH
REBRANZEEL EFREHFEMER
R BB IR ZBED S o

BASSREMBHRRNBEIL MREEME
B BATTHZEFEMEERRTMERA
HY S8 35 A o

BEBRMHREMBRERNET BHMANE
TREERMES FELHBERS ZEEME
ERBEGEMBBRIBMAERIERS
FRTBABAFEEAEBREUTFEE
REERERA BB

ERBASHTOIHE NREMARSEHM
EEREERERRL AMFTEREZF
BE-mEhm RFPREEMERSE -

EXZFRERBETESMASEME (F
B EER) REE (RRIEH) BB
BERHBEEMP NSV BHRE L
HERRREEAVBRROBREB I FER
REGF B R M B B B A B RRA T FHH
NEBEFEE -

EREBEGEEMBRRE EFRANGEE
BiSEKLENEN YEBERIBEN T HER
FERLEERNER UNERABELER
SHEM RIEZEEREEEFTRAE
g2 P ELMERNERTR

149



WULING MOTORS HOLDINGS LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of
internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

- Plan and perform the group audit to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
units within the group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review
of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Liu Hin Pan.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8" Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

25 March 2025

152

BMEREZZEQRIEZH HARME
NEeEMBELMEMNERERERER TH
B BEE AR R R AT ERME
MHERFREREMEMER ARSIHERE
B MR BB P ERENEV T B S B #BFa e ©

ftEBEZZ B BBNFRT  HAIHEEW
LERH ARG EMBERENBAR/ER
B T 78 A A 52 2| AT = IR o AP E R BB S
RIEMUE LSRR BRIBABIER TR
KEELEERE FERKFRNBERT MR
FEBRERMRET BARFTREKNE
HERREBELENRR M LIVRE T E
EREPBBZER-

HEARBIZBMBENETREERAR
R o

EFRE B

HESIAD
BABHRIR
T 381055
KFANE8E

—E-RF=A-+HH



Revenue
Goods and services
Rental

Total revenue
Cost of sales and services

Gross profit

Other income

Other gains and losses

Impairment losses under expected
credit loss model, net of reversals
of impairment losses

Selling and distribution costs

General and administrative
expenses

Research and development
expenses

Net gain on disposal of investment
in an associate

Net gain on disposal of investment
in a joint venture

Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

Finance costs

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total

Earnings per share
Basic

Diluted

The notes on pages 161 to 290 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company are set out in note 10.
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5(a)
5(b)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE—ZT-_WF+—_A=+—HIFE

10,448,024
35,909

10,483,933
(9,446,934)

1,036,999
214,407
5,095

(28,878)
(139,653)

(498,263)

(306,556)

(82,066)
(3,116)
(120,508)

77,461
(8,005)

69,456

23,477
45,979

69,456

RMBO.71 cent
ARE0.715
RMBO.71 cent
ARKE0.715

16122908 Z EBAR AN IEHREK 2 &0 ©
BN AR A IRz I SR B i
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE T -—WF+—_A=+—HIFEF

Profit for the year FREF 69,456
Other comprehensive income (expense) FREMEEWE (BI)

for the year (after tax) (Big)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit # T &EHEFHEEERZ

or loss: HH :
Revaluation surplus resulting from the EME - BB &R R

change from property, plant and CREEEZEE RKRE

equipment and right-of-use assets to MEEERNEHBER

investment properties 3,608
Items that may be reclassified HIZA[ e EF B E B

subsequently to profit or loss: ZIEA -
Exchange differences on translation of & r B A FE LA IS & %

operations outside Mainland China REAZIEH 58 3,071
Fair value gain on bills receivable BATEFAREMEERK

at fair value through other @ (R AT EFAEM

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) FEE]) W EKERE

Z AP EWER 4,323

Other comprehensive income FRHEMEZEKR

for the year 11,002
Total comprehensive income FRE2AEKZEE

for the year 80,458
Total comprehensive income AR EFEGEFREME

for the year attributable to: W is 4858

Owners of the Company PIN/NECTEZ SN 31,378

Non-controlling interests FEPERR 49,080

Total e 80,458

The notes on pages 161 to 290 form part of these 16152908 2 M s B AN 5= < B °

financial statements.
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NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Investment properties

Interests in associates

Interests in joint ventures

Deposits paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment

Equity instrument at FVTOCI

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade and other receivables

Bills receivables and bills receivable
at FVTOCI

Prepaid tax
Pledged bank deposits
Bank balances and cash

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Lease liabilities

Provision for warranty

Bank borrowings

Advances drawn on bills
receivable discounted with
recourse

NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

FRBEE
e
ERREE

BEE

BREME

N = YNCIP&: £

N N=—YUNCIPA: £
WM - s MR
BEffiEE

B EFAEMER

Yees oM s T B
RBEE
A

TR ST B R % LA FE M SRR
FEW R MR A HE
AR E
Pl L eSS

BNTRIER
EERRITEK
RITHEBR LIRS

RBAE

FEASF AR SR B A FE A 5K IR
BHARE

HERE

RERE

RITIEE

f B R CREIR B
SEFTIRIE R

BERBEE (8F)
REERRBAME

HER

12
13

14
15
16

17

18
19

20

22
22

23
24
25
26
27

27

EEBEEZERARAT  « —F-NFFR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2024
RZFZmFE+=A=+—H

2,806,820
224,074
95,552
436,351
770,360
120,440

5,824

42,765
4,502,186

806,403
2,926,814

3,669,416
163
528,997
2,616,795

10,548,588

6,169,357
143,368
57,183
105,481
1,276,201

3,274,069
11,025,659

(477,071)

4,025,115
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AT 31 DECEMBER 2024
RZFEZmF+=—A=+—H

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERS
Contract liabilities EHEE 24 6,540
Lease liabilities HEaE 25 103
Bank borrowings RITEE 27 1,034,598
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE 28 33,167
1,074,408
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,950,707
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E
Share capital %N 29 11,782
Reserves 1 1,923,076
Equity attributable to owners of NARHEE AEEER
the Company 1,934,858
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A = 1,015,849
2,950,707

The consolidated financial statements on pages 153 to HNEIG3FE200E ViR BMEREN T
290 were approved and authorized for issue by the —HE=AZtThBEEEeIEREET
board of directors on 25 March 2025 and are signed on WA IIATRERESE:

its behalf by:

Mr. Yuan Zhijun Mr. Wei Mingfeng
REERE ERRSTE
CHAIRMAN EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

FE HITEF

The notes on page 161 to 290 form part of these F1615290 8 i s B AN 5= < B 7 °
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FaESEER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
E _ENFE+ - A =+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRAREARE

Debt Equity

instruments  instruments  Share-based  Property Non-
Share Share  Exchange Conibuted ~ Statutory ~ Capital  atFVIOCI  atFVIOCI compensaton revaluation  Retained controling
capital  premium reserve surplus reseve  Reserve reseve  Reserve fesene reserve profits  Sub-fotal interests

BATE  BATE

HARME  RARR MRG

REMEN 2EMRN  AERN LS
k% BhiEE HeRE KGR AEIAGE EXTARRE EMME  EGEE  REX gt RS
RMBOOO RMBUOO RMBOOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBOOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOO  RMBOOO  RMBUOO  RMBUOD

(note 29)

At 1 January 2023 R=%==%-5-A 10782 1,078,500 1428 BT63 438728 18505 (19343) (0017 9732 4% 30600 1913112 966769 2879881

Profitfor the year R - - - - - - - - - - 2411 241 45979 69,456
Other comprehensve ~ £RE 2 ENE

income for the year - - 30m - - - 2633 - - 2197 - 7,901 310 11,002
Total comprehensve  FRZEAEEE

income for the year - - 30 - - - 2633 - - 2197 14 31378 49,080 80,458
Trandler 4% - - - - um - - - - - ae . . -

Dividends approvedin ~ MEIEEHERRE
respectof the previous (10

yeai nole 10) - - - - - - - - - - ey e - e
Equity setfed share-based  EmEE N AZE

fransactions 35 - - - - - - - - (456) - - (456) - (456)
Disposal of eqity HERATEF AL

nstument of FVTOCI PEMEHESTE - - - - - - - - - (o) - - =
Subtotal i = = = - am = - () - A @8 - e
At1January 2024 W-B-mE-A-B 11,782 1,078,500 4499 35,763 460545 18,505 (16,710) - 9276 29635 303063 1934858 1015849 2950707
Proftforthe year Emiah . . - . - - . - - B 1AM W [/ VL
Othercomprehensie ~ £AEH2E

(expense)incomefor (i)

the year - - (1,341) - - - 8318 - - 4,929 - 11,906 8,501 20407
Total comprehensve  FRZENEHE

income for the year - - (1,34) - - - 8318 - - 4929 50,621 62,527 69,125 131,652
Trandler &8 - . . - um . - - . - . . -
Dividends approvedin ~ HEMHEFENRE

respectof the previows  (£10)

year (note 10) - - - - - - - - - - (s (15080 - (1508)
Equiy setted share-based  EREE A AER

fransactions 285 - - - - - - - - (92m) - - (9.276) - (9.276)
Diidend recognizedas ~ BERANEFHER

dtibution to ERRE

non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - - - - (131 (1731)
Others it - - - - - % - - - - - 35 - k<3
subtota e . - - - s %5 . - ) -3 @) W) (eL309)
At31December204  R=E=Rf

+zA=t-A 11,782 1,078,500 3,158 35,763 471,806 18,840 (8392) - - 34,564 321312 1973393 1,067,657 3,041,050
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE T -—WF+—_A=+—HIFEF

(0]

(i)

(iii)

notes:

The Group's (as defined in note 1) contributed surplus
represents (a) the difference between the nominal value
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a
group reorganization on 30 October 1992, over the
nominal value of the Company’s (as defined in note 1)
shares issued in exchange therefore; (b) the transfer of
the credit arising from a capital reduction on 19 June
2006; and (c) the transfer of the share premium and the
absorption of accumulated losses on 27 May 2011.

According to the relevant requirement in the
memorandum of association of the subsidiaries
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
a portion of their profits after taxation, as determined by
the board of directors of those subsidiaries, is transferred
to the PRC general reserve, with certain PRC subsidiaries
may stop such transfer when the reserve balance reaches
50% of their registered capital. The transfer to the reserve
must be made before the distribution of a dividend to
equity owners. The general reserve fund can be used to
offset the losses of the previous yeatrs, if any.

The capital reserve represents the deemed capital
contribution arising on acquisition of a subsidiary, Liuzhou
Wuling Motors Industrial Company Limited (“Wuling
Industrial”), from Guangxi Automobile Holdings Limited
(“Guangxi Automobile”), which is the ultimate holding
company of the Company by virtue of its 100% equity
interest in Wuling (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited (“Wuling
HK”).

The notes on pages 161 to 290 form part of these
financial statements.
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Write-down of inventories, net
Bank interest income
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets
Foreign exchange loss, net
Finance costs
Fair value change of financial assets
at FVTPL
Fair value change of investment
properties
Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Equity settled share based
payment credit
Impairment losses under expected
credit loss model, net
Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment
Income from the transfer of patents
Net gain on disposal of investment
in an associate
Net gain on disposal of investment
in a joint venture
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital

Decrease in inventories

Decrease (increase) in trade and
other receivables

Increase in bills receivables and bills
receivable at FVTOCI (hote)

Decrease in trade and other payables

Decrease in contract liabilities
(Decrease) increase in provision
for warranty

Cash used in operations
Income tax paid

REEH

B Bt ATt

B NIBIB L HE
FEMR%EE
SRITH B A

ME - BB RREAR
ERERENE
SNERIR - FE
BEKA
BRAFEFABGZZ 2R
BEZAFHEED
REMEZ A VEE

REVE  BEREEZ
EiE
PARE 5 A DARR D AT
ki
RHEEBERERT 28
BEE 38
mE - BB K& ERE
i
BERINAMBERA
HE— S A RS
Yran 388
HE—FaE R FER
L6y
iy lfNC P 3
BIEaERRZEE
LEESRYN LERSE
mE
FERD
YR % B L P M SR IR
mA ()
BREEREAFEFAR
R KA Z BRREEE
in(Hat)
FE A R 50N B < SRR
9\
ANaEHD
RERE CRA) E

REFMARE
BRFEHR

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES B % AE L FE

IEREEERRKRARAT « T -WFFK

18
5a)

12,13
5(b)
6(a)
5(b)
5(b)
5(b)
6(b)

36(b)

5(b)
5(a)

15
16

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T -_F+—_A=+—HIFEF

77,461

5,056
(105,784)

410,198
1,087
120,508
(2,819)
6,144
883
(456)

28,878

(10,255)

82,066
3,116

616,080
438,766

(476,020)

(6,084,698)

(487,102)
(5,511)

18,329

(5,980,156)
(2,954)

(5,983,110)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE T -—WF+—_A=+—HIFEF

INVESTING ACTIVITIES REE

Placement of pledged bank deposits ~ 7FME EHFRITER

Purchase of property, plant and WY - BB KRB
equipment

Development expenditure GRS

Disposal of an equity instrument at HERAFEFAHMEE
FVTOCI Wz ERTA

Disposal of an associate HE—REE QT

Investments in an associate REEENR)ZIRE

Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits {22 E R {T7EH
Proceeds from the transfer of patents  E:E ZF 1S 08

Proceeds from disposal of property, HENE « BFERRERE
plant and equipment 1A

Proceeds from government grant BT B P15 K08

Dividend received from a joint venture ~ H—E4& 22 A WAL B

Dividend received from an associate B — 2 A 7 UELRR B

Bank interest income received B UWERTTHI B U A

Investments in a joint venture R—EEERAIZIRE

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZBFARETHE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES METH

Advances drawn on bills U & P fR BN 3K
receivable (note) (Kizt)

Bank borrowings raised MERTER

Repayment of bank borrowings BRFITEE

Interest paid ERHE

Dividend paid ERRE

Dividend paid to non-controliing BRI RERR R
interests

Payment of lease liabilities HEBENK

NET CASH GENERATED FROM METHEEZRSTHE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRBRESEEBEMT
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—B—HzReRELE
AT 1 JANUARY

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE SMEERSE 2 FE  FHE
CHANGES, NET

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 R+-A=+—-HZEE&RK

(1,399,826)

(263,304)
(34,610)

1,942

1,478,905
10,258

28,627
633
3,500
1,800
105,784
(25,000)

(91,291)

6,750,188
1,567,308
(1,488,867)
(62,386)

(9,176)

(40,95%)

6,716,611

#®
642,210

BEE
1,974,617

(32)
e

DECEMBER, represented by bank ZEER B RTEBRRAS

balances and cash

note: An increase in bills receivables and bills receivable at
FVTOCI of RMB6,012,524,000 (2023: RMB6,084,698,000)
and advance drawn on bills receivable of
RMB5,888,770,000 (2023: RMB6,750,188,000) were
included in operating activities and financing activities,
respectively upon discounting these bills receivables.

The notes on pages 161 to 290 form part of these
financial statements.
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Wuling Motors Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
a public limited company incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its immediate parent is Wuling HK and
its ultimate parent is Guangxi Automobile.

The Company acts as an investment holding
company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are engaged in the
manufacturing and trading of vehicles’ power
supply systems, automotive components and
accessories and commercial vehicles assembly,
trading of steels, and provision of water and power
supply. The details of its principal subsidiaries are
disclosed in note 39.

The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the
functional currency of the Company.

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Material accounting policies
adopted by the Group are set out below.
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The HKICPA has issued certain amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.

In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity and going concern of the Group in
light of the Group'’s financial situation where
current assets and current liabilities are
basically balanced (2023: current liabilities
exceeded current assets by approximately
RMB477 million). The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that, after due and careful
enquiry taking into account the continuous
financial support provided from Guangxi
Automobile Holdings Limited (“Guangxi
Automobile”), which is a state-controlled
company established in the PRC with the
State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the People’s
Government of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region (Bl RE AR ARBNEEEESEE
&1 Z B®) and having a long standing
reputation in the automobile industry in the
PRC, and the financial resources available to
the Group, including internally generated
funds, the available banking facilities for
issuance of bills payable and bank borrowings
and assets available to pledge for obtaining
further banking facilities, the Group has, in the
absence of unforeseeable circumstances,
sufficient financial resources to meet its
financial obligations as they fall due for the
foreseeable future.
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Accordingly, the directors of the Company
believe that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis without including any
adjustments that would be required should
the Group fail to continue as a going
concern.

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the historical cost basis
except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of the reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant
effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 3.
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The group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
to these financial statements for the current
accounting period:

- Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Classification of
liabilities as current or non-current (“2020
amendments”) and amendments to
HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements: Non-current liabilities with
covenants (2022 amendments”)

- Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases —
Lease liability in a sale and leaseback

- Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of
cash flows and HKFRS 7, Financial
instruments: Disclosures — Supplier finance
arrangements

The group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period. The amended
HKFRs do not have a material impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held
by the Group and other parties) are
considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements
from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way
as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity
in a subsidiary not attributable directly or
indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any
additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in
respect of those interests that meets the
definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.
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Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the owners of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation
of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the owners of the
Company. Loans from holders of non-
controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with notes 2(u) or (v) depending
on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect
the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is recognised at
fair value and this amount is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset (see note 2(f)) or, when appropriate, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in
an associate or joint venture (see note 2(e)).
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An associate is an entity in which the Group or
Company has significant influence, but not
control or joint control, over its management,
including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby
the Group or Company and other parties
contractually agree to share control of the
arrangement, and have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint
venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method.
Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any
excess of the Group's share of the acquisition-
date fair values of the investee’s identifiable
net assets over the cost of the investment (if
any). The cost of the investment includes
purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the
investment, and any direct investment into
the associate or joint venture that forms part
of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter,
the investment is adjusted for the post
acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss
relating to the investment (see note 2(I)(ii)). At
each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any acquisition-
date excess over cost, the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
investees and any impairment losses for the
year are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, whereas the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax
items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

e
Al/‘l.

EEEZRARDT « —F_MFFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BE T -_F+—_A=+—HIFEF

BERREAEELARAHE
BEAFE BYEEHIHARE

HEE @FME% BRE2EER
BEAMEEREK

BERAR/ANEELARE MH
b AL IR E KE B 2 B2 & &
FEERAREZILE-

R—EBE QAR —HEEE QA
2B YRR E AR K ALR
A RE -BIBERESE RETY
AR A ARR - W FE AN 5 B e 1
WEHRZ A #BEEFENK
BAZATFEBBIRERAZI
S(MB)ELEFAR-REKSE
FEEEE WHEZRENEEEN
HMpA RIEKAEBEESEE
—BHHRZBEEARHEER
AMTMEERE-H% A%
ELEEHREEFETERER
MEB R EZIERERBEM
BEBBHZBEREELAZE (R
MsE2() (i) ) - RS S B - A" &
EF e FEREEEREN
B BB B 15 o A UK BE B B
FRAMEE ANEBEGHIREER
EREERERBENEERTE
R E ] R E B B AR A
RAER MAEBEEERELHR
Hh2mWRSERBELEBR
EHWEGGEE&E@EEW
HRATER -

167



WULING MOTORS HOLDINGS LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2024

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

HE—F—

168

MEF—F=+—HIFFE

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture,
the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the
carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method, together with any other long-
term interests that in substance form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate or
the joint venture, after applying the ECL
model to such other long-term interests where
applicable (see note 2(1)(i)).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates and joint venture are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for
under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate
or joint control over a joint venture, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that investee, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former investee at the
date when significant influence or joint control
is lost is recognised at fair value and this
amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(f)).
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In the Company’s consolidated statement of
financial position, investments in associates
and joint venture are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(1)).

The Group’s policies for investments in debt
and equity securities, other than investments
in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are
recognised/derecognised on the date the
Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially stated
at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (FVTPL) for which transaction costs
are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair
value of financial instruments, see note 36(c).
These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

Non-equity investments held by the
Group are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Interest income from the investment
is calculated using the effective
interest method (see note 2(x)(b)(iii)).
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fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVTOCI) —
recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise
solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows
and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of expected credit
losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and
losses. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled
from equity to profit or loss.

fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL) if the investment does not
meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI (recycling). Changes in the
fair value of the investment
(including interest) are recognised
in profit or loss.
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An investment in equity securities is
classified as FVTPL unless the equity
investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an
irrevocable election to desighate the
investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair
value are recoghnised in other
comprehensive income.

Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets
the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is
made, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income remains in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
until the investment is disposed of. At the
time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) is transferred to retained
earnings. It is not recycled through profit
or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are
recognised in profit or loss as other
income in accordance with the policy
set out in note 2(x)(b)(ii).
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Derivative financial instruments are
recognised at fair value. At the end of each
reporting period the fair value is remeasured.
The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair
value is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, except where the derivatives qualify for
cash flow hedge accounting or hedges of net
investment in a foreign operation, in which
case recognition of any resultant gain or loss
depends on the nature of the item being
hedged.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(1)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property,
plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, direct labour, the initial estimate,
where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site
on which they are located, and an
appropriate proportion of production
overheads and borrowing costs (see note

2(n)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of
retirement or disposal.
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When the use of a property changes from
owner-occupied to investment property, the
property is remeasured to fair value and
reclassified accordingly. Any gain arising on
this remeasurement is recognised in profit or
loss to the extent that it reverses a previous
impairment loss on the specific property, with
any remaining gain recognised in OCI and
presented in the revaluation reserve. Any loss
is recognised in profit or loss. However, to the
extent that an amount is included in the
revaluation surplus for that property, the loss is
recognised in OCI| and reduces the
revaluation surplus within equity. On the
subsequent sale or retrement of the asset, the
relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred
directly to retained profits.

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off
the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment, other than construction in
progress, less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of 30
years or the remaining
lease terms

Leasehold Over the shorter of the

improvements lease terms and the

useful life of 5 years

Plant and machinery 7% — 10%
Furniture, fixtures and  15% — 33%

equipment
Computers 10% — 33%
Transmission system 16% — 25%

and equipment

(including motor

vehicles)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the
cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of
an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.
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Investment properties are land and/or
buildings which are owned or held under a
leasehold interest (see note 2(k)) to earn
rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. These include land held for a
currently undetermined future use and
property that is being constructed or
developed for future use as investment

property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of
construction or development at the end of
the reporting period and their fair value
cannot be reliably measured at that time. Any
gain or loss arising from a change in fair value
or from the retirement or disposal of an
investment property is recognised in profit or
loss. Rental income from investment properties
is accounted for as described in note 2(x)(b)

().

Expenditure on research activities is
recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred. Expenditure on
development activities is capitalised if the
product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group has
sufficient resources and the intention to
complete development. The expenditure
capitalised includes the costs of materials,
direct labour, and an appropriate proportion
of overheads and borrowing costs, where
applicable (see note 2(n)). Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses (see note 2(l)). Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.
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Other intangible assets that are acquired by
the Group are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment
losses (see note 2(l)).

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill
and brands is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite
useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated
useful lives. Capitalised development costs
are amortised from the date they are
available for use.

Both the period and method of amortisation
are reviewed annually.

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease.
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the
right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.
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At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability, except for leases of
low-value assets. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the
lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the
present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease
or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an
index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and
hence are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are
incurred.
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The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial
direct costs incurred. Where applicable,
the cost of the right-of-use assets also
includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located, discounted
to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 2(h) and
2()(i)), except for right-of-use assets that
meet the definition of investment
property are carried at fair value in
accordance with note 2(i).

The initial fair value of refundable rental
deposits is accounted for separately
from the right-of-use assets in
accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to investments in debt
securities carried at amortised cost (see
notes 2(f)(i), 2(x)(b)(iii)) and 2(1)(i)). Any
difference between the initial fair value
and the nominal value of the deposits is
accounted for as additional lease
payments made and is included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease
payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the
Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a
change arising from the reassessment of
whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease
liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured
when there is a lease modification,
which means a change in the scope of
a lease or the consideration for a lease
that is not originally provided for in the
lease contract, if such modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease. In
this case, the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments
and lease term using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the
modification.

In the consolidated statement of
financial position, the current portion of
long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled
within twelve months after the reporting
period.
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When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether
each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a
finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is
classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the
contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.
The rental income from operating leases
is recognised in accordance with note

209(b) ().

When the Group is an intermediate
lessor, the sub-leases are classified as a
finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease. If the head
lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the exemption described
in note 2(k)(i), then the Group classifies
the sub-lease as an operating lease.
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The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (ECLs) on the
following items:

— financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables
and other receivables),

— debt securities measured at FVTOCI
(recycling).

Other financial assets measured at fair
value, including equity securities
designated at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
and derivative financial assets, are not
subject to the ECL assessment.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Credit losses are
measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due
to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are
discounted using the following discount
rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

— fixed-rate financial assets, trade
and other receivables: effective
interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation
thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets:
current effective interest rate.
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The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without
undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from possible
default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from all
possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which
the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables
are always measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the
debtors and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.
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For all other financial instruments
(including loan commitments issued), the
Group recognises a loss allowance equal
to 12-month ECLs unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs.

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that
assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event
occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations to the Group in
full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is
held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days
past due. The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of
principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial
instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a
significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis
or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are
grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.
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ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for
all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for
investments in debt securities that are
measured at FVTOCI (recycling), for
which the loss allowance is recognised in
other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the fair value reserve
(recycling).

Interest income recognised in
accordance with note 2(x)(b)(iii) is
calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group
assesses whether a financial asset is
credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.
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Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following
observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of
the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

— it becoming probable that the
borrower will enter into bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

— the disappearance of an active
market for a security because of
financial difficulties of the issuer.

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that
was previously written off are recognised
as a reversal of impairment in profit or
loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.
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Internal and external sources of
information are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may
be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or
may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;

— right-of-use assets;

— intangible assets, and;

— investment in associates and joint
ventures, and the investment in
subsidiaries in the Company’s

statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
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The recoverable amount of an
asset is the greater of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). A portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate
asset (for example, head office
building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if
the allocation can be done on a
reasonable and consistent basis, or
to the smallest group of cash-
generating units if otherwise.
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An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the carrying amount
of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable
amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to
profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.
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Foreign currency transactions during the year
are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the
date on which the Company initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the
fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated
into Renminbi at the exchange rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Consolidated statement of financial position
items are translated into Renminbi at the
closing foreign exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to that foreign operation
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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Borrowing costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production
of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its
intended use or sale are capitalised as part of
the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part
of the cost of a qualifying asset commences
when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in
progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is
suspended or ceases when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare the
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual
leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by
employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.
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Termination benefits are recognised at
the earlier of when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when it recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment
of termination benefits.

Income tax expense comprises current tax
and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that it relates to a
business combination, or items recognised
directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax
payable or receivable on the taxable income
or loss for the year and any adjustments to the
tax payable or receivable in respect of
previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of
the tax amount expected to be paid or
received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes any
tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only
if certain criteria are met.
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Deferred tax is recognised in respect of
temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for:

— temporary differences on the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities in a
transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences;

— temporary differences related to
investment in subsidiaries, associates and
joint venture to the extent that the group
is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that they will not
reverse in the foreseeable future;

— taxable temporary differences arising on
the initial recognition of goodwill; and

— those related to the income taxes arising
from tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted to implement the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and
Development.
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The group recognised deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to
its lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which they can be used.
Future taxable profits are determined based
on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable
temporary differences is insufficient to
recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then
future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of
existing temporary differences, are
considered, based on the business plans for
individual subsidiaries in the group. Deferred
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date and are reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised; such reductions are
reversed when the probability of future
taxable profits improves.

Where investment properties are carried at
their fair value in accordance with note 2(j),
the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured using the tax rates that would
apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date, unless the
property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the property over time, rather
than through sale. In all other cases, the
measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the group expects, at the
reporting date, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
only if certain criteria are met.
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Inventories are assets which are held for sale
in the ordinary course of business, in the
process of production for such sale or in the
form of materials or supplies to be consumed
in the production process or in the rendering
of services.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realizable value. Cost is calculated using
the weighted-average method and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. Net realizable value
represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised as
an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any
write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see note 2(x)(a)). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be
recognised (see note 2(s)).

FEERBXGEETRELE -
REABRLENLEEBRED =X
A E @IS iR AR 7S P A R
MREAREARENEE -

FERKANEAZERFERE Z
BUEE AR - AR SR A N T 150K
AR UBREMARBRAMT
RARGFEEZEZHB A E R
BRRIRARE R E AR - Al 23]
FERFRMGFEERAE G
FTELRARETTIHERHR KA -

WELFE AIZSFENREE
EHBRAEIRNHAERSE
PR = (2471 17 5 ORI 2 R 3R FHE
& MFENEEBE - MR
FHBEEENHMRR /M - E
o] 17 & WURL < £F fa] 8¢ 3] 70 4% [B] 22
EHERNES - BRAXERZT
BEZ & BAER BT A

o

R P R ANE B RERA B
ST RENRE AEBREY
BB (RKiE200@)) ~EARE
BEEEGMEENTRAEERER
FERAUR R AT IR BN AT IR B R (BB -
NEEREHNEE - RZEBENR
0 IR RE SR A FE R Uk 5k B (R
FE2(s)) °



A receivable is recognised when the Group
has an unconditional right to receive
consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration
is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component are initially
measured at their transaction price. Trade
receivables that contain a significant
financing component and other receivables
are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. All receivables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method and including an
allowance for credit losses (see note 2(1)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at
bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in
accordance with the policy set out in note

20)().
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Trade and other payables are initially
recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial
recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured
initially at fair value less transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance
with the Group’'s accounting policy for
borrowing costs (see note 2(n)).

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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Where some or all of the expenditure required
to settle a provision is expected to be
reimbursed by another party, a separate asset
is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain.
The amount recognised for the reimbursement
is limited to the carrying amount of the
provision.

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods, the
provision of services or the use by others of the
Group'’s assets under leases in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

In determining whether the Group acts as a
principal or as an agent, it considers whether
it obtains control of the products before they
are transferred to the customers. Control refers
to the Group’s ability to direct the use of and
obtain substantially all of the remaining
benefits from the products.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and
other income recognition policies are as
follows:
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Revenue is recognised when control
over a product or service is transferred to
the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third
parties such as value added tax or other
sales taxes.

Revenue from the sales of engines
and engine related parts,
automotive components and
accessories and specialized
vehicles, and trading of steels are
recognized based upon goods/
steels delivered, which is the point
in time when the customer has the
ability to direct the use of the
goods/steels and obtain the control
of the goods/steels.

Revenue from provision of water
and power supply services is
recognized over the period in
which the services are rendered.
The Group bills an amount for each
month of services provided and
recognizes as revenue in the
amount to which the Group has a
right to invoice and corresponds
directly with the value of
performance completed.
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Rental income receivable under
operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use
of the leased asset.

Dividend income from unlisted
investments is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

Interest income is recognised as it
accrues under the effective interest
method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life
of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial
asset. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to
the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset (see note

2(D(@)-
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Government grants are recognised
in the statement of financial
position initially when there is
reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised
as income in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group
for the cost of an asset are
recognized as a deduction from
the carrying amount of the relevant
asset in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred
to profit or loss on a systematic and
rational basis over the useful lives of
the related assets.

(a) A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

0)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the
Group’s parent.
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(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

0)

(ii)

(iii)

(v)

W)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is
an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

(a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity
or is a member of the key
management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel
services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.
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0)

(ii)

(iii)

(V)

W)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)
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Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting
purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods
used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.

—BATHERBBSAEHRN
ZEBATEHERETORZ P
BYENAXEFENRSHE -

% ﬁ AR BEBEARE 2 &
SEBEESHE DIRBETHRAS
.?%?TEKE@AETET 2 9%
BERER - BAMBERTRES
BEEREAEBTNRESRDIBR
o1& - AR EE B B KD 20 Rt
%2 =3 o

Bk JE 1 75 0 BB BB AR LU R0 B K
B YEBEEERMRGHMEE £
EBENTE TP ELAR
A DEEEmIIERRBENTT A
AREERBENEES T EAEL
BRAREEENEEHTEL
REABEHRE B R T AR - JE{E
/”:UEKE’J%“%“*MH??”\L N
IR QIR ETTIEAR -



The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Determining whether property, plant and
equipment that has indication of impairment loss is
impaired requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units (“CGUs") to which the
property, plant and equipment that has indication
of impairment loss has been allocated. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the
present value of the future cash flows expected to
arise from the CGUs containing the property, plant
and equipment using suitable discount rates. Key
assumptions in estimating the value in use of the
CGUs included discount rates, sales growth rates
and gross profit margins and their related cash
inflow and outflow patterns of the respective CGUs.
Where the expected future cash flows arising from
the relevant CGUs differ from the original
estimation, an impairment loss may arise. The
management of the Group also engage an
independent valuer to carry out valuation of the
value in use of the CGUs. Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in note 12.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment is RMB2,510,356,000
(2023: RMB2,806,820,000), after taking into the
account the impairment of RMB295,979,000 (2023:
RMB263,979,000).

kil

ERELEZRAMRAR « —F-NFFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T -_F+—_A=+—HIFEF

ATARBEMREEARREHLT
A BRFEEEERBEREEELEAN
HAEMABBARZERERRMAFTTE
ERRZHEMEBRRIR-

REEFEREBEIRZYE KE

REBLBHBERER AEREF A
FHEREBRIRZYE BEREHE
BEokzReELBM([ReELE
fr])zEREE RTEEREER-
AEBEFEARCELBEUMEEZY
X BELARERPELEZARAKAER
ERE(EREEMAR) RBiREE
EBUMEREEMRNERRRERE
ERSELBUMERE HEERE
REFZE A REERERSRARRH
B -HMERELAARREELEN
MARRREREBFIRRBMEE A
EEEAREER AKREEEEND
ZRBYEEMMRSEEEMOER
BEETHEE TREEBEAEZHB
FAM 1248 5%

RZZE-_WMF+-_A=+—H &k
E A R #295,979,000T (— & = =
F: AR #263,979,0007T) % - ¥ - B
EEXEZEBEABAREK
2,510,356,000C (ZZE - =F: AR
2,806,820,0007T ) °
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The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL
for the trade receivables. The provision rates are
based on internal credit ratings as groupings of
various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The
provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical
default rates taking into consideration of forward-
looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue cost or effort.
At every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. In
addition, trade receivables from related parties
and credit-impaired trade receivables are assessed
for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in notes 19
and 36(b).

As at 31 December 2024, the gross carrying amount
of trade receivables is RMB2,153,960,000 (2023:
RMB2,838,376,000) and allowance for credit losses
of RMB96,185,000 (2023: RMB100,843,000).

R B AR m R BB RKATE
HEERR - BHEXEXKABELUE
Tﬁﬁiﬁ’]ﬂﬁﬁi‘“}\ ARRETE M)A BB S

AR E BEEEERAEENE
SLEKE I%féﬂ 5 H R 5 Z B K
AE BN MAESHSE B e
BHEEE -ESEREAN A&HE
ENFEELBAINENR XERE
AIEMEEBME -t AEEEH
EHE R R BB R ET R
FE B R (B FE AR 3K o

TEHEEBENBREY TN
R -BEHETEHEEBEUREAER
FEW BR XA & Ko BB M sE19 &
36(b) °

MW-Z-—m&E+-/F=+—8 EKE
A2 BRH 4218 A AR #2,153,960,0007T
— T - =4F: AR¥2838,376,0007T)
Mz ERE#EE A AR M96,185,0007T
(—Z—=4: AR¥100,843,0007T) °



The principal activities of the Group are the
manufacturing and sale of engines, engines
related parts, other power supply products,
automotive components and accessories,
steels and specialized vehicles (including new
energy vehicles), as well as provision of water
and power supply to customers.

Types of goods and services FImERFER
Sales of engines and related  $5& 3 B [ 1B R 50

parts and other power ESER IS
supply products Em

Sales of automotive HERETHHR
components and B4
accessories

Sales of specialized vehicles $4&EHAAE (B
(including new energy aeRE)
vehicles)

Trading of steels i Z 5

Provision of water and power 32t AKX LBt E
supply
Revenue from contracts with BFE& QWA (FS

customers within scope of B 75 25 2 R
HKFRS 15 FISHEEA)
Revenue from gross rental HEWABRE 2 WA

income

Timing of revenue recognition YA 7 52 B &

A point in time R — R 2
Over time Bi& AR ]

Total st
Geographical markets B 5
Mainland China e
Others Hfth

Total st

IEREEERRARAT « S -NFFH

@

(b)

(©

(b)

(b)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T -_F+—_A=+—HIFEF

AEBNTEREEIE/EP
SUEMIHE RS BB
H EMBNERER TETE
HRES WM RERRE (B
LIRS ) AR AKEE
e

2,479,958

5,246,576

1,838,271
764,260

118,959

10,448,024

35,909
10,483,933

10,329,065
154,868

10,483,933

10,323,953
159,980

10,483,933
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Notes:

(a) These revenue has been classified as revenue
under the vehicles’ power supply systems
segment in the segment information.

(b) These revenue has been classified as revenue
under automotive components and other
industrial services segment in the segment
information.

(c) These revenue has been classified as revenue
under the commercial vehicles assembly
segment in the segment information.

Information reported to the executive
directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provided. This is
also the basis upon which the Group is
organized. No operating segments identified
by the chief operating decision maker have
been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

Wit :

(@ BREWAERSIBEHADE
RABHNEGDB T ZWA -

(b) ZEWAERDBERASLE
RABETE M RAEMT ERS
DERZHA -

() ZFWACROIERADR
REREED %BTZHSU\°

mﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁ%$(W$£w%£

RE)ERUESEEREKFTES
HERR 2 EBER R
Rz EMREREER - I AR
EEEBAB AL - REETBL
BRREMBB 2R EDHRE
BAEE 2 HRE DRSO
HIER ©



The Group’s reportable and operating
segments under HKFRS 8 “Operating
Segments” are as follows:

IEREEERRKRARAT « T -WFFK

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-—F_MFF—A=1—HILFE

iﬁzﬁ%%“% ﬁﬁki&%@i JJ E85% F%&

Vehicles’ power supply systems — Manufacture and sale of engines and engine

related parts and other power supply products

b /"Li@)jj S

= Automotive components and
other industrial services

— SUENMGHERSE MR R E B ) RREM

— Manufacture and sale of automotive components
and accessories, trading of steels, and provision of

water and power supply services

- RETEMREA T ERE

— BUERHETETHEREMS - M E S U REHBK
K@ O EIRTE

= Commercial vehicles assembly — Manufacture and sale of specialized vehicles
(including new energy vehicles)

- HAEE — BERHEERAE (BEMERITE)
= Others — Property investment and others
- EHft — MERERHAM

The measure used for reporting segment profit
or loss is “adjusted EBIT” i.e. “adjusted earnings
before interest and taxes”, where “interest” is
regarded as finance income/costs. To arrive
at adjusted EBIT, the Group’s earnings are
further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments, such as
bank interest income, net exchange loss,
share of results of associates and joint
ventures, fair value change of financial
instruments at FVTPL, finance costs and other
head office or corporate administration costs.

HREDEEBMANTES LB
[ EEBIT] - B [ AR B
RTAR] -HP[B]ERE K
AR e BT B & FHEEBIT A
=B/ & R & IR E B R E B
DESRIB B #E— SR HIRTT
TR A - FE 5 5 18F 58~ 2 (h B
ERRINEE LT FEE BATYE
FABRZEMIAZAFES
B mAERA A REMATSEA
AITTERBC A ©
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RS B I BRI EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE—T-_WME+—A=1+—HIFFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, WMARDEBER (&)

(Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) ZEER (&)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEUA R ELE (B)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
revenue and results from reportable and
operating segments:

AEBERAAIRERLEDHLZ
WAREEDITIT :

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BZE-Z_mME+=-A=+-—H

LEE
Automotive
Vehicles'  components
power  andother Commercial
supply industrial vehicles
systems services  assembly Others  Elimination Consolidated
RE RERHAR
PhZ5 HUIERE  BERE At i Ga
RMB 000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB 000
ABBTL ARETT ARETT ARETT  ARETT ARETT
Revenue fiom external RENBEE ZHA
customers 1,737,084 5,460,853 718,758 32,144 - 7,949,439
Inter-segment revenue ABRUA 33,782 92,562 3370 - (134714) -
Total ft 1,775,866 5,553,415 722,128 32,744 (134,714) 7,949,439
Segment (loss) profi AH(ER)EH
(adjusted EBIT) (&% eRn) (32018) 153934 75,919 32,007 229,032
Bank interest income HTHEHA 117761
Net exchange loss ERELFH (257)
Central administrative costs ~ FRTHAR (62,692)
Net gain on disposal of HER-FRE AR ZE
investment in an associate et 6,690
Net gain on disposal of LER-HAERRZRE
investmentinajoint ventue Y& FE 11,547
Share of resuls of associates ~ EEBEAE25E (63,140)
Share of results of joint ventures AR AFIZ£4 (3,508)
Finance costs HANA (115,997)
Profit before taxation BBtanaA 120,336
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

A B IS SRR RE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE—F-_mF+-A=+—HIFE

4. WARSDEBER (&)

(b) ZHEREFR (&)

Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEWMARFEE (B)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZE_=5+=-ZA=+—H
L“HEE
Automotive
Vehicles' components
power  andother Commercial
supply industrial vehicles
systems services  assembly Others  Elimination Consolidated
B AERHRR
YNEG HtIXRE 2 EREE A i 5a
RMB00O RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000
AEETL  ARETn  ARETT  AREFn  AREFI ARETR
Revenue from extemnal RENPERZHA
customers 2479958 6,129,795 1838271 35,909 - 10483933
Inter-segment revenue LN 18,719 101,117 6,392 - (1262) =
Total &t 2498677 6230912 1,844,663 35,909 (126,228) 10483933
Segment profit (ajusted EBIT) 2 #0H| (4Z:2 % eBIT) 25,686 91,444 62,782 2972 207,884
Bank interest income RAFSHA 105,784
Change i fair value of financial  AFEFABZ 2R
assets at FVTPL REINTERY 2819
Net exchange loss EiEETE (1,087)
Central administiative costs ~~ PRITHAE (32,249)
Share ofresults of associates ~ [ERBIE DA 2 (82,066)
Share of results of oint ventures  EIEA2RAIZEE (3116)
Finance costs BEANA (120508)
Profit before taxation REATRR 77461

The accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies described in note 2.

RED 2 BT BREREEN
AE2rT At Hy & SR AR -
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, WMARDEBER (&)

(Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) ZEER (&)
Other segment information H fth 55 #p & £}
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z-_MFE+=-A=+—H
LFE

Automotive

Vehicles' components
power and other Commercial
supply industrial vehicles

systems services  assembly Others Consolidated
RE REFP4R
BH7S HEMIXRE HREE Hitr G
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Amounts included in the STATBRENHER
measure of reportable FTENSE:
segment profit or loss:

Depreciation of property, plant %1% « BERZENE

and equipment 97,630 294,624 13,576 - 405,830
Impairment loss on property, 913  BE LkEZ

plant and equipment HEEE 32,000 - - - 32,000
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FREZENE

assets 18,006 18,938 2,582 - 39,526
Loss (gain) on disposal of HENE  BEREEZ

property, plant and B (&)

equipment 63 2,178 (23) - 2,218
(Reversal of write-down) FE (RAAE) M FE

write-down of inventories, net (15,312) (20,937) 8,524 - (27,725)
Impairment losses ontrade RN FURERE

receivables 15,520 13,508 2,094 - 31,122
Reversal of impaimment losson  EYE R EREAR

trade receivables (5,948) (14,495) (488) - (20,931)
Research and development  FEHS

expenses 59,837 188,982 33,368 - 282,187
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE—F-_mF+-A=+—HIFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WMARDEEN (&)

(Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

(b) ZHEREFR (&)

Other segment information (Continued) HinpHER (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZE_=5+=-ZA=+—H
LEFE
Automotive
Vehicles' components
power and other Commercial
supply  industrial vehicles
systems services  assembly Others Consolidated
"B AETHHR
Bhze EnIxkl HREE Hfh e
RMB000 ~ RMB000  RMB0O00  RMB0OO RMB000
ANRETFT AEEFT AREFT ARETT ARETRL
Amounts included in the STATRE D PR
measure of reportable FENGE:

segment profit or loss:

Depreciation of property, plant

n%  BERRERE

and equipment 71,891 245519 42 346 - 359,756
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FEEEENE

assets 22,042 23,486 4914 - 50,442
Loss (gain) on disposal of HENE  BEREEL

property, plant and B (k&)

equipment 1,122 (80) (159) - 883
Write-down (reversal of FEMA (AR FE

write-down) of

inventories, net 603 (89) 4,542 - 5,056
Impairment losses ontrade MR FURER R

receivables 4513 16,837 2,724 - 24,074
Reversal of impaimmentlosson AR FAEBERD

trade receivables (170) (1,112) (30) - (1,311)
Research and development  FFEF %

expenses 198,814 80,346 27,396 - 306,556
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WMARDEEN (&)

(Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b)

Non-current assets

Information about the Group’s non-current
assets is presented based on the
geographical location of the assets.

2EEHR (18)
FRBEE

AEBEFRDEEZERTIRE
BEMEMZD -

2024 2023

—EmEF —Eo=4

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%Tor ARMTF T

Mainland China B 4,102,969 4,445,736
Hong Kong aBH 6,178 6,275
Indonesia EEfEvhan 7,267 3,041
India ENE 3,212 4,369
4,119,626 4,459,421

Note: Non-current assets excluded financial
instruments.

Information about major customers

Revenue derived from sales to two major
customers (2023: one), which contributed
over 10% of the Group’s total revenue, in
respect of the following operating segments,

Kat: JERBEESEFEEBMITA-

BEREXTEERPZER

NTEESTANRARMEEERS
(ZEZ=F:—R)ETHEM
BWA(EAEEBZRKARBBG
10% ) 47N :

is as follows:
2024 2023
—EolEF =F==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFr ARMTFT
Engines and related parts LB K AR RE SR 695,037 1,342,526
Automotive components and  JREZEMF K H b pi# sk
other modification or TR
industrial services 4,079,809 3,829,303
4,774,846 5,171,829
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(a) Details of other income are as follows: () HaWAZFEFBOT:

Bank interest income RITH B WA 105,784
Government grants (note i) BT B (FraEi) 32,843
Sales of scrap materials, parts SHERER! - BRSP4 A

and others 39,696
Machinery and other property  ### & E ¥ 558 & W A

rental income (note ii) (Bt atii) 1,819
Service income on repairs and  #{E RIRE Z BRI A

maintenance 7,458
Income on use of technology ) B B 1y E0 5 2 A

knowhow 1,466
Income from the transfer HEHERER WA

of patents 10,258
Others Hith 15,083

214,407

Notes: K&t -

()  Government grants mainly represent various () BNHBEZHEBTEERT
industry-specific subsidies granted by the 2 EEITESER B AERE AR
government authorities to reward the Group’s SEABRMEIFNSE N A&
effort for technological innovation with no 1 T BE A 2 RRAE B AN © 3
future related costs to be incurred. There are HZECHARABNMERZ
no unfulfilled conditions relating to such AR IR -
government subsidies recognized.

(i)  Machinery and other property rental income (i) HHEHEMYEESKAR

are fixed lease payments. EHERNK
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE—T-_WME+—A=1+—HIFFE

5. OTHER INCOME/OTHER GAINS AND 5. H{lg A Hitrlhzs R &8
LOSSES (Continued) (%)
(b) Details of other gains and losses are as follows: (b) HiWmEBRZFBWT:

2024
—F-MF

RMB’000 RMB '000
ARETFT ARETIT

Impairment loss on property, VI - B NERE 2 RE

plant and equipment ] (32,000) =
Net exchange loss P& 5 B 18R 58 (257) (1,087)
Fair value change of financial X AFEF AR Z S/

assets at FVTPL BEZAFEES - 2,819
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BEREREZ

plant and equipment B8 (2,218) (883)
Decrease in fair value of BEME 2 NFERD

investment properties (15,285) (6,144)
Waive of debt BB - 10,353
Others HAh 4,958 37

(44,802) 5,095
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PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6. BRFEATEF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: BREADRFTDENBRATSEEE D
(a) Finance costs (a) MEHE
2024 2023
—EEF —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARET T
Interests on: THSEZAE -
— Bank borrowings — RITEE 66,978 62,386
— Advances drawn on bills — FEWE IR FTHR BV R
receivable 48,189 55,636
— Lease liabilities —HESE 830 2,486
115,997 120,508
(b) Staff costs (b) EIFA
2024 2023
—ENEF —EC-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETFIT
Salaries, wages and e TENEMER
other benefits 636,156 665,723
Contributions to defined AT HRFERIRET B
contribution retirement plans 78,369 85,685
Equity-settled share-based LAREZS 55 AR 1) A ELRE
payment credit R R (9,276) (456)

705,249 750,952
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MEF—F=+—HIFFE

Depreciation charges:
— Property, plant and
equipment for own use
— Right-of-use assets

Impairment losses on property,
plant and machinery

(Reversal of write-down)
write-down of inventories, net

PFEMX
— BRAYDE - BEK
B
—ERAREE

WE -~ BB RRERE
&1
T8 (MUR B [E]) OB F 78

Auditor's remuneration 1% BX B 5 B
— audit services — BT AR
Cost of inventories” GFERA*
note: During the year ended 31 December 2024, Bt et

nil interest (2023: RMB1,843,000) was paid to
Guangxi Automobile in respect of bills
discounted to Guangxi Automobile. Details
of provision of the bill discounting facilities

are set out in note 34(v).

Cost of inventories includes RMB560,230,000 #
(2023: RMB551,908,000) relating to staff costs

and depreciation expenses, which amount

is also included in the respective total

amounts disclosed separately above.

359,756
50,442

5,056

2,166
9,341,009

HE-Z-_MWF+=—A=+—
AIEFE - AREAABEMIE
EEMRAEASREZNENE

—ET =% : AR¥1,843,000
L) ERMBERENTFER
K FE34(v) °

GFERABREEHEEIRAR
& S A R #560,230,000
T(ZE_=ZF: AR%
551,908,0007T) ' % & B &t A
FNEBHENRBRSE
Wo



X AENEEEERERAT - —B-EFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B IS SRR b EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE—F-_mF+-A=+—HIFE

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 7. FRHRAX
2024 2023
—E-mEF —ETo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARBFT
Tax expense represents: MIEFRXIE :
Current tax BNERTRIE
PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT") # lm%ﬁﬁ S ([
and income taxes of other 1§85 1) REA TS
tax jurisdictions /ﬂgliﬁ’]ﬁfr S 2,717 7,181
Withholding tax on dividend MR B IR TR
distribution 1,420 =
Over provision in prior years B FEREEE (2,151) (1,571)
1,986 5,610
Deferred tax (note 28) EIEFRIE (f17E28)
Origination and reversal of AR E SR
temporary differences 7,105 2,395
9,091 8,005
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In accordance with the relevant PRC corporate
income tax laws, implementation regulations and
guidance notes, certain subsidiaries in Mainland
China are entitled to tax concessions whereby the
profits of the subsidiaries are taxed at a preferential
income tax rate. Liuzhou Wuling Liuji Motors
Company Limited (“Wuling Liuji”) and Wuling Liuji
Foundry Company Limited (“Liuji Foundry”) are
approved as enterprises that satisfied as a High-
New Technology Enterprises and entitled the
preferential tax rate of 15% in 2024, 2025 and 2026,
Liuzhou Zhuotong Motors Industrial Co., Ltd.
(“Liuzhou Zhuotong”) and Chongqging Zhuotong
Motors Industrial Co., Ltd. (“Chongging Zhuotong”)
were applicable to the tax concession of the
Western Development in PRC and entitled the
preferential tax rate of 15% in 2024. Taxation of the
Group'’s other subsidiaries in Mainland China are
calculated using the applicable income tax rates
of 25%.

The CIT Law also requires withholding tax of 5% or
10% upon distribution of profits by the PRC
subsidiaries since 1 January 2008 to its overseas
(including Hong Kong) shareholders.

During the year, deferred tax liability of
RMB3,306,000 has been provided (2023:
RMB3,787,000) in respect of the undistributed
earnings of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries and
charged to profit or loss accordingly.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for taxation in Indonesia has been
made as the subsidiaries in this jurisdiction does not
have any assessable profit for both years.

RIFEBETPBEEERMAETRZE BitikDl
KISl BETHERENHBARZESR
MG e ZEMB AR ZENRER
PSR EEBR -WMMEZYERB AR
RE([HEMHD EAENKRBES
RAE ([MIHESER_F_MF =
E_RFRZZBINFERARSIR
b2 7] T H15% 2 BEF X - HI M
SRAETHHEARAE ([HMEE])
CEESBARETIXARAR([EE
S ) @ R B AN B O B S OR
2 R_F_MEZHI% BEHE -
AEENFBEARENEMHERE 2K
TR B R AT S TR R25% 5T & ©

CEMSHETEE BZTSENEF—
BA—B#E HFEMNBEARREEIIN(E
EEE) R DR & 5| 78 H25% 510% 55
MTEFNFL

RAFEERAEEFENBE QR Z X
PEBFNZEEHFBEAEGEARE
3,306,000 Cit BB (ZE=Z=F: A
R #3,787,0007T) ' W A 18z AR FEHD
|3/§¢ o

BBEFNB I TR W EF E st ER
AR TR R16.5% 515 °

AR - B AR IR KM 2
R 48 A5 7 3R B2 R - 3 AR EDFE
BB -



Taxation for subsidiary in other tax jurisdictions
amounting to RMB2,653,000 (2023: RMB5,041,000)
was charged at the appropriate current rates

under the relevant taxation rulings.

The income tax credit for the year can be
reconciled to the loss before taxation per the

IEREEERRARAT « S -NFFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T -_F+—_A=+—HIFEF

REM TR AEEAK B R RAFRIE
A ANRE2653000C (- =4F: A
R #5,041,0007T ) YR 15 A8 BE 7 75 15

PliREERITH R -

consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

Profit before taxation

Notional tax on profit before taxation
calculated at the rates applicable

in the jurisdictions concerned
Tax effect of share of results of
associates
Tax effect of share of results of joint
ventures

Tax effect of expenses not deductible

for tax purposes
Tax effect of deductible temporary
differences not recognized

Tax effect of income not taxable for

tax purposes

Tax effect of utilization of tax losses
previously not recognized

Tax effect of utilization of
deductible temporary
differences not recognized

Tax effect of tax losses not
recognized

Tax effect of undistributed profits of
the PRC subsidiaries

Tax effect of subsidiaries using
different tax rates

Over provision in prior years

Extra deduction of research and
development expense

Income tax expense for the year

Details of movements in deferred tax liabilities are

set out in note 28.

B A B i )
RERRERREERZ
PR ETE Z BR B AT A
ZBERTA

FRIEBE NRIZEEZ
MGEE
BIEEERBZEELZ
BT E
THMBAI I REZE

REER TR EEL
Bisw e
BERBMAZ R Y S

B A AERERTIAER
ZBRBRE

B AR FE SR AT HURL B B
ERLIBRBRE

RERHIAE IR 25
-Z

B Bt B 2 AR 20 R A
ZBBRE
MEBARERTRFELZ
s
BEFEBERE

BT B STONRT HARL

FRMSHFAX

FAMBHREARATEGARE AR
E s R Z BRI E BRI T

77,461

19,365
17,157
778
1,654
5,880

(1,325)

(8,906)

25,936
3,787

(6,755)
(1,571)

(47,995)
8,005

EEBIR A E 2 BB IF N KT 5E28 -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE—T-_WME+—A=1+—HIFFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the
directors and the chief executive are as follows:

(a) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

EERERTBRAEZME

BENRENSEERS
o N

(@) BITEERFUTES

ARITHA B #) B

2024 —E-MEF
Non-
Executive
Executive Directors Director
YirEs FuTES
Yuan Zhu Yang Wei Li
Zhijun  Fengyan Jianyong  Mingfeng Zheng
REE KBE HHE EWE Y1
RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTT AEBTT ARETT ARETT AEETT
(note 1) (note1&2) (note1&2)  (note 1)
(Wit (Wi1R2) (WE1R2) (W1
Fees we - - - - 131 131
Salaries and other benefits HeREMER - - - - - -
Contributions to retirement BIERETBIER
benefit schemes - - - - - -
Equity settled share-based payment  DEREEL R AR
transaction 75 - - - - - -
Total @t - - - - 131 131
2023 —EF-=

Executive
Executive Directors Director
BES FHTES
Yuan Yang Wei Li
Zhjun  Jianyong  Mingfeng Zheng
REE CEE 2R £
RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000
ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFIL
(note1) (note1&2)  (note 1)
(1) (Wa1ke)  (H#1)
Fees ik - - - 131 131
Salaries and other benefits 5 REMET - = = =
Contributions to retrement BINRFIET B
benefit schemes - - _ _
Equity settled share-based INERE G RN AERER
payment transaction NRZH - - - - -
Total &t - - - 131 131

The executive and non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(b)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe B IE BRI EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE—F-_mF+-A=+—HIFE

8. §$&E
(%

RITBRAB 2=

(b) BYFHTES

2024 —E-MEF

Ye Xiang Wang Yuben XU Jinli Total

) EY #®%H @t

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000

ARBFT AR%Tr AR%®FTn ARETT

Fees ik 186 131 131 448

Salaries and other benefits He REMmEF - - - -
Contributions to retirement benefit RINEFIF B 5R

schemes - - - -

Total H=t 186 131 131 448

2023 3

Ye Xiang Wang Yuben MiJianguo XU Jinli Total

=) IHA KR 59N Bt

RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT

Fees we 185 131 58 73 447

Salaries and other benefits 4 & H 12 7 - - = = -

Contributions to retrement  E4R @RI+ 21t 5%
benefit schemes - - - - -
Total Bt 185 131 58 73 447

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for the
services as directors of the Company.

The emoluments of the directors or former
directors who were directors and/or senior
management of Guangxi Automobile
were paid and borne by Guangxi
Automobile.

note 1:

note 2: Mr. Yang Jianyong resigned on 31 July 2024
and Ms. Zhu Fengyan was appointed as an
executive director of the Company with

effect from 31 July 2024.

ERATBIYFATEZZHE
TEFEERERATDEEMRH

ZRGHRE -

Katl: SFERAFERR LS
MEBEBNEFANESD
BN & 75 ph B 7 T S A R
o

W2 BRIBEENR T _MEL

A=+—HEE mAB%
TITREEBARANITE
F BT -_WFLA=1—
HiB ARk
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Of the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group, none (2023: nil) was
the director and also the chief executive
officer of the Company whose emolument is
included in the disclosure in note 8 above. The
emoluments of these five individuals who
were senior management of the Group, are
as follows:

Salaries and other benefits e REMEF

Bonus {EAT

Contributions to retirement IRIRTE B K
benefit schemes

Equity settled share-based DAt S5 B AR (0 A AR
payment transaction FONE/ Y7

Total emoluments i 4858

The emoluments of the above highest paid
employees who are not the directors of the
Company were within the following bands:

AEELEREHFALTPLE (=
T _-F B)ARAEFERTR
BECEMSDEHN EXHEsZ
BREEHAN ZABAEESRE
BB zMEwT:

4,034

465

108
4,607

At 3 3E AR X ) & F H) & = B
& BB F



Nil to Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”)
1,000,000
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000

(&)
1,000,001 /87T E
1,500,000/& 7T

No emoluments were paid by the Group to
the directors of the Company or the above
individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office. None of the directors waived any
emoluments during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

£ % 1,000,000 7T

IEREEERRARAT « S -NFFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T -_F+—_A=+—HIFEF

AEEWERAQDRESH L
ALTEZAEABME  (EAMARSE
B iMAAREEEZR ZIESHER
BEREE-BE_T_mER_T
—=F+ZA=+—H1LEEFE"#
BMESRETAMNS -

Dividends recognized as distribution  #RAFRD R ZARE
during the year:
2023 Final dividend of HKDO0.5 cents ~—Z = =FKHIREF]K
(2023: 2022 final dividend of 058 I(ZE==%:
HKDO.3 cents) per share TR
0.37811) 9,176
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a RBmEHRE EFEEREBEE_ST

final dividend of HKDO.5 cent per share amounting
to approximately HKD16,491,000 (or equivalent to
RMB15,228,000) in respect of the year ended 31
December 2024 has been proposed by the
directors and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

“ME+ - A=+—RItFESTIRAH
f% B % 120.5%8 1l - & £ 4916,491,000/%5
7T (S M & R A R #15,228,0007T) © 1
AREBRREREERRERFASHERS
AEE -
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The calculation of basic earnings per share is
based on the profit attributable to ordinary
equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB50,621,000 (2023: RMB23,477,000) and the
weighted average of 3,298,161,000 ordinary
shares (2023: 3,298,161,000 shares) in issue
during the year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ~ ZERINEFHEH

ordinary shares
Issued ordinary shares at m—
1 January and 31 December +
oo

=]

il m

@’Ilm
52 In

There were no dilutive potential ordinary
shares during each of the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, and therefore,
diluted earnings per share is the same as the
basic earnings per share.
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&

BREXRBF TIEA QR ERR
&G % A A R #50,621,0007T
—E =% AR¥23,477,000
JC) MR F R B BT E B NKETF
5 813,298,161,0000% ( =& = =
£ :3,298,161,0000% ) sHE 0T

3,298,161

T_MEERT_=F
A=+ —HLEFEMEETH
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N R AR F]

I oE + B
%Fﬁllw



AERELEEEZERBRAT « —F-_MFEFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T -_F+—_A=+—HIFEF

AT COST BAAE
At1January 2023 RZS-Z%-A-H 1262762 1,649 2,352,765 1,341,770 190,050 268978 237,353 5,655,327
Exchange adjustments ERAE 3 13 14 8 4 16 = 8
Additions HE 416 1321 7867 28 5843 148 261,092 216,721
Disposals it (43) (66 (G031 (1200) (439) (G590) (093  (943%)
Transfer B 16,171 - 100,553 169,216 5221 25935 (317,096) =
Transfer to investment properties E&ZREY% (1,125) - - - = = = (1125)
Transfer from investment REnEEE
properties 9917 - - - - - - 9917
At 31 December 2023 RZZ-=%F
+-A=1-H 1,287,739 2421 2,410,878 1,498,931 196,726 289,487 160,415 5,846,597
Exchange adjustments ERHE
Additions RE
Disposals e
Transfer #3
Transfer to investment properties EEZREME
At 31 December 2024 RZF-mE
t-A=t-8
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ B3t fE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%-f-H 448545 1,378 1,289,934 691,725 146,634 166,700 - 2,144,916
Exchange adjustments B7A% 27 8 i) 5 3 8 = 63
Depreciation for the year EnfE 37861 480 155,249 124,468 19480 2218 - 359,756
Elminated on disposals R (199) (669  (M4d426)  (1,026) (3895) (4708) S e
Impaimentlossrecognizedin ~ REREANHESE
profit or loss - = = = = = = =
Eimination on transfer to ERSRAMEREY
investment properties (137) - - - - - - (137)
At 31 December 2023 RZF-=F
+-A=1+-H 486,098 1,298 1,400,769 805,172 162,222 184,218 - 3,039,777
Exchange adjustments BA%
Depreciation for the year Mg
Eiminated on disposals HEREH
Impaimentlossrecognizedin ~ REREANHESE
profit orloss
Eimination on transfer to ERERAMEREY
investment properties
At 31 December 2024 i 2
tZA=1+-H
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-RF
tZA=t-H
At 31 December 2023 RZZFZ=
tZA=t-A 801,641 1,123 1,010,109 693,759 34,504 105,269 160,415 2,806,820
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group received government subsidy of
RMB7,500,000 (2023: RMB633,000 as a result of its
expansion of production capacity) as a result of its
investment in equipment upgrade. The subsidy was
deducted from the costs of relevant items of
property, plant and equipment.

The Group leases out machinery and other
property (mainly warehouses which are classified
as buildings) under operating leases with rentals
payable monthly. The leases run for a period of less
than 3 years. None of the leases includes variable
lease payments.

The carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment have been allocated to following units
of groups of CGUs:

Vehicles’ power supply systems TEB RS
(“Unit A”) (TEEARLAL
Automotive components and other  JTEZ &R & E b T 3
industrial services (“Unit B"): A% ([E46B]) -
— in the PRC operations — R EEE
— in Indonesia operations — REe&iE
Commercial vehicles assembly PREE ([EfC))
(“Unit C")
Less: impairment B ORE
— Unit A — B{IA
— Unit B in the PRC operations — BRIBRAAFREZE
— Unit B in Indonesia operations — B{IBRENEZE
— UnitC — BfIC
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 E_E_NF+_A=1+—HILFE"
N5 B R & 72 &% 48 A R BT 7
Ak A R #7,500,0000T (= — =4
& K ZE 2 i UER A R %6633,0000T) ° B
A RE Y E  BE RERHEEE K
ANHHIBR

AEERBEEREHHERSEREMY
X(ZERNBERBTHRE) YRR
Al HEKEMNHRS=FU
A-MERAERSEEEMK-

ME - BEERBZEAEBCOESE
TIRCELENAES:

597,976

2,221,886
41,805

209,132

(112,565)
(100,166)
(29,248)
(22,000)
2,806,820



In view of the losses incurred by the Group over the
past few years, the management of the Group has
identified certain property, plant and equipment
has an indication of impairment loss. For the
purposes of impairment assessment, the
management of the Group estimated the
recoverable amounts for property, plant and
equipment that has indication of impairment loss
with carrying amounts of RMB549,188,000,
RMB2,109,775,000, RMB36,034,000, and
RMB111,338,000 that have been allocated to Unit
A, Unit B in the PRC operations, Unit B in Indonesia
operations and Unit C, respectively (2023:
RMB597,976,000, RMB2,221,886,000, RMB41,805,000,
and RMB209,132,000 for Unit A, Unit B in the PRC
operations, Unit B in Indonesia operations and Unit
C, respectively). The basis of the recoverable
amounts of these property, plant and equipment
and their principal underlying assumptions are
summarized below.

The estimation of recoverable amounts was based
on the value in use of CGUs to which the property,
plant and equipment belong. The value in use
calculations use cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by the management
covering an eight to ten years period, and discount
rates of 11.39%, 12.40%, 18.62% and 13.92% for Unit
A, Unit B in the PRC operations, Unit B in Indonesia
operations and Unit C, respectively (2023: 12.01%,
12.33%, 18.48% and 13.78% for Unit A, Unit B in the
PRC operations, Unit B in Indonesia operations and
Unit C, respectively), determined using Capital
Asset Pricing Model. The value in use calculations
were carried out by an independent valuer. The
cash flows for the next five years are extrapolated
using sales growth rate of 2.00% to 26.16%, 2.00% to
13.32%, 5.00% to 106.09% and 2% to 5% for Unit A,
Unit B in the PRC operations, Unit B in Indonesia

IEREEERRARAT « S -NFFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T -_F+—_A=+—HIFEF

ERAEEBRERTFRIEE A5E
FEEC#HNLETYE BEXXE
GEREBESETR LRENGETE
AEBERECMFAFEREBETR
ZUE - BEREE2TRESRE  H
EP SECEEMA BB (RAEZE)

BAB(REHEEE) REMCZRAE
o Bl A AR #549,188,000T « A R ¥
2,109,775,0007C * A K #36,034,0007T
& AR #111,338,0000C (ZE = =4
BAA BB (RPBEE) BB (R
MELEBE)REMCH B AARE
597,976,0007T * A R #2,221,886,000
7T AR %41,805,000T & A R #
209,132,0007T) - ZEWME B E M &
Erlke e ZENEFZHEBRE
BE#Lan R o

ARESENGHT—RERYE BEK
ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁfﬁéﬁiﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁ
ZETE R RS RIREEER I AEREN
E+FHRzPREEAEZEA RS
NERFREAEETERAET B
7 A %1‘15(##%@) BAIB (R
EELE)MEMCH R A11.39%
12.40% - 18.62% #M13.92% ( =& — =
FBEAA BNB(RPREE) B
B(RENE&E)REMNCH A A
12.01% - 12.33% ~ 18.48% 113.78% ) 2
MR RAE - FAEENE BB
BT -BEUA BEMUB(RPEHE
) BUB(REEZE)REfCZ
BRAEZREREN AIAEFF2.00% =
26.16% - 2.00% £13.32% - 5.00% &=
106.09% F12% 5% ( —F — = F : B
A-BUB(RPEZE) BB (R

227



WULING MOTORS HOLDINGS LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2024

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-F_MFEF A=+ —HILFE

228

operations and Unit C, respectively (2023: -7.6% to
18.09%, 3.00% to 8.93%, 5.00% to 8.00% and -53.88%
to 12.94% for Unit A, Unit B in the PRC operations,
Unit B in Indonesia operations and Unit C,
respectively) per annum, while cash flows beyond
the five-year period are all using a 2% or 5% (2023:
3% or 5%) sales growth rate. These sales growth
rates are based on the Group’s budget, future
business plan and the forecasts of the relevant
industries and do not exceed the average long-
term sales growth rate for the relevant industries.
Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculations included gross profit margins
estimated based on the units’ historical
performance and management’s expectation of
the market development.

Base on the result of the assessment, the
management of the Group determined that the
recoverable amount of Unit A is lower than its
carrying amount. Based on the value in use
calculation, impairment of RMB32,000,000 has been
recognised against the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment on Unit A (2023: Nil).
For Unit B and Unit C, the management believes
that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumption would not cause the recoverable
amount of Unit B and Unit C to fall below its
respective carrying amount.

EEE)NEMNCHAMN-7.60E
18.09% - 3.00% %8.93% * 5.00% %8.00%
#-53.88% £12.94% ) 7 $5E 1 K R i
B mMAEFHEAR RS RENHER
2% k5% (= F = = F : 3% (5% ) $H &
BREEE ZEHEEREULNEH
WTEE  RIREBKTEFMEBEITEER
TER BEE  WHEBBHEBEITE 2 TS
EHHERER - FABEFENEZ
EMEEZERIBPEEMNE @AM
REUAARELNEEEHMBEERZ
TERIMEH

ERFHER A 5EEEERABEM
AZEJJMZIEIi%Eﬁ REBREE - ERE
BEE:TE BEVAZYE BEER
1 BR T (B #E 22 R (B A R #632,000,0007T
(ZE=Z=% ) ‘ABEABNMCME
EEERR ETHZEBR2ERNEE
AP TS ERENBNEMNC 2
AT E R E AN HARE(E -
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Net book value: BRENFHE ¢
As at 31 December 2022 R=ZTB==%#
and 1 January 2023 +TZHA=t—HR
—E-_=%—HF-—H 201,091 64,688 6,760
Additions NE - 7,234 -
Transfer from investment B AR EYWE
properties 3,492 - -
Depreciation change for  FRFTEE L
the year (4,646)  (39,036) (6,760)
Transfer to investment EREI A
properties (8,749) - -
As at 31 December 2023 R=-ZE=-=#
and 1 January 2024 +TZA=+-—
—E-NFE-—
Additions NE
Depreciation change for FRFTEE L
the year
Transfer to investment ERER A
properties
As at 31 December 2024 RZ-ZE-NF
t=ZA=+-
Expense relating to leases of EHAHEREEEEN
low-value assets (note) Eﬂi (Kiat)
Total cash outflow for leases MER SRR

Note: The Group applies the recognition exemption of
right-of-use assets for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on leases of low value assets are

recognized as expense on a straight-line basis RFIX

over the lease term.

272,539
7,234

3,492

(50,442)

(8,749)

109
40,956

it AREHEEEEEAERAEM
REEERAH 2 EEEEEHED
HENRREREENHHAER
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Leasehold lands and buildings are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the term of the leases.

For both years, the Group leases leasehold lands
and buildings for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 12 months to 2 years
for buildings, and 45 to 50 years for leasehold lands.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

FAIR VALUE

1 January 2023

Transfer to property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets, net

Increase in fair value recognized in other
comprehensive income

Decrease in fair value recognized in profit or loss

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

Transfer from property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets, net

Increase in fair value recognized in other
comprehensive income

Decrease in fair value recognized in profit or loss

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2024

Investment properties located in:
Mainland China

Hh [ K o
Hong Kong ;

BB

HET W MEFUEREINEANET
e

RMEFE AEERE L METH
K& -BFHES AL A 2251
BEEHATZL MEELHOEESH
R 7452504 - T & 1R 55 7 8 Bl & 7
LW BIEEE AR R AR R
BETE M S R e A I T R E B ey R A
AEEREBEONERLEBER AR
BT 2 B

R A T H T IR B Y2

AFE
N—ZT-=F—HF—H 441,915
EREYE - HEREBEAK
FEREEE(CFHE) (3,672)
FEEMEERERERZ
NEE N 4,245
RIBRERZ A ER LD (6,144)
b 5 F 7
RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H
;=ZFZMF—-H—H
ERAME - WEREBEAK
FREEE CFE)
T E fth 2 T M s P R AR
AFER N
RIBaER 2 A FER
b R
RZZE-_WF+=-A=+—H
431,630
4,721
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notes: Bt &t -

() Al of the Group’s investment property interests held () AEERBURDESHIEEARNILE
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes BHNZHBEREMERZARART
are measured using the fair value model and are BEEREAGFE D ERARINERE
classified and accounted for as investment ME-REBREMEHLRESR
properties. The Group’s investment properties are HRE R RE - AR ERFR AR5 A o
situated in Hong Kong and the Mainland China,
and held under medium-term lease.
The Group leases out industrial and residential AEBERBCEHEAL T EREE
properties under operating leases with rentals ME HeRAXN -HEBRTVHR
payable monthly. The leases typically run for an H—FEZ=%F-
initial period of 1 to 3 years.
The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as HRAEHEYAEEEREEMNY
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are BEEKIE HAEETER Tﬂ%?
denominated in the respective functional currencies EmAZIINERB HEEHNTEE
of the Group entities. The lease contracts do not TR B EER R SAFE AL
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s RIGHEEYE EERE-
option to purchase the property at the end of lease
term.

(i)  The fair value of the Group’s investment properties (i) AEELREMER-_ZT_WF+=-A

as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023
has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on the respective dates by Jones Lang
LaSalle, an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected to the Group.

For the investment properties in Hong Kong, the
valuation was arrived at by reference to market
evidence of transaction prices for similar properties
in the similar locations and conditions. There has
been no change from the valuation technique
used for the investment properties situated in Hong
Kong in prior year. For the investment properties in
the Mainland China, the valuation was made with
reference to depreciated replacement cost
approach.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current
use.

One of the key inputs used in valuing the investment
properties in Hong Kong was the price per square
feet. For the investment properties situated in Hong
Kong, they ranged from RMB4,790 to RMB5,232
(2023: RMB4,872 to RMB5,923). A slight increase in
the price per square feet used would result in
significant increase in fair value adjustment of the
respective investment properties and vice versa.

=t+—BAER-FE_=F+-A=1—
BZa¥E THREREEYERE
ZEIHEEABRMGEMTEBITA
BINERE B EIFTET Z hETSE -

AEBREWEMS “ENZEH
U E R GHETRUNER S ERD
M REMS L - BB REMEMA
HERMAL EFIL B EMEE -5
TREAEREMEME HEHZE
BEERIEER -

R E A FER W%E‘J % = K&
RERGAERERSE

AEEAREDENA T —BEETE
BABBEASTHERER RPN
BN EMENS N TARK4790
TEARB522L(ZFE=_=F: A
R¥4,87270 = AR #5,92370) - F A
BEHERBERUASERSKED
ENFEABRKEEF  RZINK-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE T -—WF+—_A=+—HIFEF

notes: (Continued)

(i)  (Continued)

For the investment properties situated in the
Mainland China, details of significant unobservable
input are as follows:

Construction cost per square meter
— Based on the type of building structure and
taking into account market data on current
construction costs for similar properties
located in nearby cities
B FHORBRERAR
— RBEFHEB AT RO R AB I T 2 S
Y% BRI RER A2 T5E
Economic life of buildings
— Taking into account the estimated useful
life of buildings depending on the building
structure
& T4 5 B
— A RIBBEFEBRT 2 BTG A B

The fair value hierarchy of the Group’s investment
properties as at 31 December 2024 are categorized

as Level 3.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during

the year.
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(ii)

From RMB1,364
to RMB3,151

AR#1,364TE
AR¥E3,1517T

Over the

remaining
lease terms

R HHA

(%)

(%)

HREUNFERENRENENS &
AP BEBABBFITNOT :

The higher the construction
cost per square meter, the
higher-the fair value

FEHKRERAYR  2FE
B

The longer the useful life, the

higher the fair value

AfEAFERHEE R FEES

RZZE-—WE+=ZA=+—H &
BEREMEZATFERNBE=H-

FA-BEE=FEAREL-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Cost of unlisted investments in B NrEl2IELTRE
associates AR

Share of post-acquisition loss and FEAE U RE 14 B 18 I Eo At
other comprehensive expense FHEMX

Dividend received from an associate J& & A 7] 2 A% 8

Release upon disposal of an i B B N B R AR BR
associate (note i) (Btati)

note i:  On 25 March 2024, the Group sold 40% of its B aEi

equity in Liuzhou Leadrive Electronic Control
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Liuzhou Leadrive”). After
that, the Group no longer has a material
influence on Liuzhou Leadrive.

BE T -_F+—_A=+—HIFEF

867,786

(95,626)
(1,800)

770,360

P RZZEZNF=A=+HH K&
EHEERNERSERZER
A A (TN R ) #940% AR 4 1t
%O AEBHNMNERTITBEEA

=77
52
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Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the REEHR RNEBE 2B E R RFBN
reporting period are as follows: TS

Faurecia (Liuzhou) Automotive ~ The PRC 50.00% 42.86% Manufacture
Seating Co., Limited (note 1) and sale of
(“FL Seating”) accessories of

motor vehicles

FER N SEEBERRR  H 50.00% 42.86% BERHEAE
(THhE AR ]) (Hat1) [

Faurecia (Liuzhou) Automotive ~ The PRC 50.00% 40.00% Manufacture
Interior Systems Co., Limited (note 1) and sale of
(“FL Interior”) accessories of

motor vehicles

BEE M) AERBHRRAER & 50.00% 40.00% BEEREERE
REl([BEEAH]) (Hat1) [

Faurecia (Liuzhou) Emissions The PRC 50.00% 40.00% Manufacture
Control Technologies Co., Ltd. (note 1) and sale of
(“FL Emissions”) accessories of

motor vehicles

FER N FREIRITER P 50.00% 40.00% HERHFEAE
RAE([HEEHR]) (Hit1) [

Liuzhou Leadrive Electronic The PRC 40.00% 40.00% Manufacture
Control Technology Co., Ltd. (note i) and sale of
(“Liuzhou Leadrive”) accessories of

motor vehicles

INERERRRARAF h 40.00% 40.00% BEERFERE
(THINEREE]) (Hati) [

Liuzhou Wuling New Energy The PRC 26.76% 28.57% Manufacture
Motors Company Limited (note 1) and sale of
(“Wuling New Energy”) new energy

vehicles

MMRZEHERTERRAR i 26.76% 2857% BUERHEEMER
(ThZ#eR]) (Kt 1) ik
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Note 1:

In accordance with the memorandum and
articles of the entities, relevant activities of the
entity requires consent with simple majority in the
board of directors. The Group is able to appoint
two out of seven directors, three out of seven
directors, two out of five directors and two out of
five directors in the board of the Wuling New
Energy, FL Seating, FL Interior and FL Emissions,
respectively, thus the Group is only able to
exercise significant influence in the entities. As a
result, Wuling New Energy, FL Seating, FL Interior
and FL Emissions are accounted for as associates
at the end of the reporting period.

The associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

IEREEEERARA

s “E_MFFIH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

KtaEa -

B =

2
N 2

7

BE—F-_ME+-_A=1—HIFE

BEZEEBORERBR ZF
ERNEHEDTRETEHES
BEREB -AEEUSHEERE
LR HEEER EEAM
TEHREFSLREZTH
ME tREEFPHN=F AKE
ETOMERARESETHME
At A EEEESZERRITHE
FEN B AEMER S
TEE HEDAMREET TR
R EREBRARS REE QA

EPESR=NuEr B AL v
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS B I BRI EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BEoFE-mFET=—A=1—HIEFE

15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15. REEZE DR 2 2% (&)

Summarized financial information of the AEEBLEARPMEERBE (&)
Group’s associates (Continued)

Summarized financial information in respect of the REEEE QS HEERBEESHSN AT
Group’s associates are set out below.

2024 2023
o a3 Bk
R R Fl Wuling New fl fl fl Livzhou ~ Wuling New
Seating Interior Emissions Energy Seating Interior Emissions Leadrive Energy

BEZER  BEEAN  BETHR  RENMR | BEDER REDAD  BEEER  WIEE iR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMBU00 RMB000 RMBOOO RMBOOO RMB000
ARBTT  ARETT  ARETT  ARMTL | AREFr  ARETR  AREEr  ARETR  ARETR
(note ) (note )
(W) ()

Financial information of statement of profit B REf2 AU EEZZ
orloss and other comprehensive income  GEEH

Revenue WA 584,609 324,670 296,333 1,016,937 275,562 369,991 384,213 67,211 85475
(Loss profit and total comprehensive ERBRENRRERR)

(expense) income for the year hasE (30,655) 43,664 400 (269,449) (36,489) 4,368 4798 (19076)  (298110)
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive FEBEEFA(BR) AT

(expense) income for the year REE(FR) halE

attrbutable to the Group (15328) 2182 0 00 (18248) 2118 239 60 (o)
Dividends received flom associates duing ~ £REKBEAT ZfkE

the year - (23591) - - = (1,800) - - -
Financial information of statement of R FEH

financial positon

Non-curent asses FReaE 49266 51902 43568 2207874 65,530 63305 55472 84 204092
Curent assets R9EE 451,026 461111 2493 1351084 20418 458,181 393071 16257 1377788
Cunent liabiities il (1053 (729 (ML19) (13B070) (2130 (M52 (7851 (108931  (1,1088%9)
Non-curent abilties FiEaR (7.324) (1,440) (6080)  (503707) (52246) (3.168) (9650) - (538430
Net assets of the associates BENR FEE 51,745 269510 12138 1,760,181 82400 273,026 120,082 45150 1754514
The above amounts of assets and labiities ~ Hi BER & ESERR

include the folowing: THIEE:

Cash and cash equivalents ReRELZERE 30,991 212,108 64,848 567,632 35,388 200,484 88,014 9,105 696,008
Cunent fivancial liabites (excluding rade &4 5 & E(TRREME

and other payables and provisions) AREMERTERER) - - - - = = = = =
Reconcilition to the camying amountsof BB AFEAEREL

interests n the associates: H%:

Net assets attibutable to the equity holders B2 AR5 ARl

of the associates BETE 51,745 269,510 64,848 1,760,181 82,400 213,026 120942 45150 1,754,514
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interests  ZEEREEAF 2

inthe associates fERRESID 50% 50% 50% 25.1% 50% 50% 50% 40% 2%.76%
Net assets of interestsin the associates REBRERNBENTL

attibutable to the Group ERTAE 5813 134,755 60,671 452367 41,200 136513 60471 18,060 469508
Fair value adjustment (note) AYERR ) - - - - - - - (3:324) 2714
Goodwil i - - - 27,669 = = = - 4518
Canying amounts of the Group'snterestsin ~ ZEERBE AT

the associates EEE 25813 134,755 60,671 480,035 41,200 136513 60471 14736 517440
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Note:

On 30 November 2022, the Company and Wuling
Industrial completed the acquisition of 13.76% and
13.51% interests in Liuzhou Wuling New Energy
Motors Company Limited respectively, through a
capital increase agreement, pursuant to which (i)
the Company made a cash contribution of
RMB305,600,000 to Wuling New Energy and (ii)
Wouling Industrial completed the capital contribution
of RMB300,000,000 to Wuling New Energy by way of
the injection of certain related assets and
equipment at value of RMB84,866,000 and a cash
contribution of RMB215,134,000. On 28 February
2023 and 31 May 2023, the other shareholders paid
up registered capital, which caused dilution of the
Group’s equity share of Wuling New Energy as of 31
December 2023.

In September 2023, Wuling New Energy proposed a
fund raising exercise for a maximum amount of
RMB1,000,000,000, pursuant to which the formal
agreement was entered into on 16 January 2024
among Wuling New Energy, the Company, Guangxi
Automobile, the other existing shareholders and
three third party investors for a capital injection of a
total amount of RMB390,000,000 into Wuling New
Energy. Amongst which, RMB360,000,000 would be
contributed by the three third party investors,
whereas, the Company would contribute the
remaining RMB30,000,000, which was subsequently
completed on 30 January 2024. The other capital
contributions from the three third party investors
under this fund raising exercise took place during
the year ended 31 December 2024 caused further
dilution of the Group’s equity share of Wuling New
Energy as of 31 December 2024.

e
Al/‘l.

EEEZRARDT « —F_MFFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BE—F-_ME+-_A=1—HIFE

X

RZTEZ—ZF+—A=+H AAR
MAZETEBEBREEHZED BT
BOMAZHERAESRAQ A
13.76% ;& 13.51% #Ez - #R UL () A A

AIMAZEHFERIERSE ARK
305,600,0007T & (i) i ZE T 25 1BF A
B8 A R#84,866,0007T ) & T 10 7
BEEREBERIABEARE
215,134,0007T FE K M) T Z ¥ RS IR #9)%
& AR #300,000,0000T- AT ==
FZ_AZ+TNBRZZTE=Z=FHA
=+—H HEMBRFEHRAMER &
BHE-_ZTE-_=F+=-A=+—8%
SERENAETERRERERE-

REZBEZ=FNA AEHERES
#E1THR =< A ARM1,000,000,000
Emﬁﬁ/ﬁﬁ T)%Uit ﬁ%‘ b/ﬁ $
AEEAARE -HMRERRR=F
FZHREER -_ZE-_WE—A+X

BRmMAEZFERIESAEARK
390,000,000 7] 2 IE R sk e Hp A
IR #360,000,000t B =HE =71
BEHE MARRBEERTAR
#30,000,0007T ' AR =T M F —
A=+tHREK - #BE-_T_NF+=
A=+—HLEFE ZRFE=7KA&
ERBAXREAFHELOHEMDE
BEHRAESER-_ZT-_NF+=A
=t+—BAREREFERNEZDE
HE—SHE
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Cost of unlisted investments in joint RELRRIMNIELTIRE

venture B

Share of post-acquisition loss and FEAE U B 18 B 18 I Ho At
other comprehensive expense 2EXH

Dividend received from a joint B EE R RIIRE
venture

Release upon disposal of a joint HEAERaERER
venture (note |) (Btati)

note i;  On 25 November 2024, the Group sold 23.08% of Hieti

its equity in Qingdao Lanqi Liuji Motors
Technology Company Limited (“Qingdao Langi”).
After that, the Group no longer has a joint
control or material influence on Qingdao Lanqi.

166,469

(42,529)

(3,500)

120,440

RZE-_NE+—A=Z+HH &
SEHEENESEBEE SR
BEBERARA([ESEE]I)N
23.08% IR W1 AEBMEES
EETHAERREHKERTE -



Details of the Group’s joint ventures at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

Guangxi Weixiang Machinery The PRC
Company Limited
(“Guangxi Weixiang ")

BREEAERERAF HE
([EREA])

Liuzhou Wuda Motor Parts The PRC
Company Limited.

(“Liuzhou Wuda”")

MM REREHEERAR e
(TN EE])

Liuzhou AAM Automotive The PRC
Transmission System Co., Ltd
(“AAM JV")

INEBAEEDERERRE  HE
(IXBRE)

Note:

(i) The joint ventures are jointly controlled by the Group
and other shareholders by virtue of contractual
arrangements among shareholders which requires
more than two-third shareholders’ approval for
major business decisions. Therefore, they are
classified as joint ventures of the Group.

50%

50%

60%

60%

50%

50%

IEREEERRKRARAT « T -WFFK

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-—F_MFF—A=1—HILFE

ZBERAFHEBL

-
B
Off
&
A
b
oA
JiE

50% Manufacture
and sale of
automotive
components

50% SERHEN
TH

60% Manufacture
and sale of
automotive
components

60% BUERIHENE
EH

50% Manufacture
and sale of
automotive
components

50% BUERIHESRE
T

Hiat -

() BERATAIHAEERHEAMRRIER
REzHE L EREG HEE
$/”ﬁﬁtﬂ*“z BB
At 8@ ARSBEAREE G

AR
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All of these joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements. For the year ended December 31,
2024, the Group’s share of the results of joint
ventures recorded an aggregate net loss of
RMB3,508,000. Due to the severe adverse market
situation, AAM JV continued to register operating
losses during the year. In view of this, the partners of
AAM JV had resolved during the year to cease its
operations. Consequently, AAM JV is no longer
considered a material joint venture.

Unlisted investment:; JELTIRE
— Equity security — BB 3%‘

The directors of the Company have elected to
designate the interest in Liuzhou Lingte as equity
instrument at FVTOCI as it is not held for trading.

Raw materials R
Work in progress e m
Finished goods BIRK

During the year ended 31 December 2024, a
reversal of write-down of inventories amounting to
RMB27,725,000 was included in cost of inventories.
(2023: write-down of RMB5,056,000).
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FIB#ZEGERal HiRER AR A
%?/a\ﬂﬂ%#&i% HE-_ZT-_mF+= ﬂ
=+ —BLEFE - AEEERGLGEER
EESBEFEIBA E ARMS 508, ooo
TLoHRBREN NN TMERE R E
ERAFERFERSEEBEE-FER
I EBEEMNAEBRAERFERNZRRLK

ZiE-A XBEETHERAE
REERFA] -

42,765

ARBEFCEERIMNERREETE
REAFEFAEMBEERANER T
B RESEYIFFHIEEE -

511,979
88,721
205,703

806,403

REEZZT-_NF+-_A=+—HIEF
€ FEMORE B A A R 27,725,000
T (ZZF = = F : #Us A R #5,056,000
TL)ETAGTERA



FEUCRSR -
*thﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂxf BR
AR([ERBRARE])
—ERREEE(REHER

Trade receivables:

— SAIC-GM-Wuling Automobile Co.,
Limited ("SGMW")

— Guangxi Automobile Group (other than

Wuling New Energy) BRAN)
— Wuling New Energy — AZEHR
— Guangxi Weixiang — EREA
— FL Seating — BETER
— FL Interior — BE A
— FL Emissions — HEDER
— Liuzhou Leadrive — W B
— Qingdao Langq — BBEE
— Third parties —%=5
Less: Allowance for credit losses H EEEBBREE
Subtotal Nt
Other receivables H AR IE
Less: Allowance for credit losses H EEEREE
Subtotal NG
Prepayments BNRE
Value-added tax recoverable A eI ER

Total trade and other receivables

YRR R At R A%

notes:

(a) Guangxi Automobile has significant influence over
SGMW.

(b) Being Guangxi Automobile and its subsidiaries and
associates other than the Group and SGMW
(collectively referred to as the “Guangxi Automobile
Group”).

(c) Guangxi Weixiang is a joint venture of the Group. As

of December 31, 2024, Qingdao Langi ceased to
be a joint venture, with the corresponding year-end
balances reclassified under third-party accounts.

e
Al/‘l.

EEEZRARDT « —F_MFFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BE—F-_ME+-_A=1—HIFE

@
1,460,360
(b)
8,385
(d) 97,465
(c) -
(d) 1,508
(d) 6,829
(d) 16,165
(d) 8
) 13,833
1,233,823
2,838,376
(100,843)
2,737,533
@) 117,582
(6,885)
110,697
62,719
15,865
2,926,814
Fitas :
(@) BEAEYH TRMAEEEAYE
Ik
(b) BEAASEUNREMBARKREZA
A(AREBE R ERBRARAERN) (&
WIERASESE]) -
(c) EABAARAEENESERR -EHZE

“ZONE+-_A=+—H BFBE
ETHEMERF FEREENH
BEE=71KPT-
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notes: (Continued)

(d) Wuling New Energy, FL Seating, FL Interior and FL
Emissions are associates of the Group. As of
December 31, 2024, Liuzhou Leadrive ceased to be
an associate, with the corresponding year-end
balances reclassified under third-party accounts.

(e) Included in other receivables are amount due from
Guangxi Automobile of RMB123,160,000 (2023:
RMB55,920,000). The amount is rebate
compensation for purchasing electric vehicles
spare parts (e.g. automotive battery) from Guangxi
Automobile.

The Group allows credit period of 30 days to 180
days for sales of goods to its trade customers.

An ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of
allowance for credit losses) presented based on
the invoice date is as follows:

0-90 days 0Z90H
91-180 days 917% 180 A
181-365 days 181 £ 365 H
Over 365 days 183 365 H

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s
trade receivables balance are debtors with
aggregate carrying amount of RMB199,840,000
(2023: RMB255,968,000) which are past due at the
end of the reporting period. Out of the past due
balances, RMB24,207,000 (2023: RMB39,554,000)
has been past due 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default since these balances
could be recovered based on the repayment
history and the current creditworthiness of these
customers. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and
other receivables for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in note 36(b)(iii).

Hiat: (%)

() BEHER- BETER BEERH
ETHAARREZBERT
RE-F-ME+=A=+—8 #
NEBTERAEAR TEBEE
HAREE=HEF T

(e) EfMEWREREREKERTER
AR #123,160,0007T (= E = = ¢
55,920,0007T) ° i & B AR E AT HE
BEEYTETHRM (W REEM)
3R FI # 18 o

ﬂﬂ§

AEERBEEEMHR TH
180 2= EHf-

B 5 RF30E

BREZAM2I ZEKER (IKEE
Eﬂéﬁé‘ﬁ),ﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁffmu—r :

2,612,208
90,662
20,193
14,470

2,737,533

RZBE-_WNFE+=-_A=+—H A%£E
ZEBEREASTEEREREAAR
#199,840,000t (T —=F: AR
255,968,0007T) 2 MR & B R E @ E 2
FlEBE RAafgsr AR
24,207,000 (ZE—=ZF: AR
39,554,0007T ) E #8190 H =k A £ - M &
NZERFZEBFRGCHLERIZERE
ZEEHRDA FWREE SRR
R - ANEBMUERZELEHBTEEM
ARG o

HE_T-_MF+-_A=+—HILFE "
JRE Uk B 3% K EL 4th B U 5K T8 RO R E SR (A A
15 SR FE36(b)(iii) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e B IS SRR b EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_E_NEF A=+ —HIFE

20. BILLS RECEIVABLES AND BILLS
RECEIVABLE AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

20. AAF{EFT AHth 2 U
HNEVRBRREKRRER

2024 2023
—E-ME =ZE= =t
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREFr
Bills receivable at FVTOCI (note i): AR EFAEMEE
Wasr W R &R (A -
— SGMW — bRBRRE 210,441 153,645
— Guangxi Automobile Group — ERREEE
(other than Wuling New Energy) (RZEFERBRIN) 7,533 15,917
— Wuling New Energy — AZEHEER 18,684 597
— Guangxi Weixiang — EFEEH 1,986 -
— FL Seating — FE AR - 13,124
— Third parties — %= 250,370 222,812
489,014 406,095
Bills receivable discounted with BB =4 2 B BRI R
recourse (note i) S (Hatii) 2,444,371 3,263,321
2,933,385 3,669,416
notes: HEE -
() Bills receivable represent bills received from () EBUREREBEERT P YELASEE E R

customers to settle the trade receivables. The bills
receivable are mainly bank acceptance bills with a
primary maturity period of less than 180 days. The
ageing analysis based on the date of receipt of bills
from customers is as follow:

ERZEB - BRRBEAZREEE
HIR D R180K M IRIT AL IE R » IR IR
WEEFPREE R 27 2RI D0

T:

2024 2023

—EBlEF R =

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARB¥Frx AR TFT

0-90 days 0£290H 448,148 339,641
91-180 days 91%180H 40,866 66,454
489,014 406,095
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notes: (Continued)

(i)  The amounts represent bills receivable discounted
to some banks or Guangxi Automobile with recourse
with a primary maturity period of less than 180 days.
The Group recognizes the full amount of the
discount proceeds as liabilities as set out in note 27.

The ageing analysis based on the date of receipt of
bills from customers is presented as follows:

0-90 days
91-180 days

0%90H
91%180H

Details of impairment assessment of bills receivables
and bills receivable at FVTOCI are set out in note
36(b)(iii).

The following are the Group’s financial assets as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 that are transferred to
banks or Guangxi Automobile by discounting those
receivables on a full recourse basis. As the Group
has not transferred the significant risks and rewards
relating to these receivables, it continues to
recognize the full carrying amount of the
receivables and has recognized the cash received
on the transfer as a secured borrowing.

ffat: (4&)

(i) ZeBEHTBORITIERREN
L%%ZE%E%W%E’IR%%
180H A EI HA - 2N & & an it sE27F7 8 1%
RS ER R AR E:

BEWIEFEEEBZYZHRED
W

1,404,202
1,859,119

3,263,321

FEWEE R AT EFAEMEmKES
ZEWER ZRET G FBH N
36(b)(ii) °

UNTAEREER-_ZT-_MFR_FT=_=
F+-_A=+—BHZzemMEE FBE
Bt 2 BB R B AEAL IR % S E WA M)
ZRI[ITHEARAEEE - HRAEE
WEEEZ SR IERE 2 EARR
e EEE SR ERIEZR
A - Wik A KIS B iR U
ZHE o



Bills receivable discounted to banks or Guangxi
Automobile with full recourse:

Book value of transferred assets HEEENREEER

Carrying amount of associated B EREE
liabilities

Net position SHEAST

The pledged bank deposits are used to secure the
bills payable and short-term bank borrowings which
are payable within one year. Accordingly, the
pledged bank deposits are classified as current
assets. Bank balances and cash comprise deposits
with banks with the original maturity of three
months or less and cash at bank and on hand.

The pledged bank deposits and bank balances
carried interest rates as follows:

Pledged deposits Fixed/Variable
EERTFR e 2R
Bank balances Fixed/Variable
IRITHEER S/ 28

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank
deposits and bank balances are set out in note
36(b).

IEREEERRARAT « S -NFFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T -_F+—_A=+—HIFEF

BN 2BERBELERAZ FIRTTHER
BB BWERE

3,263,321

(3,274,069)
(10,748)

BEEHRITEXDARSER—FRAE
BZENZBREMRITEEERER
At EERRITERDBERRBDEE -
RITHEREACEEHRIABE L=
AT ZSRTERRBITREFRS -

BEERIRITERRIRITAERILATH R
AR

0.20%-1.85%

0.05%—6.60%

EERRITER R IRITAERERE A
FHIFE N M EE36(b)
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Trade and bills payables: JERBR TR BT R 4% -
— SGMW — FABARE
— Guangxi Automobile — EAAREEE

Group
— FL Seating — 3 E R
— FL Interior — B AR
— FL Emissions — HhE EHER
— Liuzhou Leadrive P EES
— Other related parties — HAbRaER
— Third parties —$=x

Value added and other AT T RIB R HE A
tax payables FEIBITR

Accrued research and FEETHEE R
development expenses

Accrued staff costs JEETB TAA

Deposits received from suppliers WELHE ERIZ S

Other payables H A eI EIR

Total trade and other payables &< IR 3K H 1+

IR

@
101,751

44,805
40,875
49,549
22,778
11,235
11,887
5,389,234

5,672,114
38,736
148,287
116,512

57,586
136,122

6,169,357



X
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(CY

An ageing analysis of trade and bills payables
based on the invoice date is presented as follows:

Trade payables

23.

A BRI ELAth PB4 TR TE (40

et

() RAZRBHM2IZENEREENER

EARE DM T :

FE 13 BRI

2024 2023
—E-MEF ———
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFIT
0 to 90 days 0Z£90H 2,171,127 2,474,464
91 to 180 days 91%180H 32,211 105,269
181 to 365 days 181%365H 121,851 57,051
Over 365 days B 8365H 78,206 120,195
2,403,395 2,756,979

Bills payable ENRE
2024 2023
—EBo@EF —EC-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR FT
0 to 90 days 0£90H 911,002 1,315,487
91 to 180 days 91%180H 1,214,745 1,599,648
2,125,747 2,915,135
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Sales of engines
Sales of specialized vehicles
Use of technology knowhow

HEZEH
HEEMAE
A P A 1t RN 28k

Current BN &R

Non-current

SERNES

Contract liabilities, that are expected to be realised
or settled within the Group’s normal operating
cycle, are presented as current based on the
Group’s earliest obligation to transfer goods or
services to the customers.

Revenue of RMB143,368,000 (2023: RMB147,413,000)
has been recognized in current year that was
included in the contract liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year.

notes:

CY

(b)

The Group receives prepayments from customers
when signing the sale and purchase agreements.
This will give rise to contract liabilities at the
execution of a contract, until the revenue is
recognized on relevant contracts. The balance will
be recognized as revenue for the year ending 31
December 2025 (2023: 31 December 2024).

The Group has granted New Long Ma right to
access certain technology knowhow of the Group
in certain designated regions or countries for 15
years since 2013 at a consideration of
RMB22,000,000. The balance is recognized as other
income over 15 years when New Long Ma has been
granted the right to access certain technology
knowhow of the Group. An amount of RMB1,466,000
(2023: RMB1,466,000) is recognized during the year
ended 31 December 2024 which was included in
the contract liability balance at the beginning of
the year.

(a) 21,263
(a) 122,105
(b) 6,540
149,908
143,368
6,540
149,908
FEHeNAEE EERLBHNEIR

HBEEZANBBENREAKERER
EEARARBZREEBREN /A

o

AAFVIZEHNEBEESRHARE
143,368,000t (—E - =F: AR
147,413,0000) ER A FEER B MK

Ao

UES

Gy

(b)

REERRTEE BERRE P I
A5 ROR < 1k B S C%Ejé.\ibﬁqéét
ERNABE BEERRBBHESLHZKRA
A1 FEER S TR E)é&i;?;ﬂﬁz
TZA=+—H(ZE=_=F: =%
“HE+ZA=t+—B)LEFEZR
Ac

AEBMERTFHESFSEN LUEER
CSERETFHETHERERZE TR
Tz a - =—FRAHR+AF"
KRB A A R #22,000,0007T ° 3% & 847
HESERENNERAEB ZET
BT A A5 F B R A E MU A
HE-Z-_MF+-—A=+—HItF
EE#ReEARML466,0007T (=
%:zir)\i%gueeoooﬂ Z&
BOFAFVNEHNBBLEHT -



Lease liabilities payable: (Note a)

Within 1 year —F AR

After 1 year but within 2 years —F A LB R
Mz B A

After 2 years but within 5 years M LA BT 4B iE
hFZHER

Less: Amount due for settlement with
12 months shown under current
liabilities

Amount due for settlement after 12

months shown under non-current
liabilities

BMEE 2508

Note:

(a) Included in lease liabilities are amount due to
Guangxi Automobile of RMB49,331,000 (2023:
RMB52,748,000).

IEREEERRARAT « S -NFFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T -_F+—_A=+—HIFEF

ENHEERIE - (Hita)

57,183

102

1
57,286

B mBIBEET12@AR
BIEsEE 2 TR

(57,183)

FRBABET12EA%

103
X
() MEARGEENRESERAAR

#49,331,000 (ZZE - =F: AR
52,748,0007C ) °

At 31 December 2022 R-ZB_—_#+-A=+—H 87,152
Additional provision in the year NEZ IR 62,048
Utilization of provision B (43,719)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 HR-ZE-_=F+_HA=1+—Hxk

—EMFE—
Additional provision in the year RN EIBIRRME
Utilization of provision AR

At 31 December 2024

The Group provides warranty of certain periods to
its customers on engines and engines related parts,
automotive components and accessories and
specialized vehicles, under which any product
defects are repaired or replaced. The amount of
the provision for the warranty is estimated based
on sales volumes and past experience of the level
of repairs and returns. The estimation basis is
reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where
appropriate.

RAR—H

RZZE-_WFE+=-A=+—H”

AEBEEDH ERHEABM T
BTG RMERERIERNETFRE
HETHEZRE  BATHREER
HeEkeh RERBERIREH
ENMBEEERENREFER G
APEEREELRT REEE RIERED

fE5T
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27.

250

FoEF—A=Z1+—HILFEE

BANK BORROWINGS/ADVANCES
DRAWN ON BILLS RECEIVABLE
DISCOUNTED WITH RECOURSE

Notes

S

27. RITEE WEREZERR

B RRFT RN B K

2024
—EMF

RMB’000
ARETT

2023
—E-=F
RMB’'000
ARETT

Bank borrowings RITHEE 2,980,139 2,310,799
Analysis of bank borrowings: RITEBEDIT -
Secured AR 165,564 47,808
Unsecured AR 2,814,575 2,262,991
2,980,139 2,310,799
Less: Amounts due within 12 BomBafEE N =
months shown under &8 AEIH 2
current liabilities I (1,857,777) (1,276,201)
Amounts shown under ERMBAEE T ZIE
non-current liabilities 1,122,362 1,034,598
Advances drawn on bills WEREz BRLIRELR 0]
receivable discounted with FIRFTIRERE R
recourse 2,448,817 3,274,069




Notes:

0)

(ii)

(iii)

(V)

The amount represents the Group’s bank borrowings
secured by bills receivable discounted to banks
with recourse of RMB2,448,817,000 (2023:
RMB3,274,069,000) carry fixed interest at 0.4% to
2.0% (2023: 0.3% to 2.2%) per annum. And there was
no bank borrowings secured by bills receivable
discounted to Guangxi Automobile for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also
equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group'’s
borrowings are as follows:

Effective interest rate per annum: BRFRE:
Fixed-rate borrowings EEMEEE
Variable-rate borrowings FENEEE

The collaterals for the Group’s secured bank
borrowings are set out in note 31.

The Group’s unsecured bank borrowings at 31
December 2024 was supported by corporate
guarantee to the extent of RMB1,000,000,000 (2023:
RMB1,000,000,000) given by Guangxi Automobile.

IEREEERRKRARAT « T -WFFK

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T -_F+—_A=+—HIFEF

st

() ZRBEBEASENAGEREMIRT
B 35 /9 JE M 2= 3R A R #52,448,817,000
T (ZZE =4 AR¥3,274,069,000
T)KBTEE BEFENEAE04%E
2.0% (Z T = =4:0.3%F2.2%) &
E-FT_NF+_A=1+—HILFE"
WEABIRTFREESEZ EKEEIE
R ZRITEE (T -=F &)

(iy AKBEREZEEAMNE(FESRE
B BRI :

0.01-3.4%
0.1-3.5%

(i) FEARAEEEEARTERERE
ERFBENMESL -

vy, XEER-_ZT-_HWOFE+-A=+—H
ZEBHRTEEREAIBMAT
Z A A &R # A R %1,000,000,0007T
(ZZ=—=%: AR%1,000,000,0005T)
e H5 o
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28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 28. IBEMIEAE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities RAFERBEFEBRRNEZRER
(assets) recognized and movements thereon HaE(BE) REEHWT:

during the current and prior years:

Withholding
tax on
undistributed  Fixed asset
earnings one-time
Revaluation of the PRC deduction

of properties  subsidiaries before tax

FERBAT — Rt

A MREBH MRATE
WEER ok bl EE&E st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARKTT

At 1 January 2023 R-Z-_=F—H—H 8,980 21,155 - 30,135
(Credit) charge to profit REERET GEA) Mk
or loss (1,392 3,787 - 2,395

Revaluation resulting fromthe ~ R#1% - BiE K&
change from property, plant AR fEBEEES
and equipment and right-of- ~ EAREMEESE

use assets to investment RER

properties 637 - - 637
At 31 December 2023 and RIBZ=F+-A=t—

1January 2024 Ak=—Z-mF&—A—H 8,225 24,942 - 33,167
Released upon distribution of AR S EH K

dividends - (1,420) - (1,420)
(Credit) charge to profit REET GEA) 1k

or loss (3,795) 4,726 7,594 8,525

Revaluation resulting fromthe ~ E#% - BiE &R
change from property, plant WA REREEES
and equipment and right-of- ~ EARENEEE

use assets to investment RIEf,
properties 1,428 - - 1,428
At 31 December 2024 RZEZMF
+-A=1+—~H 5,858 28,248 7,594 41,700
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notes: HiEE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
unused tax losses of RMB389,297,000 (2023:
RMB412,496,000). No deferred tax asset was
recognized in respect of tax losses as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognized tax losses are losses of
RMB141,310,000 (2023: RMB120,810,000) that will
expire by 2029 (2023: 2028). Other tax losses of
RMB303,996,000 (2023: RMB291,688,000) may be
carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group also
had unrecognized deferred tax assets in relation to
deductible temporary differences mainly
associated with impairment losses on trade and
other receivables and property, plant and
equipment amounting to RMB411,609,000 (2023:
RMB371,707,000).

Under the CIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits
earned by the PRC subsidiary from 1 January 2008
onwards. Deferred taxation has been fully provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of withholding tax on undistributed earnings
of the PRC subsidiaries.

RBEHR AEEEADAREE
1B AR #389,297,0007T (ZE = =4:
AR #412,496,000) - A =T = UF [
—T-=F+-fA=+—8 #BEHR
MEBEERETCHBEE BAE
52 TEBI R B FI SRR o oK WE SR B I B
BReEEER S -_AF (T -_=
FZEZN\F)IBHZEBARE
141,310,000t (ZZE = =F: ARH
120,810,0007T) * b HEIE AR
303,996,000 (Z T = =F: ARH
291,688,000 ) A 4 PR A A% 65 o

R E R AEE A AT 1R G
Z 5 (& Z 6 U AR 3R R i FE R
B BEREEZREBEEH)
BHRZABRELCHEEEARE
411,609,000 (ZZT = =F: AR
371,707,0007T ) °

REFEEEMEHRE B _FFN
F—H—Bi2AR S BB QR R
2 M AT E RSB TRN T - 2 5L
HEMEARARDIREN ZAMBAE
A M HRBBIELRETIRER -

There was no other significant unprovided deferred INEE JE S e e HA R T A Lt B K OR B
taxation for the year or at the end of the reporting HEIEERIE -
period.
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Authorized:

Ordinary shares of HKD0.004 each (note i)

Balance at 1 January 2023, 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2024

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HKD0.004 each
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023,
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024

EE
FAYEE0.004 8 T 2 EiA@ MK
(Kiati)

RZE_=%—HF—H"

—E-=F+-B=+—-HK

ZEZNFE+ZA=+—H
ZiE5k
ERTREHR :
SAHEE0.004 B T2 L@
R-ZZE-=%—HF—H-

—F-=£+-A=+-A-

“F-EF-A-AR
“Z-mF+=A=1+—H

Shown in the consolidated financial P& HR 2 4R E 7S
statements at the end of the B E LTI
reporting period
(i) By the respective ordinary resolutions passed (@

by the shareholders of the Company in the
Company’s annual general meeting held on

254

16 June 2022: (i) the 1,521,400,000 authorised
but unissued convertible preference shares of
par value HK$0.001 each of the Company
were consolidated into 380,350,000
consolidated convertible preference shares
of par value HK$0.004 each of the Company;
and (ii) the 380,350,000 authorised but
unissued consolidated convertible preference
shares of par value HK$0.004 each of the
Company were reclassified as 380,350,000
ordinary shares of par value HK$0.004 each of
the Company.

25,380,350,000 101,521
101,521

3,298,161,332 13,193
11,782

BERAANBREN T - —F X
A+7"BBHAMNARARKRERF
A LBBNSETBERAER ()
1,521,400,000/% A~ A~ 7] & X H (&
0.0017% JT K% FE (B R B 1T ] A iR
8 £ B & $f 5380,350,000/% A8 A
7] 9 I% E {B0.004/8 TR & A 4 7]
% 8 % B% I (i) 380,350,000/%
QX B &A% E0.0047 TTHIVA T
BARETHEE FITRRE LR
& ¥ 9 $8 /380,350,0000% A< 2 ]
& M 1B0.00478 T A 5@ A% o
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30. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 30. EARKRIE

2024 2023
—EIE —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETFT AREFT

Capital expenditure contracted for ~ FtUEELA T SIEE H 4B

but not provided in the RGBS mRBE
consolidated financial statements - . N
in respect of acquisition of:
— Construction in progress —EEIRE 100,128 86,126
— Property, plant and equipment — W BB KEE 79,940 88,861
180,068 174,987
31. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 3. EEKH
At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s RMERR AEECRITEERERN
bank borrowings and bills payable were secured EBRTIATYEBEER

by the following:

2024 2023

—EomE —E 4

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARBTFT

Bank deposits RITER 453,143 528,997

Total BEt 453,143 528,997
As at 31 December 2024, bills receivable RZE-_NF+=-_A=+—H HBER
discounted with recourse amounting to B2EMBAREEBRBRAREK
RMB2,444,371,000 (2023: RMB3,263,321,000). 2,444,371,000 (ZZE=Z=F: AR

3,263,321,0007T ) ©
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The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the
Mainland China are members of a state-managed
retirement benefit scheme operated by the
government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute fixed percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to
make the specified contributions.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong (the “MPF Scheme”). The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The
Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to
the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by
employees.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of
RMB78,369,000 (2023: RMB85,685,000) represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the
Group in respect of the year ended 31 December
2024.

AEBZHBERENBRAREERTHE
BT 1 2 Bl K B AR IR A AT 81 2 B
B-ZEWMBRARARETERAET
B0 L AR ORAR AU AT B4R 3R DA
B RRHN - ALK B ZERKRENG
B oE—BEDELEEMRR

AEETREBAEREBEENTS
HIMEATEEE ([@ERsTE])  &E
TRECEERAREEESHER
VYHEFAZENHZEEHF-AEEE
7% 18 B8 T & X AN5% 1 /358 18 & 5t &1l fit
K M B IR AR 8IS EF K

FrAB T 2 B KA A R #78,369,000T
—ZT - =4%: AR #¥85,685,0007T )

AEBRBE_ZE-_WE+-_F=+—

BIEFEERZETEED 2 ke



Property rental income from investment properties
earned during the year was RMB32,744,000 (2023:
RMB35,909,000). The Group’s investment properties
are held for rental purpose. It is expected to
generate (rental yield of 5% (2023: 5%)) on an
ongoing basis. All investment properties held have
committed tenants for the next one to three years
(2023: one to three years).

Machinery and other property rental income
earned during both years are disclosed in note
5(a). At 31 December 2024 and 2023, all machinery
and other property held had no significant
committed lessee.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in place at the
reporting date will be receivable by the Group in
future period as follows:

ERELEZRAMRAR « —F-NFFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T -_F+—_A=+—HIFEF

FR ERBMZREREMEZWER
WA B AR¥32,744,000L (=&
— =4 : AR ¥35,909,0007T) - A& E
ZEREWMETFEL RS - TE IR
BEEEL (HeLRs% (ZE=_=4F:
5%) ) cFTEIRBIREMERKRR —=F
=F(ZE=_=F:—ZE2=F)BEEH
GiEh =

AP EFEREUZ i R R
WARM (@) BE- R FE_MFR
“EC=F+ZA=+T—R -FARAZ
2 BRI B A W) R B AT A ARG

RBEBE AEER AR RAMEKZ
Al HSEEEMEE T 2 RBIRAER
EQ/ e

Within 1 year —F LA 22,558
After 1 year but within 2 years —FLA BT BAMEZ
HMR 6,232
After 2 years but within 3 years MEN EERBBE=F 2
EARRI A 2,951
31,741
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SGMW
LABAhE

Guangxi Automobile
Group (other than
Wuling New
Energy)

BrFEAEER(REZE
FREIRIN)

Sales by the Group

REEHE

Purchases of materials by the Group
REEBEDH

Warranty costs incurred by the Group
REEELEFRENA

Sales of:

HE -

Raw materials and automotive
components by the Group (note a)

AEBHERTE RTBT U (HiTa)

Provision of water and power supply
services by the Group (note a)

AREBIRHAKEB N HERS (Hia)

Purchase of:
BE -

Automotive components and other
accessories by the Group (note a)
REBEBETETHM REMES (HiTa)
Air-conditioning parts and accessories

by the Group (note a)
REBBE =AM MEM (HiTa)
Operation service of the processed

scrap materials by the Group

(note a)
REBETORRIPEESE R (Fita)
IT Service Transactions (note a)
= RRMREZ S (Hfata)

Borrowings raised (note a)
EENER(Kta)
Repayment of borrowings (note a)
BEEMER(ATa)
Interest expense paid by the Group
on other borrowing (note a)
REBREF MO (Hita)
Purchase of machinery and equipment
by the Group (note a)
AEBBERE LR (Fita)

5,171,829
2,945,137

29,202

180,577

4,278

184,855

76,751

165

16,569

4,683

98,168
1,500,000

1,500,000

99

47,297



Guangxi Weixiang
7R

FL Interior

GE=EE]

Liuzhou Leadrive
(note b)
W ERER (K7 b)

IEREEERRKRARAT « T -WFFK

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Rental service by the Group (note a)

REEFERBEERS (Fifa)

Interest expenses paid by the Group
on advances drawn on bills
receivable (see (v) below) (note a)

255 [ ot FE WL SR 05 P HR R B RR S AN AN 2,
Fx (& TFx(v)(Hita)

Compensation rebated by the Group
for purchasing electric vehicles
spare parts

AEEBEEHTETRAFRERMMEE

Sales of steels and automotive
components by the Group
RNEEHE WM R TETE M
Purchase of automotive components
and other accessories by the Group
REEREE RET B REAME

Sales of automotive components by
the Group

REBEERETEM

Provision of water and power supply
services by the Group

RNEERMIEAKRE N HERS

Purchase of automotive components
by the Group

RAEBEBERETEM

Rental of investment properties
received by the Group

AEBURONIREYEES

Sales of automotive components by
the Group

REEHERETIHHE

Provision of water and power supply
services by the Group

N5 B R A OK K Bh ) R e AR 7

Purchase of automotive components
by the Group

REEREERETHH

BE T -_F+—_A=+—HIFEF

9,158

1,843

46,204

14,623

49

13,664

2,382

456

803

19,403

237

42
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FL Seating
3 o B

Wuling New Energy
R EFEEIR

Sales of automotive components by
the Group

REBEE)RETEM

Sales of property, plant and
equipment

HEWE - BFEM&E

Purchase of automotive components
by the Group

REEBE RETHHE

Rental of investment properties
received by the Group

REBEWRHIREYMFEES

Provision of water and power supply
services by the Group

& B K R B A R AR

Sales of certain automotive
components and related
accessories by the Group (note a)

REBHESR TITET M RABRR T
(Kt a)

Provision of Modification services by
the Group (note a)

REEIRMBERS (Kt a)

Purchase of materials and parts by
the Group (note a)

REBRBME RZH (Fta)

Purchase of finished products by
the Group (note a)

AEBBERND (Hita)

Purchase of the technical support
services by the Group (note a)

REBBE KM FHERS (Aita)

Provision of water and power supply
services by the Group (note a)

REERMEAKRE N HERS
(Htzta)

Purchase of the After-Sale Services
by the Group (note a)

rEBEBEERRSE (Mita)

2,497

132

3,431

2,357

122,688

9,699

5,003

40,877

1,984

5,695

2,007
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FL Emissions Sales of automotive components by 6,324
FHHEEHER the Group

REEEERETHHF

Purchase of automotive components 661

by the Group

REBBERETEM

Rental of investment properties 2,084
received by the Group

AEBURHIREMEES

Provision of water and power supply 1,794
services by the Group

REE AR KRB IR

Qingdao Lanqi Sales of automotive components and 69,226
(note b) engines related parts by the Group
EREE (fitb) REE L E)TETE M R BB EAAET
Provision of Labor Services by the 1,494
Group
PR S5 15 R TS
AAM JV Sales of automotive components by 274
EBREE the Group
REEHERETIHH
Rental of investment properties 1,576

received by the Group

REFEWRHIREYMRES

Purchase of automotive components 2,913
by the Group

RAEBBERETEM

Purchases of property, plant and 11,177
equipment by the Group

REEBEBEME - BENERE

Provision of water and power supply 588
services by the Group

AEERHE KRB A HE RS

Note: Kt :

(&) These transactions were considered as @ WhERFIREBIMESLD
continuing connected transactions under the RBERIERERER S £
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the HE—FHIBERELISELIEH
Stock Exchange, further details of which are EEgWMEANRE-

disclosed in the report of the Directors on
pages 115 to 139.

(b) As of December 31, 2024, Qingdao Langi and by HE-_Z-_MFE+_A=+—
Liuzhou Leadrive have ceased to be related H S8EERIIMNERETEE
parties. RaEsE T

261



WULING MOTORS HOLDINGS LIMITED « ANNUAL REPORT 2024

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
HE T -—WF+—_A=+—HIFEF

262

Details of the Group’s outstanding balances
with related parties are set out in notes 19, 20,
23, 25 and 26.

The guarantees provided to the Group by
Guangxi Automobile are set out in note 27(iv).

The remuneration of the Group’s key
management personnel during the year was
as follows:

Short-term benefits 72 HAtE A
Post-employment benefits B E R A
Share-based payment

During the year, Guangxi Automobile agreed
to provide a facility to the Group, whereby
the Group could discount, its bills receivable
to Guangxi Automobile to RMB7,500,000,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB6,700,000,000). The discount rate per
annum was the lowest discount rates offered
by banks as obtained by the Group from time
to time. During the year, the Group did not
discount bills receivable to Guangxi
Automobile (2023: The Group discounted bills
receivable of 224,412,000 to Guangxi
Automobile with a maturity period less than
180 days and at an average discount rate of
1.63% per annum.).

VAR A0 7 BB 2 15 3R

ANEFHERBER 2 RAEEEGF
ISE M EE19 ~ 20 - 23 - 25226 ©

AEEEEHTERECERS
R EE27(v) °

FR AEEFTEEEEXNE 2H
[ P NE

6,070
736
147

6,953

FRN-EAAERZ RSB RZMH
BMEEE B BHE_T-_NF
+T-_A=1+—BHLEFEE AEHTA
MERISEFRREBEKERAR
#7,500,000,0007C (= = =4
A R #6,700,000,0007T ) © 4F £ Bh
WRAREBTEESHIBITIE
HAORERER - FR REBW
mOERSEMRERER (=ZF
—EF AEEMERAEIRE
W = 4%224,412,0005% - B 28 B
M180H  FH YR K AT F
1.63%°) °



The Group manages its capital to ensure the
entities in the Group will be able to continue as a
going concern while maximizing the return to
shareholders through the optimization of the debts
and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from that of prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts,
which includes the advances drawn on bills
receivable discounted with recourse and bank
borrowings, as disclosed in note 27, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure periodically. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new
share issues as well as issue of new debts.

IEREEERRARAT « S -NFFH
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BEEXR DUBERASEET
SEGE BARERELER
ﬁikmﬂxﬁ@i& REE
iR FHlIFIE -

m Bt
I| mf
iﬁ e

\r
’

B R

P4

i

M R o

&R
B £

B
i3
>3+$

N/

AEBEZERNRBEREER(BRENH
HTEE AR ERENTD IR ER
EEMERBRLRITEE) REE M
BHRRKPARBEE ARG

ANBEESEHRITERNEE - ER Y
B —Hr EFERERAKARESE
BARME 2R -RERNAFEFRY
ZHEBEER AEERKBEBKRMNRKRE
BITHRR D LX&???T%W,\IEM$@LH\%§
BBEARLERE-

Financial assets SEEE
Financial assets measured at REEN AT E 22/
amortised cost BE 5,994,022
Bills receivable at FVTOCI BAFEFAHEMM K
w2 RN R 3,669,416
Equity instrument at FVTOCI Tﬁﬁﬂvr’fﬁé‘l')\ﬁ@i\ﬁ%l
mZEm TR 42,765
Financial liabilities =N
Amortized cost 5 DN 11,598,977
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The Group’s major financial instruments are
listed above. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial
instruments included market risk (currency risk,
interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

The Group is exposed to currency risk
primarily through sales, purchases and
financing activities which give rise to
receivables, payables, loans and cash
balances that are denominated in a
foreign currency, i.e. a currency other
than the functional currency of the
operations to which the transactions
relate. The currency giving risk to this risk
is primarily United States dollars.

AEEBFEZSRI AN EXAHI
ToZETRT A ZFHIFERAERMN
AR -HZEEMTAGH R
REEmERR (EEER - FX
[ B Ko E A (B AR R 5 B R R
FnBEx R -BBBIEZFE
BZBRREN T -EEEEEN
ERRTRER  BRERK KA
REVEE 1516 -

AEERHETZRINE (BIRHE
BIARNINEER)HE  REM
BB IR E) - LA Ko i EL T A B B IR
R EARE BERRBSEHRA
EXEBER-sIZLERRZE
KEXTERET
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. £ T A (&)

MKREREEBERBE (&)

b. Financial risk management objectives b.
and policies (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s
major exposure as at the end of the
reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate. For presentation

SRR (8)

B b O

TRHANARERHERR
PRz ERINERR &
FOMNER K2 T3 A ME R B B
ZHREER N2 EETIE
ZeHEREERRBEMES
HR G E & E RO &
BUARESTR AR EH

purposes, the amounts of the exposure NENHAEERITE - TR T B
are shown in RMB, translated using the & A i B N 75 2 B B iRk

spot rate at the end of the reporting
period. Differences resulting from the
translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency are excluded in
below table.

FTEAAKENEINEEM
EERERE-

Exposure to foreign currencies

(expressed in RMB)
SRR (YA B #7tHE)
2024 2023
—TmE —EC-=F
United States United States
Dollars Dollars
ey e
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARETT
Cash and cash equivalents BekReEEER 3,730 3,595
Gross exposure arising from REEBRREERARN
recognised assets and liabilities @i 3,730 3,595
Net exposure [oiqmbe:st 3,730 3,595
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The following table details the Group'’s
sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease
in RMB against USD 5% is the sensitivity
rate used by the management for the
assessment of the possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the period
end for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates. A positive number below indicates
an increase in post-tax profit or a
decrease in post-tax loss where RMB
strengthen 5% against the relevant
currency. For a 5% weakening of RMB
against the relevant currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact
on the profit and the balances below
would be negative.

Impact on post-tax profit

— USD —ETT

HER DR

TRAVAEBHNARE
HETHE R E5% 2 UK
E-BEEFHERZ A
FHEMAMEEL XA
5% ° X E 5T R B IE M &
INEEEEERIER WER
HA K 1% [ 2R 596 %4 &) M 38 22
BME - TX 2 EHBBERAR
¥ MR E B FHES% 2 B
Tt 1 o 7 38 hn =k B B4 12 E5 18
LB ARENIEEER
B2 {B5% B+ Bl 7] B 435 Fl) i
KRAEKAETE M X
BERNZEBRBAEAH-

=271
T2
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The Group is exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate bank balances and bank
borrowings due to the fluctuation of the
prevailing market interest rate, and
exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank borrowings,
advances drawn on bills receivables
discounted with recourse, pledged bank
deposits, bank balances, lease liabilities.
The directors of the Company consider
the Group’s exposure of the bank
balances to cash flow interest rate risk is
not significant as interest-bearing bank
balances are within short maturity
periods. It's the Group’s policy to keep its
borrowings at a mixture of floating rate
and fixed rate of interest so as to
minimize the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group currently does not have any
interest rate hedging policy in relation to
fair value and cash flow interest rate risks.
The directors of the Company monitor
the Group’s exposure on an ongoing
basis and will consider hedging interest
rate risk should the need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation
of the lending rate quoted by the
People’s Bank of China arising from the
Group’s RMB denominated borrowings.

REBAZE@ZERITE
HBERITEEZRERER
EREb TR R E R TS
F & 2% B FT B AN & E T8
EXBETEERITEE M
BEEZEMREWEERR
IRENE K - B RITIE N
MITHESH HEABZAT
BNERER - RKRABEER
RAEERTEHR RS
MEMERRIAEKN E
RETBRITAERIINE A
FE-AREE 2 BK &R
VAV 8 F X K Bl 7E F R E&A
B EUNREREATE
Tl = [F| 3 o

AN 5 [ 3R B 3 48 L 2 PR M
B 5 m & M R B R R )
MEEHPHR - ARAER
FEERAKEMMASRER
WA A B E B I A
= [EL [ o

REBZEEREN KRR
TEEPRAKENARE
FHEZEEMEETEAR
RITAAMEEN XK
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. €M I A (®)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. MERBREEAERBEK (&)
and policies (Continued)
i. Interest rate risk (Continued) i R (&)
Interest rate profile FIZE ISR
The following table details the interest TRAVNAEBRAT®REH
rate profile of the Group’s borrowings as RZERFEIFR

at the end of the reporting period:

2024 2023
—ECME ZT-=F
Effective Effective

interest rate interest rate

per annum RMB'000 | perannum RMB000
ERERNZE  AR®ETT | ERGRE  ARETI

Fixed rate instruments: EEMNEIL:
Bank borrowings BITEE 0.6% - 3.0% 1638439 0.01% - 3.40% 466,299
Advancesdrawnonbils  FiEREZREE

receivables discounted  ERZEATIRE

with recourse b 0.40% - 2.0% 2,448,817 0.3%-2.2% 3,274,069
Lease liabilities HEERE 3.56% - 4.75% 55,887 3.56% - 4.75% 57,286

Variable rate instruments: FEIA:

Bank borrowings RITEE LPR minus LPR minus
3.44% - 3.44% -
LPR minus LPR minus
0.05% 0.2%
ERMEHRE BERmaRE
Pl 3.44% - |5, 3.44% —
ERmRHRE B m5HE
FI%i# 0.05% 1341700 FI%H0.2% 1,844,500
Total instruments TARE 5,480,843 5,642,154
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The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to
interest rates on its variable-rate
borrowings at the end of the reporting
period and the stipulated change taking
place at the beginning of the financial
year and held constant throughout both
years in the case of instruments that
have floating rates. A 50 basis point
increase or decrease is used by the
management for the assessment of the
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis point
higher and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2024
would decrease by RMB5,031,000 (year
ended 31 December 2023: 6,018,000).
This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its variable-
rate borrowings.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties arises
from the carrying amounts of respective
recognized financial assets (except for
equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income) as stated
in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

IEREEERRARAT « S -NFFH
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Bz

—E-mFEF—A=+—HILFE

ATHREDTHEREE
%%Wﬁ¢%$2ﬂfﬂ
RRFBFEENEEMR
ﬂiFWﬁfT (T
TEEBNER)ZREE
@E o ‘5 3% JE 18 M501E &
B2 BB E M R AT REE L
P

i ) 2= 3% HNSOME X 2k AT A
Hih B EERTE ~EH
BHz_Z2_mW&E+ = A
=T+ —BUEFEZHREERE
I # 5 > A R #5,031,0007T
(Bz2-_Z-_=%+—_-AH
=+—HI%/E:6,018,000
TC) e T EE AR AEE R
HZBEEAERNFEE

@ o
A

REBRER S H )7 RERBTT
Aaﬁﬁﬁﬁilﬁm%ﬁ
BRZEAEERR "
A%W#R%%ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬂ
BRAEREE (EAAFE
At A E Al 2 Yt B AR R
BRRSHN) ZHREE -
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In order to minimize credit risk, the
management of the Group has
delegated a team to be responsible for
the determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue
debts. Independent companies are
engaged to investigate the credibility of
customers, and guarantees or pledges
of assets provided by them on a needed
basis. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model
on trade receivables individually for
debtors from related parties and credit-
impaired debtors, and based on
provision matrix with appropriate groups.
In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group'’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

SEEREEERR A&
BEEBEKIL X KE
EEEEEERE FE#H
ZREMERERF  ARER
AU 3 38 H (R TR R ER IR A 1T
H-BYUAREBURAEER
FZERRRRIREREE
BEFRGECERLEER
Welbsh AEEEAEHEE
EEEARREBEABEESD
BB REESREEES
MEBAREERERRA
Z FEUS BR TR 1T 18 Bl Rt 18 5F
fheplit RAREZTRA
AEBEZEERRD KB
(i



The Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk other than in
relation to the amount due from SGMW
(note 19) which represents 41% (2023:
53%) of the total trade receivables as at
31 December 2024. For both years,
SGMW, which is a well-known car
manufacturer in the PRC, and a
company controlled by Shanghai
Automobile Industry (Group) Company
Limited, together with GM (China)
Investment Co., Limited and Guangxi
Automobile, both as non-controlling
shareholders, has good financial position
by reference to its respective financial
statements, which are regularly reviewed
by Guangxi Automobile. SGMW has
good repayment history and credit
quality with reference to the track
records under internal assessment by the
Group. In view of the significant balance
due from SGMW, the Group has kept
regular contact with SGMW for updated
information. In addition, as Guangxi
Automobile has representative in the
board of directors of SGMW, the Group
can access the up-to-date information
of SGMW. In this regard, the Group
believes that it can take prompt action
to recover the trade debt due from
SGMW should the need arise.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited
because the Group’s pledged bank
deposits, time deposits and bank
balances are deposited with banks of
high credit ratings in Hong Kong and the
PRC.
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—E-mFEF—A=+—HILFE

BrAEW @A RzERIA (M
HFIME =T -_mFE+=A
=+ — BEKIRTEZEE41%
:%::i'%%ww$§
Bl EEREFR 2 ZEE
LmL%£¥%¢lﬂ%m
BHREE 22— HAB L8R
E%E%ﬁﬁ@@ﬂ@ﬁﬁ
AARE(RRE)BEEARA
HEFRE (98T HXHX
R)ZFI AR 2ERER
AEEERZZARZA
B BRE EMEFEZ
MR RG22 ERA
EERIFEZBEEE
FRBRRAZEERCHELE
BEEZERF-ERER LR
BRARAEZHERBEKXN K
EE—EHEHREEABARER
BEHBE WERSHE
Ao ttoh AR EFERER £
ABRREsEEEeRANR
® AEETESERBER
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ERA EA N ERAR
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The credit risk on bills receivables and
bills receivable at FVTOCI is limited
because the bills receivable are issued
by banks with high credit ratings in the
PRC.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following
categories:

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of
default and does not have any
past-due amounts

KRR HFFEAORREEEEARAKIE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after
due dates but usually settle
after due date

BERA2E BEEALTREIBBERER
BREAINIBBRES

Doubtful There have been significant

increase in credit risk since initial
recognition through information
developed internally or external
resources

Q3 BRABELE 2 ERIINRER
BH - FERRBTNTHER

VAR B 12 A

Loss There is evidence indicating the
asset is credit-impaired

BB BEBRAEELREERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

A8 BEBRABBAZLREN BN

BEAREE RO FEN AT ROPTE

HREREER I HTEARE
BEEFRZRITET W
B R MR A FEFAE
2w es 2 BRIREERZ(E
ERRAR-

AEBAEE SRR SR
mBEATES

Lifetime ECL —not  12m ECL

credit-impaired

2 HEEEEEE 12 & A 1a 5

— BEERE EEEE

Lifetime ECL—not  12m ECL

credit-impaired

> HEHREEER 1218 A T 5

— BEERE EEEE

Lifetime ECL —not  Lifetime ECL —

credit-impaired not credit-
impaired

> HEHREEER rHEBREEER

— EBEERE — EBEERE

Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —

credit-impaired credit-impaired

> HEHREEER S HEBEEER

—EERE —EERE

Amount is written
off

B AR 3E

Amount is written
off

B AR 3
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. M T A (&)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. MERBREEEERBEK (&)
and policies (Continued)
i.  Credit risk and impairment assessment i. EERRREENE(E)
(Continued)
The table below details the credit risk TREREREEBHETMG
exposures of the Group’s financial assets HRAEEeRMEELEER
which are subject to ECL assessment: EN

Internal

credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
12EAEHEEBE

ABEETE HEHREHEEER IREAE

2024 2023
“ECME —EocF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT | ARETT

Bills receivable at FVTOCI 20  (note 1) 12mECL 489,014 406,095
BATEFARBEE G (Hst1) REAEHEEER
eSS

Financial assets at
amortized cost

BEHERATECEREE

Bills receivable discounted 2,444,371 3,263,321
with recourse

WERENCHARKRE

Pledged bank deposits 22 (note 1) 12m ECL 453,143 528,997
EERRTER (Hat1) REAEHEEER
Bank balances 22 (notel) 12m ECL 3,160,344 2,616,795
RITAER (Hizt1) REAERBEEER
Other receivables 19 12m ECL 217,109 117,582
Hith R REAEHEEER
Trade receivables 19  (note 2) Lifetime ECL 1,160,468 1,187,943
— goods and services (provision matrix)
FEYRTR (Hizt2) 2 HEBEEEE
— B KR (BfarER)
Low risk Lifetime ECL 953,136 1,600,083
ERR L HRBEEER
Loss Credit-impaired 40,356 50,350
B FERE
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notes:

(1) The credit risk is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high
reputation.

(2) For trade receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance
at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors from
related parties or credit-impaired trade
receivables, the Group determines the
ECL on these items by using a provision
matrix, grouped by internal credit
rating/past due status.

As part of the Group’s credit risk
management, the Group uses debtors’
aging to assess the impairment for its
customers because these customers
consist of a large number of
miscellaneous customers with common
risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities
to pay all amounts due in accordance
with the contractual terms. The following
table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based
on provision matrix as at the end of the
reporting period within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired). Debtors from related
parties or credit-impaired with gross
carrying amounts of RMB953,136,000
(2023: RMB1,600,083,000) and
RMB40,356,000 (2023: RMB50,350,000)
respectively as at 31 December 2024 were
assessed individually.

1) BREFHTREBRIFN
RIT- WEERBRER -

(2 HEKREKEMS &NEE
EERAB MBS ER
FOR BT EFER
HIRMEEBRZBEE
oA BE D R
EERER-RERESIN &K
SEERARABEREF
A BERIROR 5 4B B
Bl TE % FRE MR
EEEE-

EABAEBEERKRERE Y
— 5 AL E L EIWER K
ZERBRFTHERRE ZRE
WhHERZERFBRERE
BEREHERRARBFEH A
EE RURMEFEREA
ER AT A B HRIES
BEHe TRIEHEB BN ZH
TEEEEREEA (RELEE
BERE) EUWERE (RRE
REEBEEEBFTGH)EE

Bz &k EUEER
,\ /T)\jz :fﬁ/ 1Eﬁ”&EETA
RZZE-_ME+=—A=1+—
HEEERESNBARE
953,136,0007T (—ZT—=%:
A B #1,600,083,0007T ) &2 A
R #40,356,0000C (— T ==
4 AR#£50,350,0000T) © 2
B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Gross carrying amount

ARE B IS SRR RE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE—F-_mF+-A=+—HIFE

36. £ T A (&)
b. HEEREBEEERKE (&)

ii. EERRMBENE ()

REAEE

2024 2023

—EomE ZZE=-=F
Average Trade Average Trade
lossrate  receivables lossrate  receivables
TEERE BUWERE  FHEEX AR
% RMB’'000 % RMB'000
% ARETFT % ARETT
Not past due K Hy 2.50 1,010,752 2.65 997,931
1-90 days past due BEH1Z90H 10.47 111,783 10.32 156,789
Over 90 days past due  #1EfiBiB 90 H 49.64 37,933 23.58 33,223
1,160,468 1,187,943

The estimated loss rates are estimated
based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is
updated.

B BEXTDEREB AR
BEHRE2HAMNBEBRREN
RHE - URBANLEBZ
P 7S 3545 7 i 2% B O /1 IR 15
ERELRARE-BEEECH
w3 AR AR R - DA B AR BB A
BRI EEBGANEREER
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The following table shows the movement
in lifetime ECL that has been recognized
for trade receivables under the simplified
approach:

As at 1 January 2023 R-Z-=%-A—-H

Transfer LR

Impairment losses recognized 2 HERREEE

Impairment losses reversed R EE B E

Write-offs iG]

As at 31 December2023and R=ZB==f

1 January 2024 +=B=t-HRK

“E-mE-A—-H

Transfer R

Impairment losses recognized  EHERREFIE

Impairment losses reversed VR =t {E

Write-offs HhsH

As at 31 December 2024 R-E-mF
+=ZA=1+—-H

The Group writes off a trade receivable
when there is information indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has
been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings.

TRIREREE T ERE
WRRERNEHBEHRER

Eiag

31,119 47,367 78,486
(114) 114 -
19,604 4,470 24,074
(116) (1,195) (1,311)

- (406) (406)

EREMBREBABAR
EVBRE BXEERK
[B] 5% IR &Y 7] BE B () 20 B 7%
ABBRIGEAWERZF)
RER B S MH BRI -



In the management of the liquidity risk,
the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows. The management monitors
the utilization of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The Group relies on advances drawn on
bills receivable discounted with recourse
and also bank borrowings as significant
sources of liquidity.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk of
being unable to finance its future
working capital and financial
requirements when they fall due. The net
current assets of the Group as at 31
December 2024 was RMB74,022,000
(2023: net current liabilities,
RMB477,071,000). In view of this, the
directors of the Company have given
careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group and details of which
are set out in note 2(b).

IEREEERRKRARAT « T -WFFK

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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—E-mFEF—A=+—HILFE

EEBRSHERERE X
EEEERRFERERA
ez ReRBEEEEER
KR AARE Y £ B E
?%T g%jff)iiafﬁilmi/&
BB B EEERT

BEZERABRREREST
B -

AEBRBEGEREND
BRI R B AT IR IR
RUTEEEREERDER
R

AEBAZELZRBRKEE
B R BHERINAREE
ZhBESRB -NZF
“WFE+=—A=+—H" 'K
E.Zuw@]é?—%ﬁ*gﬁﬁ/\ﬁ
#74,022,000C (T ==
& //\LE)JETE/?%E /\E@}
477,071,0007T) ° HER I -
RABEFDAFZRELASE
BoRRRBDES FIEH
B EE2(b) °
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MEF—F=+—HIFFE

The following table details the Group'’s
remaining contractual maturity for its
financial liabilities. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay, and the
undiscounted gross (inflows) and
outflows on the derivative that required
gross settlement. Specifically, bank
borrowings with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates
for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The liquidity analysis
for the Group’s derivative financial
instrument were prepared based on the
contractual maturities as the
management considered that the
contractual maturities were essential for
an understanding of the timing of the
cash flows of derivative.

TRALAEECHAERN
Rra WA -TRDIR
BAKEMREEXNEZHEA
ERFAHZRMBARER
ENBRBEEZITETA
ARG ORA) KR R
H-LERTwRTEEE
BITEHEEN B3 EEX
EEGERZRITIEREBEFA
R 2R REAR - E AT
TERBEZIHAETNRE
RpEZEERAHEE - K
SERTESRTAZRD
B oM REBESXVIEAE
me ANEEEBRRAN
FHEHRNERITETAR
EREZEEE+NER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARe B IE BRI EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE-_E_NEF A=+ —HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. £ T A (&)

b. Financial risk management objectives b. HKEBEEBEEREE (&)
and policies (Continued)
iv.  Liquidity risk (Continued) iv. mEELER (&)

ZERAFEEMNERANESH
ERE-UFBRERFH
MEFE - RUBEESEIINU
ﬁiﬁﬁﬂfZﬂK i o

The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that
interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of the reporting

period.
On demand Total
or less than undiscounted Carrying
lyear  1-2years  2-5years Over5years  cashflows amount
LERg ABRRS
BEX -EERE WEEDE SENE  REEE REE
RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB ’000 RMB 000
ABBTT  ARETT AREFT  ARETT ARETT  AREFI
2024 ZRIPE
Non-derivative financial ~ F{T4£2REE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ~ EREH L EfE(
Er] 4,891,337 - - - 4,891,337 4,891,337
Bank borrowings BEE 1,888,404 1,019,574 89,089 16,089 3,013,156 2,980,139
Advancesdrawnonbils  FiEREZ EEEEN
receivable discounted SEFRRBR
with recourse 2,454,345 - - - 2,454,345 2,448,817
Lease liabilties HEafE 30,619 21,639 - - 58,258 55,887
9,264,705 1,047,213 89,089 16,089  10417,096 10,376,180
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. EEIT A (&)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. MERBREEAERBEK (&)

and policies (Continued)

iv. Liquidity risk (Continued) iv. mBERR (&)

On demand Total
or less than undiscounted Carrying
lyear  1-2yeas  2-5years Overbyears  cashflows amount

1ERZ FEEAE
gEx -FEME RWEEDF  SENL  EEE KA
RMBOGO  RMBUOO  RMBOGO  RMBUOOD  RMBOOO  RMBUOD
ARRTL  ARRTL  ARRTL  ARETT  ARETT  ARRTR

2023 It
Non-derivative financial {4 £RAE
liabilities
Trade and other payables  [EREZ LA fER
#E 6,014,109 = = - 6014109 6014109
Bank borrowings RIRE 1,323,267 681,375 U731 28 2384021 2310799

Advancesdrawnonbils  KiEZEz BEEEN
receivable discounted ZEMRRSR

with recourse 3,285,204 - - - 3285204 32714,069

Lease liabilties figafk 58,230 103 1 - 58,334 57,286
10,680,810 681,478 347,232 32148 11741668 11,656,263

Derivative financial fESRIE:

instruments:

Forward foreign exchange  ZESNEAL

contracts

—outflow — i - - - - -

— inflow — A (2819) - - - (2819)
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The following table presents the fair
value of the Group’s financial instruments
measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair
value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value
measured using only Level 1 inputs
i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date.

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value
measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable
inputs are inputs for which market
data are not available.

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value
measured using significant
unobservable inputs.
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EEEZRARDT « —F_MFFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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rRBASENBRERE
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Set out below is the information about ATHEHINEBAEBEIZRAF

how the fair values of the Group’s BifENERTANAFE

financial instruments that are measured MAEEEHNER BEMA
at fair value are determined, including B i (B B9 K ) A BUR -
the valuation techniques and inputs

used:

Financial assets SREE
Bills receivable at FVTOCI BAVEFAR M2 E RS 406,095 Level 2
(note a) ZEWEE (fzta) E-H
Unlisted equity securities (note b) 3E_ETRRAE % (fitb) 42,765 Level 3
E=8

Notes: Bat -

(@) These financial assets are measured at (a) ZELRMEELLEZMUR
fair value with reference to discounted BemEkAFEd=Z-
cash flow. Future cash flows are RKBERETIRIEE L
estimated based on contracted interest FE(EREERFHEF
rates, discounted at a rate that reflects =ER K 7 EXRBIE) G
the credit risk of various counterparties. 5o
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Notes: (Continued)

(b) The fair values of the unlisted equity
securities are determined by using the
adjusted net assets value method, with
unobservable inputs of net assets value.
The fair value measurements are
positively correlated to the net assets
value.

There were no transfers between different
levels of the fair value hierarchy
throughout the year.

The directors of the Company consider
that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on recurring basis
but recorded at amortized cost in the
consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values at the end
of the reporting period.

kil

ERELEZERAMRLR « —E-FFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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Hfat: (&)

(b) FLEMRAEFAFERE
RAEREEEFEEE
EREREBAREN
AEE - QN FEFAERE
EFEZIEMER-

EFTRAFEBRZER
TPHEE -

ARREERR NEAHM
BHRRUFFRBEERHEEE
BA P ER B RN
ChRZETHEERTRAR
ZEHEEAREFSHRZ
NFEEE -
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37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 7. MEEBELEZERZEHE
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s TRAMAEEREMEETHNEES
liabilities arising from financing activities, including g BERERFESEH -MEETH
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising EENBEEREeREREIRRES
from financing activities are those for which cash MERREASEGERESRERTD
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in HARMETHRESRENAE-

the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

Advances
drawn on bils Amount due
receivable tonon-
Bank Other Lease Interest discounted with Dividend ~ controlling
borrowings payables ligbilities payable recourse payable interests
ez
ZERR

At LUE EER
ROEE  BORE BERR  BNWR  FRERER  BRRR  RERHE

(note27)  (note 23(b)) (note 25) (note 23)
(hitor)  (Witoaw) (Hit2s) (Wi23)
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETT  ARETT  AREFT ARETT AREFT ARRTT ARETR

Asat1January 2023 R-E-=%-f-H 2,248,780 - 88,522 - 3,395,997 - - 5,733,299
Financing cash flows BERLHE 62,019 - (40956) (62386) 6,750,188 (9.176) - 6699689
Dividend recognized as ERAATLRE

distribution - - - - - 9,176 - 9,176
New lease entered ST - = 7234 = = = = 1234
Net offof bils receivable BRNEREIEHR

discounted with recourse EhZE - - - - (69217 - - (69TR)
Finance costs recognized BERRANS - - 2,486 62,386 55,636 - - 120508
At31 December 2023 S

+-A=t-A 2,310,799 - 57,286 - 3,274,069 - - 5,642,154

Asat 1 January 2024 RZZ-ME-A-A 2,310,779 - 57,286 - 32714069 - - 5642154
Financing cash flows BERLHE 669,340 - (58,855) (66,978) 5,888,770 (15,051) (17317) 6,399,909
Dividend recognized s BRI RE

distibution - - - - - 15,051 17317 32,368
New lease entered FINEg - - 56,626 - - - - 56,626
Net off of bils receivable BHWEREICHR

discounted vith recourse 3 - - - - (6762210) - - (6762210)
Finance costs recognized Rk ERES - - 830 66,078 48,189 - - 115,097
At31 December 2024 NZZ-mE

+-A=t-8 2,980,139 - 55,887 - 2,448,817 - - 5,484,843

284



The financial information of the Company as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

kil

ERELEZRAMRAR « —F-NFFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
BE T -_F+—_A=+—HIFEF

N,

AKRARRZE_NWER T -=F+—
B=+—HzBE&ER DT :

NON-CURRENT ASSETS IEMENE E
Property, plant and equipment E Y 286
Interest in an associate P Al/NGC] o - ey 261,124
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries WEB AR ZIELEMRE 993,829
1,255,239

CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU I B A R FRIB 30,644
Prepayments and deposits FERFERIES 541
Bank balances and cash RITEBREIRE 40,421
71,606
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENAE

Other payables and accruals HittE B R ERTE A 6,729
6,729
NET CURRENT ASSETS FmENEE 64,877
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES & EAFERTHEE 1,320,116
NET ASSETS FEE 1,320,116

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRI
Share capital %N 11,782
Reserves ] 1,308,334
TOTAL EQUITY EmiaTa 1,320,116

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 25 March 2025 and are signed on its

behalf by:

Mr. Yuan Zhijun
REERE
CHAIRMAN

2]

R-ZE-—_RE=-"A-_t+HBEES=<H
ETRETETHERRRAEEE:

Mr. Wei Mingfeng
ERELE
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
BMITEE
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Particulars of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries at 31 December 2024

are as follows:

Wuling Industrial The PRC
nET# 30 October 2006 (note /i)
ik
ZTZETAZTA
(HiZii)

Liuzhou Wuling Livji ~ The PRC
Motors Company 16 June 1993

Limited i

PNEENED N “MZERATRB
ARAR

Wuxi Wuling Power  The PRC
Machinery 15 July 2005
Co,, Ltd* ik

EHNZE NN “ZEnErATaA
BREEAR

Liuzhou Zhuotong ~ The PRC
Automotive Parts 21 November 2013
and Components  HE

Company Z5-=f+-A=1-H
Limited*
CIES s
BRAR]
Chongging The PRC
Zhuotong Motors 19 May 2014
Industrial e
Co, ltd.* “Z-RERATAA
ERSENETE
ARAT
Pt. LZWL Motors Indonesia
Limited 17 March 2018
Pt. LZWL Motors HERED
Limited “2-\§=A+tA
Faurecia (Liuzhou) ~ The PRC
Automotive 15 December 2017
Seating Sales el
Co,, Limited* S S g il
rEE (M) RE
BRHEERAA

286

RMB1,203,706,746
AR 1,203,706,746 0

RMB100,125,389
AR 100,125,389

RMB6,000,000
AR%6,000,00070

RMB10,000,000
ARE10,000,0007C

RMB150,000,000
AR 150,000,000

USD31,280,000
31,280 000% 70

RMB1,000,000
AR%1,00000070

and 2023

ARABR-ZE_NMFR=_T ==
F+-A=+—BZ2IEHMER
BEIC U

60.90 - Investment holding, manufacture
(note ) and sale of automotive
(Hrsti) components and accessories,

specialized vehicles, trading of
steels, and provision of water
and power supply services

RARR REREEAETINR
it ERAE - A E SRR
R RE RS

= 60.90 Manufacture and sale of petrol
(note i) engines and motor cycles
(W) engines
@%éiﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%%&@ﬁ%

- 4141  Manufacture and sale of
(note i) accessories of motor vehicles
(Wiati)  BERBERERM

- 60.90 Manufacture and sale of
(note i) accessories of motor vehicles
(Wiati)  BERBERERM

- 60.90 Manufacture and sale of
(note i) accessories of motor vehicles
(Wiati)  BERBERERM

- 60.90 Manufacture and sale of
(noteii)  accessories of motor vehicles
(i) HEREERERY

- 3450  Manufacture and sale of
(note ii) automotive components
(Hiati)  BERBEREEHH



notes:

In accordance with the sino-foreign equity
joint venture agreements entered by the
Company and Guangxi Automobile in 2007,
the Company has control on Wuling Industrial,
and the Company shares profit or loss of
Wuling Industrial according to the amount of
its paid up capital contribution in Wuling
Industrial. The profit sharing ratio at 31
December 2024 of the Company and
Guangxi Automobile in Wuling Industrial were
60.9% and 39.1% (2023: 60.9% and 39.1%),
respectively.

This represents the effective interest held by
the Company. These subsidiaries are held by
the Group through Wuling Industrial.

The subsidiaries are all sino-foreign equity joint
ventures.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt
securities outstanding at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the
Group which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the results or assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

IEREEEERARA

s “E_MFFIH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

fifat

BE—F-_ME+-_A=1—HIFE

REARABEERTER
%t¢542¢%AM“Tm
AREERETE 214
$gﬁ$gﬂ&%ﬁ£%1%¢
EZHBREALESEMDME
RETEZBEZ - R-_T-_NF
+—A=+—H ARRKEA
ﬁiﬂﬁ%I%ZEﬁ“ﬁm
&5 5 560.9% 5%39.1%
=4 :60.9% }39.1%) °

EREBAAXARAFAEZERE
meo L EME AR M AEEER
hEIXRFA-

%M\TEQEH%EPQ'\{E\%Q

o

2 8y

B 45 5 o5, 48 PO TR 7D B
B2 AAEMETENZ &S
B

EERA LRFHIAER K
BARTEREAEELES
EE- é%*ﬁvﬂﬁﬁ@%%
ARZHEBSERBRITE
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39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. XEMB LT (&)
(i) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries (i) BEEAFERERZZEEZE
that have material non-controlling g PN A=
interests
The table below shows details of a non-wholly- TRINTAEE —FEEELRIE
owned subsidiary of the Group that have TREEIEEEMB AR ZFF

5

material non-controlling interests:

Proportion of ownership
Place of incorporation interests and voting
and operation and date rights held by Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary of establishment non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
HfREEH FERERFHSRE RS ARTHER
WEARZHE REZAH REREL B2 ER RitiERiER
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZRCRE | CECE . ZECRE | SE-oF 0 ZECPE | SF-F
% % RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
% b AREFL | ARETE | ARRTT | AREFR
Wuling Industrial The PRC 39.10 39.10 60,624 45,979 1,067,657 1,015,849
%1% 30 October 2006
i

“EIAEHAZIE

Summarized financial information in respect of HHEAEERERZAZETE
Wuling Industrial that has material non- M EERBEEERIIT o LATE
controlling interests is set out below. The BERBEDEEBRNHHA 22
summarized financial information below FHo

represents amounts before intragroup

eliminations.
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39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. XEMB LT (&)
(i) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries (i) BEEAFERERZIEE
that have material non-controlling MEBRARZF#1E (&)

interests (Continued)

Wuling Industrial RETX

2024 2023

—EmE =E==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FrT ARSFr
Current assets MBEE 9,599,039 10,509,625
Non-current assets FRBEE 3,811,553 4,190,210
Current liabilities mENAE 9,521,229 11,015,878
Non-current liabilities EmEAE 1,195,360 1,074,407
Revenue WA 8,166,518 10,747,405
Expenses 53 8,009,485 10,629,812
Profit for the year FREF 157,033 117,593
Other comprehensive income  Hfh &2 E Wz 21,747 7,931
Total comprehensive income FHE =B 178,780 125,524

Total comprehensive income e HI R R R 2 E
attributable to non-controling  #%8

interests 69,903 49,080
Dividends paid to non- IR T IR R 2 IR B
controlling interests 17,317 -
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Up to the date of issue of these financial HEXAMBHRETIER BSESFMA
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of EERMEENEBEE_ZT-_MF+=A
new or amended standards, which are not yet =+ — B It FEREBA T KL
effective for the year ended 31 December 2024 FIER MZEMBRERLERANZS
and which have not been adopted in these AT MR R - ZE BB AT B
financial statements. These developments include BEAEEFHE TSR

the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 1 January 2025
— Lack of exchangeability
BEGIERE 215 (BFTR) - BEXE ) E — RS AL #B1E “T-hF—A—H
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial 1 January 2026
instruments: disclosures — Amendments to the classification and
measurement of financial instruments
BERMBRELAFIRUSEIA) @RI EAREBYBRELNETS  2HTA - —ERF-A—H
HE—HeMT A BRI EZEET
Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 1 January 2026
BEMBRELNSH LN FELE —F 115 —E-RF—H—H
HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027
BBV RELERZE 185 - BRI ZESRFE —Z-+%—H—H
HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027
ERUBREERNE 195 - BELARZLZELAINELE] - 55 —ET_+F—-H—H
The Group is in the process of making an AEBBEFHZEFEERABLRER
assessment of what the impact of these ERMEEENTE - ZSAEERA
developments is expected to be in the period of RNZ S BRI R ERI N RSB
initial application. So far it has concluded that the BMEREKNERTE-

adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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